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[Note to readers] 
The financial information, including forecasts, 
provided in the 2019 Financial Report is based on the 
situation before the coronavirus cri1sis. 

Given the various imponderables surrounding this 
crisis, we have decided against changing its contents 
and instead to communicate to the market at the end 
of the crisis. 

In this regard we refer you to Note 44 of the 
consolidated financial statements ('Subsequent 
events'). 

The information presented below illustrates that 
Sword Group's fundamentals are sound, and 
therefore we firmly believe that this crisis will only 
have a temporary impact on the Group's activities. 
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To the Shareholders of 
SWORD GROUP S.E. 
Societe europeenne 

R.C.S. Luxembourg B 168.244 

2-4, rue d 'Arion 
L-8399 WINDHOF 

AUDITOR'S REPORT RELATED TO THE AGREEED UPON 
PROCEDURES PERFORMED ON THE TRANSLATED 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

We have performed the procedures agreed with you and enumerated below with respect to the 
translated consolidated financial statements prepared under IFRS as adopted by the European 
Union and statutory financia l statements prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and 
regulatory requirements of Sword Group S.E. as at 31 December 2019, set forth in the 
accompanying schedules. Our engagement was undertaken in accordance with the 
International Standard on Related Services applicable to agreed-upon procedures 
engagements. The procedures were performed solely to assist you in evaluating the validity of 
the translated consolidated financial statements prepared under IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union and statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with Luxembourg 
legal and regulatory requirements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and are summarized 
as follows: 

1. We obtained and read the free translation from French to English of the consolidated 
financial statements prepared under IFRS as adoptedl by European Union and the statutory 
financial statements prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory 
requirements, and we identified the discrepancies which could be misleading for the users of 
these financial statements. 

2. We suggested a wording deemed more appropriate in the circumstances. 

3. We checked the final translation based on our comments. 

We report our findings below: 
With respect to item I , 2 and 3 we find the Sword Group 2019 financial report to be 
consistent with the original French version. 

We remind you, in accordance with our engagement terms, that in case of any discrepancy 
which may be noted between the English translation and the French original version, only the 
French original version shall be considered the legal binding docwnent on which our audit 
opinions have been signed. 
MAZARS LUXEMBOURG - CABINET DE REVISION AGREE 
SOCIETE ANONYME - RCS LUXEMBOURG B 159962 - TVA INTRACOMMUNAUTAIRE : LU24665334 

5, RUE GUILLAUME J. KROLL, L-1882 Luxembourg 
TEL : +352 27114-1-FAX : +352 27114 20-WWW.MAZARS.LU 

... 
Praxitx : 
GLOBAL AlllAHCE OF• 
IHDEPENOEN f FIRMS 
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Because the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing or International Standards on Review Engagements, 
we do not express any assurance on the translated consolidated financial statements prepared 
under IFRS as adopted by the European Union and statutory financial statements prepared in 
accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements for the year ended 
31 December 20 E 9. Had we performed additional procedures or had we performed an audit or 
review of the financial statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing or 
International Standards on Review Engagements, other matters might have come to our 
attention that would have been reported to you. 

Our report is solely for the purpose set forth in the first paragraph of this report and for your 
information and is not to be used for any other purpose or to be distributed to any other parties. 

Luxembourg, 2 June 2020 

For MAZARS LUXEMBOURG, Cabinet de revision agree 
5, me Guillaume J. Kroll 

L-1882 Luxembourg 

Olivier BIREN 
Reviseur d 'entreprises agree 
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1 2019 RESULTS AND OUTLOOK FOR 2020 

1.1 MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

Sword has achieved a remarkable level of quality thanks to the work put in by all its employees: 

human quality, based on the Group's key value of respect; 
service quality, w ith a client retention rate of almost 100%; 
innovation quality, as demonstrated by the technological and functional know-how developed by our teams , 
as well as the ambitious R&D plans that are in progress; 
financial quality, as reflected in the annual accounts_ 

Our 2020 business plan is based on strong organic growth: 

tailored to what matters to the next generations; 
underpinned by an ambitious research and development plan; and 
prioritising quality at every level. 

The Group's strength remains its global presence and diversity_ 

I would like to take this opportunity to warmly thank all those involved in Sword's success and to assure them of my 
continued undivided focus on the human aspect of our activities. 

Jacques Mottard, Chairman and CEO 

1.2 KEY DATA AN[) INDICATORS 

Consolidated financial statements 

In thousands of€ 31112/2019* 3111212018 31112/2017 

Revenue 213, 182 171,412 144,424 

EBITDA 28,624 20,145 16,967 

Profit for the year 13,549 86,405 10,945 

Non-current assets 110,630 82,424 120, 126 

Cash and cash equivalents 71,657 112,929 38,479 

Equity 150,008 147,368 143,040 

Balance-sheet total 257, 115 268,115 223,946 

*The Group has applied IFRS 16 for the first time as of 1 January 2019_ In accordance with the transition method 
adopted, the comparative financial information has not been restated 
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Statutory annual accounts 

In thousands of € 31112/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

Revenue 4,005 3,578 3,428 

EBITDA 411 113 272 

Profit for the year 31 ,899 46,353 -2,778 

Non-current assets 196,326 212,927 210,618 

Cash and cash equivalents** 25,766 - 8,278 - 4,963 

Equity 244,266 223,805 223,210 

Balance-sheet total 249,437 248,602 241 ,264 

** After the deduction of bank debt 

1.3 HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR 

Effective from 3 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of Magique Galileo Software Limited, a company 
incorporated in the UK specialising in Governance, Risk and Compliance (GRC) solutions for the banking and 
insurance sector - an acquisition involving an outlay of some GBP 2,222,000 (equivalent to around €2,488,000), 
excluding additional payments. See Note 12.1 to the financial statements. 

Effective from 1 May 2019, the Group increased its stake in Plefsys IT PC from 38% to 64%, at a cost of€445,000. 
Following this transaction , the Group will now fully consolidate that company, which had previously been recognised 
in the Group's accounts according to the equity accounting method. See Note 12.1 to the financial statements. 

On 31 October 2019, the Group acquired 100% of DataCo Global Ltd and DataCo Australia Pty Ltd at a total cost of 
some GBP 6,399,000 (equivalent to around €7,429,000). See Note 12.1 to the financial statements. 

On 31 December 2019, the Group increased its stake in Tipik Communication Agency S.A. from 49% to 98%, at a 
cost of €989,000. This was paid in January 2020 by cancelling a receivable of €639,000 from Tipik Group S.A. and 
settling the balance of €350,000 in cash. 

1.4 OUTLOOK 

The Group forecasts organic growth of 12% (on a like-for-like basis and at constant exchange rates) for 2020. 

The budgeted revenue 011 a like-for-like basis is €240 million ... with an EBITDA margin of 13%. 

These figures do not take into account the current volatility associated with the coronavirus crisis. 
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2 ABOUT THE GROUP AND ITS DEVELOPMENT 

2.1 PROFILE OF SWORD GROUP 

Sword Group SE is a European company (Societas Europaea, or SE) having its registered office at 2-4 Rue d'Arlon , 
8399 Windhof, Luxembourg. 

The purpose of the Company is to acquire stakes and interests, taking any form whatsoever, in any commercial, 
industrial or financial company, economic interest grouping (EllG) or other organisation, whether governed by 
Luxembourg or foreign law. 

The Company was established on 22 June 2001 . Under Article 5 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association , 
the Company will operate for an unlimited period. 

Its shares are listed on Euronext Paris under ISIN reference FR0004180578. 

Sword Group is an international consulting, services and software company assisting global leaders with their 
technological and digital transformation programmes. 

The Group, which now has more than 2,300 employees operating in over 50 countries, offers its clients a 
comprehensive and integrated portfolio of solutions from strategic approach to execution. 
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2.2 HISTORY 

2000 0 2006 0 2012 
November Foundation of Sword January Sale of Sword Nord April T ransfer of lhe head office 

Sword Group sells its subsidiary Sword 
Nord to its management 

2002 Acquisition of Nextech 2012 
March Initial public offering of the company Company specialised in Content ( July Sale of Ciboodle 

IVanagement 

2002 2006 2013 
April Acquisition of Text Solution September Sale of Sword Consulting France August Acquisition of Active Risk 

Company specialised in electronic This ompany provides Enterprise Risk 
document management (EDM), based in IVanagement software 
the UK 

2002 2006 
December Acquisit ion of Cronos Technologies September Acquisit ion of Real T ime Engineering 2014 Acquisition of Charteris 

Its main customers are the European Comany specialises in Content J anuary Company specialised in the development 
Community's DGs IVanagement of Mcrosoft applications 

2003 2007 I 
December kquisition of Zen and Art July kquisition of /!PAA 

This IT Services Company activity targets Company specialised in GRC ( 
major New York accounts, mainly in the 2015 Acquisiton of AAA r fields of banking and insurance 

kquisition of Fl System Belgium 2007 October Company specialised in the outsourcing of 
IT projects 

This company manages the editorial D ecerrber New acquisitions and Sale of Business 
content of news releases for large Unit 
organisations. 

2004 2008 2016 
May 

Acquisition of Glob<il Software Services March kquisition of Graham Technology Decerrber Sale of Simalaya Ltd. 

This company is located in Great Britain for 
its sales activities an.cl in India (Chennai, 
formefly Madras) for rts IT production base. 

2004 2009 2018 
July J!<:quisition of CIMAGE September 

Sale of Sword Business Technology October Sale of Apak 
Solutions 

This company proposes tum-key solutions 
in the field of Enterprise Content 
IVanagement (ECM). ( 

2005 2009 2019 
July kquisition of LINKVEST Noverrber kquisition of PgencyPort J anuary kquisition of Magique Gallileo 

This company offers added value services Company, leader in insurance distribution Company specialised in GRC 
in ECM (Enterprise Content IVanagement) technology. 
and in EAi (Enterprise Application 
Integration). 

2005 2011 

September 
Sale of the logistics consulting May Sale of two produd li nes 2019 business 

November kquisition of DataCo 

2005 2011 Company specialised in data management 

Noverrber kquisition of INTECH Noverrber Sale of Sword CTSpace 
This company designs, develops, delivers 
and supporls software products ror the 
London Insurance Market. 
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2.3 SWORD GROUP'S ACTIVITIES 

To meet its clients' strategic challenges and their need both to make changes to their technological environments 
and to update their business processes, Sword is divided into specialist competence centres (Business Units). We 
provide our clients with a local presence, high-value-added know-how, a high production capacity and an optimised 
economic approach. 

The business comprises two divisions: 
- Services: organised into competence centres, this division accounts for 89% of the Group's revenue; and 
- Software: this is responsible for 11 % of the Group's revenue. 

Software: Sword offers comprehensive solutions for Governance, Risk and Compliance (GRC), portfolio 
management, local-authority steering, intellectual property rights management, remote medicine, DTP document 
template design, event pllanning, collaboration and organisation, and investigation management. 

Services: Sword advises companies on implementing innovative solutions, technically develops and integrates these 
solutions, and accelerates internal and external digital transformation programmes. 

One of the key factors in Sword's success is the local service we foster with our clients. 

2.4 SIMPLIFIED GROUP ORGANISATION CHART 

SWORD GROUP ORGAAISATK>N CKART AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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The Group has offices in 22 countries (Australia, Belgium, Canada, Colombia, De11mark, England, France, Greece , 
Hong Kong, India, Ireland, Lebanon, Luxembourg, Malaysia, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Scotland, South Africa , 
Switzerland, the United Arab Emirates, the United States, and Wales) and is working on projects in some 50 nations. 
The subsidiaries hire high-level experts and provide work for more than 2,300 people in Luxembourg and elsewhere 
as employees, subcontractors or freelancers. 
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2.5 THE GROUP'S ORGANISATION 

The Group is organised around the following senior management and administrative bodies: 
the Board of Directors, comprising six members; 
the Audit Committee, made up of two directors; 
the Executive Management, comprising the two Managing Directors; and 
the Management Committee, consisting of six members, including the two Managing Directors. 

The mission, composition and modus operandi of the senior management and administrative bodies are set out in 
section 3. 

2.6 MARKETS AND COMPETITION 

Sword's range of services is designed for the local and international operations of all key accounts and public 
institutions. With its technological and methodological expertise, Sword is a market leader in a number of countries. 

Sword has developed unique expertise in various targeted markets: 

./ Banking and Insurance 

./ Legal 

./ Luxury Goods and Services 

./ Healthcare 

./ Public Sector 

./ Sport 

./ Transport 

./ European Union 

In these markets Sword is a day-to-day partner for these organisations across its entire range of services, providing 
them with support for their IT strategy and key operational issues. As a rule of thumb, Sword operates in highly 
regulated markets where knowledge of current regulations is critical. 

2.7 BUSINESS MODEL 

Sword's business model is based on two objectives: first, to achieve sustainable growth, and second, to act in an 
ethical, environmentally friendly and socially responsible way. As such, the model incorporates the four non-financial 
domains identified as challenges or even risk areas, namely employees, information security, ethical and governance 
issues, and the environment. These non-financial challenges and risks are discussed in sections 2.13.1 and 4.5. 

Sword takes an information systems approach and leverages powerful project management methodologies to deliver 
innovative solutions that address its clients' strategic challenges and their need to upgrade their information systems. 

To this end, Sword has developed an industrialised production model organised around specialist service centres 
providing its clients with local services, high-value-added know-how, high production capacity and optimised 
economic approaches. 

9 
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OUR RANGE OF SERVICES 
As a systems integrator and consultancy, Sword offers a range of specialised, high-added-value solutions and 
services. We combine an understanding of our clients' businesses with market knowledge and technical expertise to 
develop competitive advantages for our clients. 

Sword's range of services is built around various technology niches: 

Content Services (CS) - electronic documents, document management and workflow, DTP; 
leveraging information - enterprise portal deployment, web content management, process management, 
collaborative work, enterprise social networking, client relationship management, information retrieval, 
repository management, natural language processing; 
EAi/ESB: interconnection and interoperability of information systems - process organisation and 
synchronisation; 
Geographic Information Systems (GIS) - integrating the cartographic dimension into information systems; 
Business Intelligence (Bl) - deployment of decision-making systems for managing and analysing enterprise 
data; 
management consulting, IT strategy consulting, project management, quality assurance a111d testing, digital 
marketing and CRM, and information systems performance engineering; 
specific and business intranet development - healthcare, nuclear energy, pharmaceuticals and industry; 
development of web and mobile applications; 
infrastructure and the cloud; 
cybersecurity. 

OUR SOFTWARE 
Sword prnvides scalable, complete and customised software products. It can collaborate with clients in Saas mode , 
offering user-friendly software solutions that can be rolled out quickly. 
Our collaborative tools are used by a host of clients and on highly regulated markets. 
Sword offers two ranges of software: 

Sword GRC 
Governance, compliance and Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) software 
Sword Intellect 
Intellectual property rights management software 

Products from R&D are being marketed but are not generating significant revenue as yet. 

Sword Bizdock 
Project portfolio management software 
Sword Cit izen 
Software enhancing local-authority steering for the benefit of users 
Sword Insight 
Software addressing past and future issues 
Sword Kami 
DTP document template design software 
Sword Orizon 
Secure telemedicine software for coordinating care and sharing details of such care 
Sword Venue 
Software for event planning, collaboration and organisation 

10 
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2.8 FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES 

Sword Group's strategy is, in essence, centred on a policy of specialising in certain lines of business. As such, for 
the Software segment, the Group specialises in Governance, Risk and Compliance (GRC) activities and intellectual 
property protection tools. In the Services segment, it focuses on data management covering technologically 
innovative solutions aimed at e.g. local government, the healthcare sector, the sports world, the EU institutions, and 
the oil and gas industry. This strategy promotes organic rather than external growth . 

Our 2020-2022 business plan is based on: 
internal growth of 12%; 
an EBITDA margin of 13%. 

These figures do not take into account changes brought about by the current COVID-19 crisis. 

Acquisitions will remain an additional means of consolidating the Group's competitive position. 

The Group's management does not rule out the possibility of micro-acquisitions, which can be integrated into other 
entities that already exist. 

2.9 CONSOLIDATED WORKFORCE 

2019 

Software 

IT Services 

Offshore 

Holding company 

Total 

(11 502 full-time equivalents 
r21 2, 028 full-time equivalents 

Staff 

127 

1,023 

187 

-

1,337 

2.10 RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT 

Billable workforce 

Subcontractors Total 

24 151 

678 1,701 

102 289 

- -

804<1l 2,14 1 

Research & Development (R&D) activities are concentrated in the following domains: 

SOFTWARE 

Non-
billable Total 

workforce 

27 178 

130 1,831 

10 299 

29 29 

196 2,337 (2) 

R&D on existing products (development of GRC and mobile applications) and R&D focusing on new-product 
development accounted for 18.4% of Software revenue in 2019. 

SERVICES 

Capitalised R&D accounted for 1% of Services revenue. 

This pertains to: 
DTP document template design solutions; 
visual investigation solutions; 
cloud-based and on-site server environment management solutions. 
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2.11 INVESTMENTS 

The main investments in 2019 were: 
the acquisitions of companies set out in section 1.3 (Highlights of the year); 
investments in property, plant and equipment, worth €3,751,000 and mainly consisting of technical and 
infrastructure equipment. 

2.12 FINANCIAL REVIEW 

2.12.1 Assessment of income and the financial posit ion 

The table below presents Sword Group's simplified consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 Decembe1r 
2019 compared with that for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

Year 

€m 2019 2018 Growth 

Revenue 213.2 171 .4 +24.4% 

EBITDA 28.6 20.1 +42.1% 

EBITDA margin 13.4% 11 .8% -

The following analyses are based on a comparison of 2019 with 2018. 

Activity and revenue 
Consolidated revenue stood at €213.2 million in 2019 with profitability of 13.4% (EBITDA). The backlog as at 
31 December 2018 was 24.4 months of revenue vis-a-vis the budgeted revenue for 2020. 

Specialisation 
The Group is now focusing on the digital transformation across all divisions - Software and IT Services. 

Internationalisation 
The Group operates in 50 countries and has a physical presence in the form of subsidiaries and offices in 22 of these, 
covering Asia Pacific, the Middle East, Europe, America and South Africa. 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items (EBITDA) 
Consolidated EBITDA in 2019 was €28,624,000, i.e. 13.4% of 2019 revenue. 

Debt, cash flow and investments 
The Group's net cash (active cash - debt} fell from €86.5 million as at 31 December 2018 to €70.8 million (excluding 
the impact of IFRS 16) as at 31 December 2019. 

The impact of adopting IFRS 16 is set out in Note 2.2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The cash flow generated by operating act ivities (see statement of cash flows) came to €21,768,000. 

Gross investments for the financial year, both intangible (excluding goodwill, market shares and business capital) 
and tangible (property, plant and equipment), stood at €7,819,000. 

Acquisitions 
Growth operations are detailed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Disposals 
Disposals are detailed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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2.12.1 Assessment of income and the financial position (continued) 

Provisions policy 
The level of provisions for risks and contingencies is due to Business Unit Directors' rigorous approach regarding the 
risks covered. 

Provisions are recognised for these risks and contingencies on the basis of the best estimate of costs likely to be 
incurred. The total sum of provisions for risks and contingencies stood at €1 ,639,000 in the consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2019. 

Breakdown of 201 9 consolidated revenue 
The 2019 consolidated revenue breaks down as follows: 
Software: 11 % 
IT Services: 89% 

BY DIVISION 

€m Revenue EBITDA % 

Software 24.2 6.2 25.8% 

Governance, Risk & Compliance 17.5 4.3 24.4% 

Other 6.7 2.0 29.2% 

IT Services 189.0 22.4 11.9% 

Benelux 45.3 4.2 9.4% 

France 47.9 6.1 12.7% 

Switzerland 28.0 3.4 12.3% 

UK 52.1 6.4 12.2% 

Other (including offshore)' 15.7 2.3 14.3% 

Total 213.2 28.6 13.4% 

SOFTWARE 

Consolidated 
€m 

2019 2018 

Revenue 24.2 21.8 
EBITDA 6.2 4.1 

% 25.8% 18.8% 
This category combines Intellectual Property (IP) products (26%) and GRC products (72%). 
Growth in GRC activities came to +31 .5%, thanks to the acquisition of another company, Magique Galileo, at the 
start of the year. 

SERVICES 

A) France 
Consolidated 

€m 
2019 2018 

Revenue 47.9 41.4 

EBITDA 6.1 5.6 

% 12.7% 13.6% 
France continued to overperform, with growth of +15.7%. 
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Bl Belux 

€m 
Consolidated 

2019 2018 

Revenue 45.3 28.4 

EBITDA 4.2 2.4 

% 9.4% 8.3% 
Belux's profit margin was. better than anticipated, and the organic growth rate was +24.2%. 
Tipik was integrated on 1 January 2019. The organic-growth calculation does not include this entity. 

C) Switzerland 
Consolidated 

€m 
2019 2018 

Revenue 28.0 25.4 

EBITDA 3.4 2.7 

% 12.3% 10.8% 
Switzerland enjoyed organic growth of +18.4%. 
Revenue for the first three months of 2018 include that of Sword Performance, a company sold in April 2018. 

DlUK 

€m 
2019 

Revenue 52.1 

EBITDA 6.4 

% 12.2% 
.. Another company, DataCo, io1ned the UK scope 1n November 2019. 

Organic growth for this d~vision was +21 %. 

E) Other (Offshore+ Other) 

€m 
2019 

Revenue 15.7 

EBITDA 2.3 

% 14.3% 
This division's growth rate was +34.5%. 

GRAND TOTAL 

€m 2019 

Revenue 213.2 

EBITDA 28.6 

% 13.4% 

Consolidated 

2018 

42.7 

3.9 

9.0% 

Consolidated 

2018 

11 .7 

1.5 

12.6% 

Consolidated 

2018 

171.4 

20.1 

11 .8% 
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2.12.2 Alternative performance indicators 

The non-IFRS financial indicators presented in the annual report do not fall under a set of accounting standards or 
principles and must not be considered a substitute for the accounting aggregates presented in accordance with the 
IFRS standards. The non-IFRS financia l indicators must be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with the IFRS standards. It is also possible that Sword Group's non-IFRS financial 
indicators will not be comparable with oth,er non-IFRS data used by other companies. 
Management use non-IFRS financial indicators, in addition to IFRS financial information, to assess their operating 
performance, evaluate their ability to generate cash flow, take strategic and operational decisions and plan and set 
their growth objectives. The Group believes that the non-IFRS financial indicators also provide investors and financial 
analysts with a relevant basis for assessing the Group's operational performance over time and comparing it with that 
of other companies in its sector, as well as for meeting its development needs. 
The Group mainly uses two non-IFRS financial indicators, i.e. the organic growth rate and a measure of 
profitability calculated on the basis of the EBITDA. 

Organic growth is defined as revenue growth on a like-for-like basis. Organic growth on a constant exchange-rate 
basis corresponds to revenue growth on a like-for-like basis and at constant exchange rates. 
To measure revenue growth on a like-for-like basis, the Group takes as its starting point the consolidation scope at 
the end of the benchmark year (in this case 31 December 2019). Therefore, the consolidated revenue for the yea r 
under review (year N) and the previous year (year N-1) has been restated as follows: 

it includes revenue generated by entities acquired during year N prior to the date on which the Group took 
control; 
it does not include revenue generated for year N-1 and year N by companies sold during year N. 

When reference is made to changes in revenue at constant exchange rates, the impact of exchange rates is 
eliminated by recalculating the revenue for year N-1 on the basis of exchange rates used for year N. 
Organic growth can be used to assess the Group's ability to generate internal growth, in other words its ability to 
develop its business activities and create added value. 
This report presents growth in revenue in terms of historical value before restatement, or on a like-for-like or constant 
exchange-rate basis. 

Group profitability is defined as a gross margin rate by comparing current EBITDA with revenue. 
Current EBITDA corresponds to revenue less purchases, personnel expenses, other external charges, allocations 
to provisions and other current operating expenses, plus write-backs on provisions and other current operating 
income, as presented in the consolidated income statement. In the income statement, reference is made to 'Earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items'. 
This profitability indicator has two objectives: 

to assess the Group's development in the medium term (excluding non-recurring costs); 
to assess the Group's capacity to generate cash flow arising from day-to-day operations (in other words, its 
self-financing capacity). 

In addition to the indicators described above, the Group uses current EBIT (see definition below) as a starting point 
for assessing free cash flow when it conducts goodwill impairment tests. A sensitivity analysis is conducted in the 
context of these tests. It aims to ensure fluctuations, within a reasonable range, in the scenarios used as a basis for 
estimated financial forecasts, including EBIT expressed as a percentage of revenue. 

Current EBIT (listed as 'Earnings before interest and taxes, excluding non-recurring items' in the consolidated income 
statement) is an aggregate similar to current EBITDA, if only in so far as it provides an indication of the Group's 
operating margin after deducting depreciation charges, i.e. after taking account of its investment structure. 
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2 .12.3 Financing structure and policy 

Following a major sale in 2018, the Group no longer has any bank debt. Sword Group SE's management plans to 
maintain substantial lines of bank credit. Available lines of credit amounted to €130 million as at 31 December 2019. 

These are intended to finance internal and external growth based on market opportunities, while maintaining a sound 
financial structure. 

2 .12.4 Outlook for 2020 

The Group forecasts organic growth of 12% (on a like-for-l ike basis and at constant exchange rates) for 2020. 

The budgeted revenue 011 a like-for-like basis is €240 million+ with an EBITDA margin of 13%. 

These figures do not take into account the current volatility associated with the coronavirus crisis. 

2.12.5 Subsequent events 

See Note 44 to the financial statements. 

2.13 RISK FACTORS AND CONTROLS 

2.13.1 Risks related to the Group's activ ities 

An overview of the most s ignificant risks is provided below: 

High likelihood of occur rence 
Risks related to the performance of fixed-price projects and to the recognition of income associated with these 
Risks related to hir ing personnel as a result of strong organic growth 

Moderate likelihood of occurrence 
Risks related to technological obsolescence 

Low likelihood of occurrence 
Risks related to system security and protection 
Risks related to ethics and legal compliance 

For the key performance indicators in terms of non-financial risks, please refer to section 4.5. 

As set 011.Jt below, the Group's structure and the measures it has taken aim to mitigate the effects of the above risks 
if they occur. 

Risks related to the performance of fixed-price projects 
Sword Group's industrial methodological approach makes it possible to guarantee results while keeping to the budget 
and the schedule. This approach, which is based on the ISOPro quality-assurance system, has the following features: 

- compliance with ISO 9001 ; 
- a strong commitment by Sword's Executive Management; 
- the day-to-day involvement of all engineers during project execution. 

For Sword Group, project quality assurance is not limited to simply drafting a Quality Assurance Plan (QA Plan). This 
plan's effectiveness depends on its full adoption by the various project stakeholders and on quality monitoring. During 
the project, various participants are involved and take action that contributes to the quality of the end product. 

A Quality Assurance approach to a project entails: 

- the documentation of the project's priority objectives; 
- the implementation of the rules and the means deployed to achieve them; 
- the implementation of the rules and the means deployed to control them; 
- the proper targeting of actions required for the project, thereby increasing the effectiveness and level of the 

service provided. 
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However, teamwork is required to achieve a quality product. Quality Assurance channels all the project stakeholders' 
actions to ensure the success of the project and achieve the required level of qual ity_ However, this is no substitute 
for everybody having the appropriate expertise and motivation, which are the basic prerequisites for a quality product. 

A progress report is provided each month by the Business Unit Directors. This is then checked by the local CFOs 
and validated by the parent company_ If there are doubts about any revenue recognition for fixed-price projects, an 
external audit is carried out. 

In the year 2019, the total of days gained and lost vis-a-vis the initial estimates for the cost of projects was positive 
as a result of the systematic application of the ISOPro method. 

However, any delay in a project means that all overruns estimated with respect to the project's initial budget are 
immediately recognised in profit or loss in the form of commercial concessions (= excess time assigned to the project 
not recognised in revenue). 

Risks related to hiring employees 
Due to its strong organic growth, the Group is always on the lookout for new employees, as they are instrumental to 
its success_ As a result, the Group places particular emphasis on its attractiveness and ability to retain talent. This is 
demonstrated specifically by the following: 

- investment in training, enabling skills to be maintained and knowledge to be shared; 
- involvement with un iversities and engineering schools through internships and regular contributions to training 

courses; 
- the balance between work, family and leisure activities; 
- equal treatment of all employees; 
- access for executives to incentive plans related to their local company's performance. 

Risks related to technological obsolescence 
The Group invests each year in developing its GRC software to meet the market's requirements as closely as 
possible. See Note 16 to the consolidated annual accounts. 

R&D plans, including in particular upgrades to the functionality of marketed software and the development of new 
software solutions and the acquisition of companies operating in the GRC sector, are helping to minimise the 
obsolescence risk. 

The acquisition of Magique Galileo, a company whose products complemented the Group's existing range, has also 
further strengthened Sword's reputation and its competitive position on the market 

Risks related to system security and protection 
As far as hardware and local networks are concerned, an eight-strong team focuses on maintaining our infrastructure 
and, in particular, daily backups of data, which are stored in fireproof cabinets. 

In addition, a civil-liability insurance policy allows us to cover all risks relating to damage caused by our employees 
at client sites_ 

Last but not least, by capitalising on our know-how with our software components, we have a frirm grasp of the 
technological advances of our partners and suppliers. 

Risks related to ethics and legal compliance 
The Group has an Ethical Charter. The Charter aims, in particular, to lay down the key values and principles shared 
by the whole of Sword Group and its employees and to affirm the ethical commitment of Sword Group, in all its areas 
of activity, vis-a-vis shareholders. members of the company, clients. suppliers and partners_ 

The Group's Finance Department is made up of two people who have worked in chartered accountancy and statutory 
auditing_ Their remuneration is not based on the Group's performance. 

2.13.2 Financial risks 

The Group adopts a cautious policy when it comes to managing its market risks, mainly foreign-currency risk_ The 
financial risks to which the Group is exposed and the policies to address them are detailed in Note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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2 .13.3 Insurance 

The Company's general insurance policy involves three main areas: 
operations/post-delivery/professional civil liability for all Group companies; 
liability for the senior executives and corporate officers of Sword Group; 
All Travel Risks liability. 

Its general policy aims to cover risks having a significant financial impact and for wlhich the Group is unable to insure 
itself financially. 

T he Quarantee levels of the first- and second-line civil liability insurance contracts are as follows: 
NATURE OF 

LIMITS OF GUARANTEES 
EXCESS 

GUARANTEES PER CLAIM 

BODILY INJURY €20,000,000 per claim and 
of which €30,000,000 per year of insurance NONE 
NEGLIGENCE €10,000,000 per claim and per year of insurance 

CONSEQUENTIAL OR NON- €75,000 
CONSEQUENTIAL MATERIAL 
AND NON-MATERIAL DAMAGE 

€20,000,000 per claim and except for 

including €30,000,000 per year of insurance operations civil 

DAMAGE USA/CANADA 
liability €3,000 

ACCIDENTAL HARM TO THE €1 ,000,000 €3,000 
ENVIRONMENT per year of insurance for all damage other than 
(ALL TYPES OF DAMAGE) bodily injury 

NONE 
Except where provided for 

DEFENCE included in the guarantee in Article 2.2.2. of the 
Special Agreements 

(USNCanada) 

LITIGATION 
€50,000 

NONE per dispute 

SUPPLEMENTARY GUARANTEES Included 
PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE 
ADDITIONAL INSURED CU ENT Included 
GUARANTEE 

Sword Group has also taken out second-line insurance to double the guarantee levels for the first-line civil liability 
insurance. The guarantees of the second-line contract are €10,000,000 per claim and €15,000,000 per additional 
year of insurance and/oir after exhaustion of the €10,000,000 per claim and €15,000,000 per year of insurance 
provided for in the first-l ine contract 

Liability insurance for senior executives, de jure and de facto, including corporate officers, covers those subsidiaries 
in which Sword Group is the majority shareholder and encompasses, on behalf of the insured parties, the defence 
costs and financial consequences of lega l action against them incurring their personal liability in their role, up to the 
policy limit (€15,000,000 per claim). 

All Travel Risks insurance covers employees on business trips. 
An analysis of the main risks involved in the Group's activities and which can and must be insured reveals that these 
are normally covered by an insurance contract taken out with companies known to be solvent. 
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2.13.4 Internal control system 

The Group's internal control procedures have the following aims: 

- on the one hand, ensuring that the operational management, transactions and employees' conduct comply 
with the framework provided by the broad sweep of the Company's activities as defined by the corporate bodies 
and by the applicable laws and regulations and by the values, standards and internal rules of the Group; 

- on the other hand, checking that the accounting, financial and management information provided to the 
management of the Company accurately reflects the Group's operations and financial position. 

One of the objectives of the internal control system is to prevent and manage the risks resulting from the Company's 
business activity, as well as the risk of errors and fraud, in particular in accounting and finance. 

The internal control procedures are decided on by Sword Group's Board of Directors and an internal control officer 
was appointed to monitor the different risks identified by the Board of Directors, in accordance with the X Principles 
of Corporate Governance of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 

The internal control procedures focus on operational and financial activities. All the bodies involved in corporate 
governance participate in implementing internal control processes. 

In terms of internal control procedures relating to the preparation of financial and accounting information, the Group 
has introduced the following measures: 

- reporting financial information in the form of monthly analytical reporting to identify and analyse deviations from 
the objectives set by the Group's Finance Department; 

- making the consolidation process more reliable and reducing the time frames for producing and communicating 
financial information, based on: 

o empowering the heads of subsidiaries; 
o using consolidation softw.are to secure data processing and eliminate intra-group transactions; 
o introducing a module on IFRS 16, covering commitments related to buildings and vehicles; 
o an in-depth review by the Group's Finance Department; 

- systematising the review of quarterly financial information by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. 

While not providing a cast-iron guarantee that these risks will be completely eliminated, the internal country system 
aims to identify risks and prevent their occurrence. 

2.13.5 Extraordinary events and litigation 

To the Company's knowledge, apart from litigation that has been provided for in the accounts, thetre have not been 
any events or litigation that could lead to such a situation and could have or have had a significant impact on the 
results in the last 12 months, the financial position or the assets of Sword Group SE or any of its subsidiaries. 
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3 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

3.1 .1 Introduction 

From 11 April 2012 onwards, the Board of Directors decided to adhere voluntarily to the Ten Principles of Corporate 
Governance of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 

3.1 .2 Corporate Governance Charter 

Following the transfer of the Company's registered office to the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg at the General Meeting 
held on 26 March 2012, the Board of Directors of Sword Group adopted this Governance Charter on 28 August 2012. 
The Charter presents the governance framework for the activities of Sword Group, pursuant to the Ten Principles of 
Corporate Governance of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange which the Company subscribed to voluntarily with the 
exception of certain principles mentioned in this charter. Its aim is to clarify the powers and responsibilities of the 
different entities that constitute the governance of Sword Group. 

This Governance Charteir complements the following existing documents: 

an administrative handbook that specifies all the internal monitoring/control procedures, a welcome 
booklet for each member of staff, specifying their rights, their duties and their status when it comes to 
how Sword Group operates; 
a manual of the IFRS accounting principles, drafted by an independent firm and currently being updated; 
a technical handbook for each country that includes the quality standards in force (CMM, ISO or ISOPro 
method); 
an ethical charter that was approved by Sword Group's Board of Directors on 20 December 2010. 

It is available on the Sword Group website. 

The Governance Charter is subject to a review procedure initiated by the Board of Directors_ 

3.1.3 Board of Directors 

3_ 1_3_1 Mission 

The Board of Directors is the body responsible for the management of Sword Group. It meets as many times as is 
necessary to perform its duties. 

The Board of Directors is a collegiate body that is responsible for making all decisions and performing any actions 
that are necessary or useful for the achievement of the Company's corporate purpose, with the exception of powers 
explicitly reserved by law or the Memorandum and Articles of Association 
for the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

The Board of Directors has the task of managing the general course of the organisation_ 
As such: 

it makes the Company's strategic decisions; 
it handles any issues that need to be addressed to ensure the properr operation of the Company; 
it checks and verifies all aspects that in its opinion require monitoring. 

3_ 1 _3-2 Composition 

The Board of Directors has the following members: 
o Jacques Mottard, Chairman of the Board of Directors; 
o Frarn;ois Barbier, Independent Director; 
o Frangois-Regis Ory, Independent Director; 
o Patrice Crochet, Independent Director; 
o Nicolas Mottard, Director; and 
o Frederic Goosse, Director_ 

The members of the Board of Directors were chosen for their financial and/or technical expertise and their variety of 
professional backgrounds, ensuring that they bring a wealth of experience to the Board. 

20 



Sword Group - 2019 Financial Report 

The Board of Directors' makeup reflects the Company's desire to have top-class directors on its Board with a varied 
skillset and proven expertise in a range of fields. The Board has always taken care to maintain a balanced makeup, 
in particular by including ~ndependent directors. 

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of Sword Group pr,ovide for a Board of Directors which shall have a 
minimum of three members and a maximum of eighteen members, except when the temporary derogation provided 
for mergers applies, appointed for a maximum duration of four years. The Board of Directors comprises competent 
and well-informed persons who have been chosen based on the specific features of the Company and its activities. 

In accordance with the recommendations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, 50% of the Board of Directors are 
independent directors. Moreover, none of the above Directors have a significant holding in the share capital of the 
clients or suppliers of Sword Group, or in the subsidiaries of the latter. 

No Directors are elected by the staff. 

Given the size of the Company, and in order to improve the efficiency of the Board's decisions, the functions of the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are not separate. For the same reasons, the appointment of a compliance 
officer is not considered necessary. 

3.1.3.3 Expiry of terms of office in 2020 
The terms of office of the directors listed in section 3.1.3.2 will be renewed at the General Meeting approving the 
2019 consolidated annual financial statements. 

3.1.3.4 Other offices held by corporate officers in listed companies 

No members of the Board of Directors held offices or positions in listed companies other than Sword Group during 
the year in question. 

3.1.3.5 Modus operandi 

The Board shall meet, carry out its functions and take decisions in compliance with applicable statutory and regulatory 
provisions, as compleme11ted by the provisions of Sword Group's Memorandum and Articles of Association. Currently 
there are Rules of Procedure but no teller. 

In the absence of a Works Council, no staff representative of the Company or the Group takes part on a regular basis 
in the Board of Directors' meetings. 

The budgets are forwarded to the Board annually. The Board also receives the analytical accounts on a monthly 
basis and the general accounting every quarter. 

The Board is informed ahead of time of any acquisition or activity creation project and more generallly speaking of all 
significant financial operations. 

For each meeting of the Board of Directors, the relevant documents in relation to the agenda are senit to the members 
prior to tlhe meeting. The Directors may request, at any time of the year, any information that they consider useful on 
the way in which the Company goes about its business. 

All the Directors, executive or otherwise, have the same access to the information and resources that are necessary 
for the performance of their duties. 

Sword Group's Memorandum and Articles of Association provide for a Board of Directors' meeting to be held as often 
as the Company's interests require this. 
The Group uses its law firm to send out the invitations to attend the Board meetings. The Board generally meets at 
the registered office and the law firm assists the Chairman with drafting the minutes. 

Within the scope of the reinforcement of the governance rules, Sword Group has laid down a set of Rules of 
Procedure that specify how the Board of Directors works as well as the obligations of the Directors within the scope 
of their functions, in particular their ethical obligations. 

The Board of Directors completes its assessment every year. The Directors consider as at the reporting date that the 
current functioning of the Board of Directors enables them to perform their role properly. 
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3.1.4 Audit Committee 

In specific domains, the Board of Directors may be assisted, in an advisory capacity, by specialist committees 
established by the Board, which also determines their role, responsibilities, composition and modus operandi. As 
such, it established an Audit Committee, which assists Sword Group's Board of Directors in its tasl<s of supervising 
the financial reporting, external audit and internal control processes. 

The Audit Committee has the following members: 
o Frani;ois-Regis Ory, Chairman; 
o Frani;ois Barbier. 

3.1.5 Executive Management and Management Committee 

The Board of Directors has delegated the day-to-day management of Sword Grroup as well as representing the 
Company in this regard to two of its members, who make up the Executive Management. 

Sword Group SE's Executive Management consists of Jacques Mottard, Managing Director, and Frederic Goosse, 
Managing Director and Group CFO. 

The Executive Management is assisted in its task by a Management Committee, also called the Executive 
Management Committee, or EMC. 

The EMC has the following members: 
Jacques Mottard; 
four heads of subsidiaries, namely: 

o Philippe le Calve (France); 
o Dieter Rogiers (Belgium/Luxembourg/Greece); 
o Dave Bruce (UK); 
o Nick Scully {UK); 

Frederic Goosse_ 

The members of the EMC are selected for their managerial, technical and professional attributes and come from a 
range of countries and cultures, thereby providing the Group with a global outlook. 

The EMC sets out the annual guidelines, monitors the business activity, defines the long-term strategy, manages the 
annual budget and supervises the profit centres known as 'Business Units'. 

3.1.6 Directors' compensation and benefits 

Corporate officers are paid according to their experience and their know-how specifically within the context of the 
European and global markets. 

The remuneration package of the senior management and administrative bodies may be made up of various 
components such as the granting of shares, stock options or any other right to acquire shares, attendance fees, 
retirement and departure conditions and other specific benefits, whether they are granted by Sword Group or its 
subsidiaries or companies within the Group. 

The fixed and variable parts of the remuneration package are determined in a balanced manner. 
If stock options are granted, the Board of Directors sets performance conditions as well as the number of shares 
resulting from each option that must be kept by the corporate officer 
until the end of his or her term of office. 

The presentation of compensation for corporate officers below is consistent with the relevant recommendation (No. 8) 
of the principles of corporate governance of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange relating to information on compensation 
for such officers. 
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Table 1: Table setting out the compensation and options and shares allocated to each corporate officer 

Jacques Mottard 31/12/2019 31/1212018 

Compensation due for the year €32,745 (1) €66,391 <1J (detailed in Table 2) 

Valuation of the options allocated during the year N/A N/A 

Valuation of the performance shares allocated during the year N/A N/A 

TOTAL €32,745 €66,391 

<1> Financiere Semaphore s.a r.I., a company owned by Jacques Mottard, billed Sword Group SE for services and 
recharged miscellaneous fees for a total amount of: 

€669,999.92 (excl. tax) for the ye.ar ended 31 December 2019; 
€861,742.72 (excl. tax) for the ye.ar ended 31 December 2018; 

Nicolas Mottard 

Compensation due for the year 

Valuation of the options allocated during the year 

Valuation of the performance shares allocated during the year 

TOTAL 

Frederic Goosse 

Compensation due for the year 

Valuation of the options allocated during the year 

Valuation of the performance shares allocated during the year 

TOTAL 

Fran~ois Barbier 

Compensation due for the year 

Valuation of the options allocated during the year 

Valuation of the performance shares allocated during the year 

TOTAL 

Franctois-Regis Ory 

Compensation due for the year 

Valuation of the options allocated during the year 

Valuation of the performance shares allocated during the year 

TOTAL 

31 /12/2019 

€15,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€15,000 

31/1212019 

€20,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€20,000 

31 /12/2019 

€20,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€20,000 

31/12/2019 

€20,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€20,000 

31/1212018 

€15,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€15,000 

31/12/2018 

€20,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€20,000 

31/12/2018 

€20,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€20,000 

31/12/2018 

€20,000 

N/A 

N/A 

€20,000 
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Patrice Crochet 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

Compensation due for the year €20,000 €20,000 

Valuation of the options allocated during the year N/A N/A 

Valuation of the performance shares allocated during the year N/A N/A 

TOTAL €20,000 €20,000 

Table 2: Table prov iding a detailed breakdown of the compensation of the Chairman and CEO 

Jacques Mottard Amount as at 31!12/2019 Amount as at 31/12/2018 
Due Paid Due Paid 

Fixed compensation €13,664 €13,664 €12,000 €12,000 
Directors' fees €12,862 €12,862 €13, 138 €13,138 
Benefits in kind €6,219 €6,219 €41,253 €41 ,253 
TOTAL €32,745 €32,745 €66,391 €66,391 

Table 2 is only completed for Jacques Motta rd because for the other officers the sums are solely made up of directors' 
fees. 

Table 3: Share subscription or purchase options allocated during the year to each corporate officer by the 
company or by any Group company 
Not applicable 

Table 4: Sllare subscription or purchase options exercised during tile year by eacll corporate officer 
Not applicable 

Table 5: Performance shares allocated to each corporate officer 
Not applicable 

Table 6: Performance shares that became available during the year for each corporate officer 
Not applicable 

Table 7: History of allocations of share subscription or purchase options 
No share subscription or purchase option schemes are currently in place. 

Table 8: Share subscription or purchase options allocated to the top 10 employees who are not corporate 
officers and options they have exercised 
Not applicable 

T bl 9 0 h . f f b a e t er m orma 110n a out th ff e corporate o 1cer 
Employment Top-up retirement Allowances or Allowances 

contract plan benefits due or likely related to a non-
to be due as a result competition 
of termination or a clause 

change of role 

Corporate officers Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No 
J_ Mottard - x x x x Chairman & CEO 

Directors' fees 
We propose that the directors' fees paid to members of the Board of Directors be set at €95,000_ 
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4 CORPORA TE RESPONSIBILITY 

4.1 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Following the latest revis ion in December 2017 of the X Principles of Corporate Governance of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange, Sword Group adopted a new governance framework covering social, societal and environmental 
responsibility (corporate social responsibi lity, or CSR). 

Since 2011 , Sword Group has been a signatory to the Ten Principles of the United Nations Global Compact, relating 
to human rights and labour, the environment and corruption. 

By joining, the Company was keen to show it was a socially responsible stakeholder in the global economy. 

Sword chose the UN Global Compact as it provides a globally recognised framework as well as sustainability, 

and therefore the Group has ensured compliance with the 1 O principles set out there ever since. 

Human Rights 
Principle 1: Businesses should support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights; and 
Principle 2: make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses. 
Labour 
Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to 

collective bargaining; 
Principle 4: the elimination of all forms of forced and compulsory labour; 
Principle 5: the effective abolition of child labour; and 
Principle 6: eliminate discrimination in respect of employment and occupation. 
Environment 
Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges; 
Principle 8: undertake in itiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility; and 
Principle 9: encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies. 
Anti-Corruption 
Principle 10: Businesses should work against corruption in all its forms, including extortion and bribery. 

Action regarding challenges facing the Group 
Attracting and retaining talent 
Developing and transforming skills 
Developing an entrepreneurial culture within teams 
Developing social dialogue 
Promoting d iversity and equal opportunities 
Promoting well-being at work and employee engagement 

The Human Aspect 
Education, work-l inked training and ongoing training 
As Sword is a specialised services company, the added value that the company provides to its clients is largely 
determined by the quality of its huma11 resources' training and expertise. This is one of the most important 
development areas for Sword and is the reason why the company pays particular attention to skills and team 
management. The company has introduced specific procedures for the following items: 

Maintaining skills levels and pooling knowledge through implementation of training processes, 
capitalisation and sharing of knowledge These processes are tailored to the specialist domains of 
each of our competence centres and facilitate the growth and development of our staff so that they 
become experts in their field. Sword makes various learning resources available to this end: a 
specialised set of shared documentation, a listing of the tutorials available for each specialist field, 
coaching of new staff through tutorship and mentoring, and the provision of internal or external 
training and of certification training programmes. 
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Sustaining team motivation throughout a contract, based essentially on small centres of expertise , 
proximity management, c lose involvement of the competence centre's management team, internal 
mobility and personalised training plans 

• Change management: arrival or departure of a new team member, taking into account the project 
constraints and objectives 

Sword constantly invests in training to address this. 

This investment extends beyond staff training to include universities and engineering schools through various types 
of initiatives: 

Internships: These are set up on the basis of the opportunities that Sword can provide and the 
students' expectations. These internships have led to permanent job offers every year. 
Integration of students combining work and training into Sword's teams 
Regular participation in training programmes that aim to create a bridge between schools and 
companies: 

o lectures since 2011 at Universite Paris X - Paris Descartes as part of t he DEFI Master 
d iploma (Electronic Documents and Information Flow) on Semantics and Systems 
Integration, "Why? How? Proof Through Examples"; 

o lectures since 2012 at Universite Claude Bernard in Lyon on "Data Optimisation: What and 
Why?"; 

o case studies - Sword projects (LERUD!, ALIAS, ISIDORE, UOH) 
Involvement in research and development projects bringing together fundamental research and the 
business community 

Managerial Excellence 
Given the nature of Sword's business activities (specialised services) and contrracts, the Group's organisational 
structure has been adapted to accommodate and make a success of this type of activity, in particular at the 
management level: 

Profit centre organisation: Organisation of the company into autonomous specialist competence 
centres; each of these is a profit centre responsible for its production and results 
Project know-how and expertise: All managers in charge of the specialist competence centres are 
trained i111 technical IT domains, and as such, have extensive experience in IT project management 
on a fixed-price basis. Most managers are experts in their specific field. 
Reinforcement of the technical management: Each competence centre relies on a technical 
management team directly integrated into its strategic management to the same extent and with the 
same decision-making power as the sales management team. 
Specialist sales approach: Sword's sales approach is based primarily on our know-how and capacity 
to innovate and manage core and innovative projects in our various specialist fie lds. The managers 
in charge of sales activities report directly to each competence centre and have a good technical 
understanding of the core business, thereby ensuring their relevance in our specialist domains. 

Staff Empowerment 
The majority of the staff or subcontractors who work for Sword Group are highly-skilled managers_ Sword provides 
its staff with a wide range of tools to facilitate their day-to-day activities. Some 80% of the Group's engineers have a 
high level of studies (the equivalent of the French 'BAC +4' or 'BAC +5' (four or five years of university studies) or a 
PhD). 

Sword has numerous too~s for leveraging know-how. This allows teams to independently access relevant information 
and if necessary optimise access to the appropriate specialists. 
This requires tools tailored to specific needs: 

Portable computers for mobile employees, with external access to Sword's IT system: All staff have 
one or two screens in addition to their laptop, with a view to improving their work comfort. 
State-of-the-art collaborative tools (email and instant messaging, collaborative spaces, standardised 
documentary reference frameworks, professional IHR tools, client relations management tools, video 
conference rooms on every Group site) 
Cutting-edge tools such as a semantic search engine bringing together all the company's resources 
Methods promoting staff empowerment, in particular through the growing use of Agile development 
methodologies 
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Quality working environment: The offices are organised around small project teams, and there are 
never more than five people working in a room. Management accessibility is also ensured by the 
geographical proximity of the offices. 

The improvement of information flow in the company 
Sword's staff are involved in the corporate strategy through short hierarchical chains of command and regular 
briefings and updates. 
Entity meetings are held at least twice a year, dealing with the following subjects in an open discussion: 

the results and outlook for the whole Group and its strategic orientation; 
the results and outlook for the relevant entity, business opportunities and strategic orientation; 
a global review of the projects under way, the difficulties encountered and the successes; 
the highlighting of best practices. 

Regular meetings are organised between each employee and their manager to provide updates on each service . 
This proximity of the teams promotes informal exchanges and the effective flow of information. 

The balance between work, family and leisure activities 
Sword Group provides a range of facilit1ies that help employees to better balance their work, family and leisure 
activities. 

At some Sword sites, staff can use tennis courts and football pitches, compete in sporting events , 
and so on. 
Staff wishing to do so can work part-time. 

Employees cannot be moved to a different work location without their consent. Sword's international presence also 
means the company can offer its staff job opportunities in other countries. 

Equal treatment 
Sword applies a number of measures aimed at ensuring equal treatment for all, as far as possible. The following 
measures are applied: 

Annual individual meetings conducted by company managers - meeting documents completed 
jointly by the manager and the staff member 
Variable .compensation described on an annual mission task sheet - regular assessment of results 
Annual overview of training (including details of the number of male/female participants) 
Half-yearly assessment (for France) highlighting the maximum and minimum compensation for each 
staff category (broken down by gender, among other things) 

When hiring, particular attention is paid to equal opportunities: 

Job advertisements in France are systematically published on line on the APEC site and on Linked In . 
The advertisement always uses gender-neutral language. 
Standardised recruitment process revolving around a series of logical reasoning tests aimed at 
providing recruiters with objective decision-making criteria 

Sword has introduced regular monitoring of equal treatment between staff. This involves regularly checking indicators 
such as wage distribution by gender in various regions, with a comparison of average wages between the current 
and previous years. 

Disability 
The Group has very few disabled staff as it receives virtually no applications from people with disabilities. Sword 
helps those with a disability find work by calling on the services of companies ithat employ disabled people, for 
example for sorting through records, recycling waste and purchasing office supplies. 
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4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Management of Sword Group's impact on the environment and on natural resources 

Sword Group is a services business so its impact on the environment is limited. Nevertheless, in the interests of 
sustainable development, we have implemented a simple and practical policy for protecting the environment and 
reducing energy consumption. 

• Efficient electricity management: turning off lights, computers and all electrical devices as soon as 
possible 
Application of insulation standards in buildings 
General rollout of sensor switches to reduce unnecessary electricity consumption 
Annual building audit by Apave to assess the quality and ongoing performance of electrical 
installations 
Virtualisation of all IT servers in 2007, reducing kW/h consumption by a factor of six 
Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by controlling the use of air conditioning 
Reduction of business trips by optimising the use of modern communication technologies (phone, 
video conferencing, etc.), including for management meetings for client projects: 
Each Sword site has at least one meeting room with a video conferencing system, allowing virtual 
meetings to be held with external stakeholders. 
lntroductiion of a Skype Enterprise instant messaging system linking up the Group's international 
sites with each other and the outside world, enabling point-to-point discussions between staff or with 
clients using IP phone systems, instant messaging, application sharing and video solutions 
Maximisation of public transport use for travel within cities: Sword covers some of the cost of travel 
passes to promote the use of public transport 
Promotion of carpooling for all work-related trips made by our engineers outside the city where they 
operate 
Use of rail transport whenever possible, and in particular for trips between sites 
Minimisation of the number of documents printed as part of projects: Engineers only print the final 
version of documents. All revision/proofreading is done on screen. The Group's printing plant is 
lmprim'vert (green printing) certified and complies with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and 
Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification (PEFC) principles, among others. 
Reuse and recycling of paper 
Construction and extension of all Sword buildings based on the HQE standard 
Recycling of computer hardware and accessories (ink cartridges) by appropriately certified 
companies 
Restriction of the engine rating of company cars (average engine rating of the fleet in France: 6.7 hp) 
Introduction of incentives to encourage staff to buy electric vehicles 
Introduction of a customised policy for each country: For example, our Belgian subsidiary has set up 
an 'Ecoteam' that monitors its work's impact on the environment. The paper used for internal 
purposes, for instance, is 100% recycled. Bicycles are available to staff for short trips. A special 
environmental compliance certification process has been launched. 
Relocation to sites using less energy (e.g. Chennai (India)) 
Introduction of electric bicycle fleets (100 such bicycles in France) 
Creation of an electric vehicle fleet by the company (Renault Zoe and BMW 13) 
Operational investments in areas generating energy savings (e.g. new software marketed to 
international organisations helping them to reduce their number of trips: reduction of the 
C02 balance) 
Introduction of waste sorting in all countries 
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4.3 SOCIETAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Sword's various sites play an active role in the life of their region, undertaking a range of initiatives in this regard: 

Sponsorship of social and cultural activities 
Participat ion in clusters aimed at making the regions where Sword operates more economically 
attractive Sword is the administrator of the Health Cluster in the Rh6ne-Alpes region of France and 
is a member of the Cap DIGITAL competitiveness cluster in Paris. 
Involvement in the higher-education sector, giving presentations as part of various courses , 
participating in student forums and providing students with internships developed with the institutions 
and students in question 
Strict compliance with labour laws 
Recruitment on the local labour market or based on voluntary relocation 
Support for not-for-profit organisations: Sword sponsors the Leon Berard Centre for the Fight against 
Cancer (CLB) in a range of support initiatives. It also supplies equipment to organisations providing 
support for education in Africa (Wassadou Pont-Trambouze). 

4.4 BUSINESS ETHICS 

As one of the world leaders in business process improvement solutions for the regulated sectors, Sword Group 
makes its expertise, experience and infrastructure available to its clients to help them improve their performance, 
boost their efficiency and maximise their returns on investment. 

Sword Group does business around the world in compliance with the laws and rules and regulations in force in the 
various countries where Sword Group and/or its subsidiaries operate. 

On 20 December 2010, the Board of Directors of Sword Group adopted an Ethical Charter. The Charter aims, in 
particular, to lay down the key values and principles shared by the whole of Sword Group and its employees and to 
affirm the ethical commitment of Sword Group in all its areas of activity, vis-a-vis shareholders, members of the 
company, clients, suppliers and partners. 

Sword Group's Commitments 

Shareholders: Sword Group wants to assure shareholders of the profitability of their investment and to 
regularly provide them with transparent and complete, fair and true information. 
Clients and suppliers: In its relations with clients and suppliers, Sword Group complies with principles 
of integrity and fairness and undertakes to provide quality products and services and to respect the 
commitments it has made. Therefore, Sword Group's expertise, experience and infrastructure are made 
available to its clients to help them improve their performance, boost their efficiency and maximise their 
returns on investment. The success of its products and solutions is based on a uniqUJe combination of 
experts from the fields of industry and technology who fully understand the challenges facing the 
business a111d are committed to providing innovative solutions through close collaboration. The talent 
running through Sword Group's teams and its robust network of affiliated partners are key to the lasting 
success of our company. 
Employees: Sword Group respects employees' rights and working conditions and ensures they develop 
their professional skills. Sword Group fosters its employees' personal development while respecting 
their privacy and aims to promote their creativity and initiative. Sword Group seeks to develop a trusting, 
respectful and frank relationship with each of its employees. 
Civil society: Sword Group is involved in the economic and social development of the countries where 
it operates, complying with the legislation in force there. In particular, Sword Group abides by the 
principles of the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights and of the International Labour 
Organisation. Sword Group follows the rules surrounding free competition and supports the fight 
against corruption in all its forms. Sword Group does not make political interventions or fund political 
parties. In the context of its activities, Sword Group ensures respect for the environment and 
sustainable development. In keeping with its values , Sword Group is a signatory to and participant in 
the United Nations Global Compact. 
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Sword Group Employees' Commitments 

Sword Group employees are expected to reflect the Group's principles and values in their day-to-day activities by: 
complying with applicable legislation; 
being fair and honest in their relations with Sword Group and ensuring good relationships within work 
teams and in particular, as part of this, not accepting or soliciting gifts or benefits going beyond standard 
or commercial practice and that are likely to influence their behavioulf; 
meticulously applying health , safety and environmental protection rules; 
forging clearly defined, honest and professional relationships with Sword Group's clients and partners, 
meaning that they must provide their clients and partners with a top-class commercial approach and a 
high level of technical know-how; 
refraining from disclosing to third parties or unauthorised Group employees confiidential business 
information to which they are privy; 
respecting the confidentiality of the information to which they are privy and in particular, refraining from 
directly or indirectly using for personal ends privileged information that may come into their possession 
in the course of their duties, and not engaging in any insider trading; 
avoiding any confl ict of interests between Sword Group and their personal interest; allld 
refraining from engaging in any political activity except as a private individual, in which case this must 
be undertaken outside working hours and away from the workplace and without mentioning that they 
are a Sword Group employee. 

4 .5 NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The table below presents for each non-financial domain the polic ies implemented by the Group and the relevant 
performance indicators. Given the lack of any more precise way of assessing these at the time of writing, the 
Executive Management has provided a brief evaluation of the effectiveness of the policies implemented and has not 
identified any specific shortcomings. 

Domain 
Staff 

Information 
Technology 

Ethics and 
Governance 

Environment 

Objectives 
Recruitment process 

Staff retention 

Security, reliability and 
continuity of our 
systems 

Amendments to laws 
and regulations 

Energy and carbon 
emissions 

Po lic ies 
implemented 
Increasing 
attractiveness to 
universities and 
engineering schools 

Maintaining a high-
quality work 
environment 
Giving each 
employee the tools to 
evolve and develop 
their skills through 
training programmes 

Performance indicators 
Number of interns/number of employees and 
freelancers 
Number of activities at universities and 
engineering schools per year 

Absenteeism 
Average number of training hours per 
employee 

Protecting our data Number of incidents per year 

Strengthening the Substantial fines for non-compliance 
internal control 
s stem 
Using green energy Energy consumption within the organ isation 
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5 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31DECEMBER2019 

5.1 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 31 December 2019 

in thousands of€ 

ASSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Goodwill 
Other intangible assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Right-of-use assets 
Investments in associates 
Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 
Deferred tax assets 
Other assets 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Trade and other receivables 
Work in progress 
Current tax assets 
Other assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Prepaid expenses 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
TOT AL ASSETS 

Notes 

15 
16 
17 
18 
11 

19 

28 
21 

20 
8 

21 
22 
8 

31 December 
2019 

74,249 
11,692 
5,089 

14,424 
50 

1,099 

1,579 
2,448 

110,630 

37,130 
28,774 

946 
5,571 

71 ,657 
2,407 

146,485 
257,115 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

31 December 
2018 

restated 

66,200 
6,812 
3,720 

865 

649 

1,650 
2,528 

82,424 

33,496 
23,655 

2,500 
7,770 

112,929 
5,341 

185,691 
268,115 
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As at 31 December 2019 

in thousands of€ 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

EQUITY 

Share capital 
Share premium 
Reserves 
Retained earnings 
TOTAL EQUITY- GROUP SHARE 

Non-controll ing interests (minority interests) 
TOTAL EQUITY 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Lease obligations 
Other financial debts 
Pension provisions 
Other provisions 
Deferred tax liabilities 
Other liabilities 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Lease obligations 
Other financial debts 
other provisions 
Trade and other payables 
Current tax liabilities 
Other liabilities 
Prepaid services 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Notes 

36 

10_2, 
10.3 

18 
25 
23 
24 
28 
27 

18 
25 
24 
26 

27 
8 

31 December 
2019 

9,545 
70,676 

4,832 
61 ,950 

147,003 

3,006 
150,009 

13,006 

1,534 
392 

1,302 
8,228 

24,462 

4,080 
878 

1,247 
18,401 
2,310 

29,254 
26,474 
82,644 

107,106 
257,115 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the consolidated financ ial statements. 

31 December 
2018 

restated 

9,545 
70,676 

1,563 
63, 138 

144,922 

2,446 
147,368 

20,087 
1,079 
3,022 
1,235 

13,075 
38,498 

6,349 
2,811__ 

18,028 
520 

26,953 
27,578 
82,249 

120,747 
268,115 
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5.2 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NET INCOME 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

in thousands of€ 
Continuing operations 
Revenue 
Purchases 
Personnel expenses 
Other external charges 
Net charges for provisions 
Other current operating expenses 
Other current operating income 
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND 
AMORTISATION, EXCLUDING NON-RECURRING ITEMS (EBITDA) 
EBITDA in% 

Notes 

7,8 

29 

30 

Charges for depreciation of propert)l,__plant and equipment 17 
Charges for depreciation of right-of-use assets 18.1 
Charges for depreciation of intangible assets arising from business 
combinations 
Charges for depreciation of other intangible assets 
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES, 
EXCLUDING NON-RECURRING ITEMS (EBIT) 
EBIT in% 
Income from disposals of assets and subsidiaries 
Impairment loss on assets 
Other non-recurring items 
OPERATING PROFIT (OP) 
OP in% 
Financial income 
Financial expenses 
FINANCIAL RESULT 
Share of profit or loss ofr associates 
PROFlir BEFORE TAX 
Income tax 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
Discontinued operations 
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax 
PROFlir FOR THE YEAR 
Of which: 
Group share 
Non-controlling interests (minority interests) 
Earnings per share for the profit for the year - Group share 
Basic earnings per share (in €) 
Diluted earn ings per share (in€) 
Earnings per share - continuing operations 

31 
32 
33 

34 
11 

28 

14 

35 
35 

Basic earnings per share (ln €) 35 
Diluted earn ings per share (in€) 35 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

31 December 
2019 

213, 182 
(12,055) 
(93,638) 
(77,995) 

(688) 
(1,256) 

1,074 

28,624 
13.43% 
(1,867) 
(4,430) 

(263) 
(1,595) 

20,469 
9.60% 
(360) 
(212) 
(849) 

19,048 
8.94% 
1,515 

(2,076) 
(561) 

18,487 
(4,938) 
13,549 

13,549 

13,250 
299 

1.39 
1.39 

1.39 
1.39 

31 December 
2018 

171,412 
- __(6,191) 

(78,78~ 

(65,284) 
_(1 ,06~ 

(956) 
1,022 

20,145 
11.75% 
_(2, 13!) 

(1 ,73QL 
(738) 

15,546 
9.07% 
81,155 
(3,04!) 
(7,593) 
86,067 

50.21% 
730 

(1 ,740) 
(1,010) 
(1 ,319) 
83,738 
(1 ,881) 
81,857 

4,548 
86,405 

86,079 
326 

9.03 
9.03 

8.55 
8.55 
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5.3 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

(in thousands of€) 

PROFllf FOR THE YEAR 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Recyclable items in profit or loss 
Translation differences 

- during the year 

Total recyclable items in profit or loss 

Non-recyclable items in profit or loss 
Defined benefit plans 

- Actuarial gains and losses on post-employment benefits 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

- gain related to remeasurement at fair value 

Total non-recyclable items in profit or loss 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
Of which: 
Group share 
Non-controll ing interests (minority interests) 

Comprehensive income for the year, of which the Group share 
from the below items is as follows: 
Continuing operations 
Discontinued operations 

Notes 

23 

19 

31 December 
2019 

13,549 

3,274 

3,274 

(205) 

(111) 

(316) 

2,958 

16,507 

16,083 
424 

16,083 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

31 December 
2018 

86,405 

1,399 

1,399 

68 

80 

148 

1,547 

87,952 

87,589 
363 

82,720 
4,869 
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5.4 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

Reserve for Foreign-
remeasurement Defined currency 

Share Share Treasury of financial benefit translation 
'in thousands of€) capital premium shares assets plans reserve 
BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 (RESTATED) 9,545 70,676 1,786 560 (68) (2,048) 58,375 138,826 4,213 143,039 
Adjustments related to the adoption of IFRS 15 - (1,407) (1,407) (159) (1 ,566) 
BALANCE AS AT 1JANUARY2018 9,545 70,676 1,786 560 (68) (2,048) 56,968 137,419 4,054 141,473 

Profit for the year 
Other comQrehensive income 

Comprehensive income for the year 
Repurchase/resale of ordinary shares 
Payment of dividends 
Transactions between shareholders <1> 

80 
80 

(17.zL 

86,079 86,079 326 86,405 
68 1, 362 1,510 37 1,547 
68 1,362 86,079 87,589 - 363 87,952 

(177) - (177) 
(!5,759) (45,759) (171) (45,930) 
(34, 150) _(34, 150L (1,800) _(35,950) 

BALANCEASAT31DECEMBER2018(RESTATED) 9,545 70,676 1,609 640 - (686) 63,138 144,922 2,446 147,368 
Adjustments related to the adoption of IFRS 16 - - - - - - (619) (619) (72) (691 ) 
BALANCE AS AT 1JANUARY2019 9,545 70,676 1,609 640 - (686) 62,519 144,303 2,374 146,677 

Profit for the y_ear 13,250 13,250 299 13,549 
Other comprehensive income - - (111) (205) 3, 149 2,833 125 2,958 

Comprehensive income for the year - - - __ (1_ 11) _ @_O~) 

Repurchase/resale of ordinary shares 
Payment of dividends 
Transactions between shareholders <1> 

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 20 

r1J See Note 10.3. 

9,545 

436 

70,676 2,045 529 205 

3,149 13,250 

.:.... _ UJ,437) 
(2,382l 

2,463 61,950 

16,083 - 424 16,507 
436 436 -

(11 ,437) - (!2.§) Q.1,865) 
(2,382l 636 (1,746l 

147,003 3,006 150,009 
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5.5 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

(in thousands of€) 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit for the year from continu ing_Qperat ions 
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 
Adjustments: 

Depreciation charges 
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
Impairment losses on trade receivables, net of reversal 
Other ~ovision charges/(write-backs on)_other provisions 
Provision charges for employee benefits 
Net capital losses/gains on disposals of non-current assets, net of 
transaction costs 
Changes in fair value of additional payments 
Share of profit or loss of associates 
Interest income 
Interest expenses 
Income tax 

Change in working capital 
Cash flow generated by operating activities 
Tax paid 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash flows from inves ting activities 
AcquisWonslnew consolidations: 
- Intang ible assets generated internally 
- Other intangible assets 
- Property, plant and equ ipment 
- Investments in associates 
- Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income· 

Disposalsldeconsolidations: 
- Intang ible assets 
- Property, plant and equ ipment 
- Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Interest received 
Control taken of subsidiaries and increase in ownership in existing 
subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 
Loss of control of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents disposed 
of 
NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(ALLOCATED TO) INVESTMENT 
ACTIVITIES 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements_ 

- 31 December 
I ' 2018 

13,549 81 ,857 
4,548 

8,155 5,444 
212 
512 530 

(1,422) 7,670 
247 128 

360 @1,15~) 

937 

1,319 
(200) (342) 

718 385 
4,938 2,513 

(3,714) (4,621) 
23,355 19,213 
(1 ,587) (5,042) 

21 ,768 14,171 

---
(3,581) (4,34~) 

(487) (309) 
(3,751) _(2,66~ 

(~1~) 

(561) (~~ 

3 
100 126 

19 
207 343 

(4,993) 1,526 

1,569 124,862 

(11,494) 119,088 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-iiiElli:lliiill,·· . ~3_1_o_e_c_e_m2_0b.1e.!!r_ (in thousands of€) ~ 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Payment related to the re~rchase and resale of ordinary shares 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (minority interests}_ 
Consideration received from non-controlling interests (minority 
interests) 
Increase in lease obligations 
Repayment of lease obligations 
New loans and use of lines of credit 
Repayment of loans 
Interest paid 
Dividends paid to shareholders in the parent company 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 

NET CASH FLOWS ALLOCATED TO FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents as at opening 
Change in foreign exchange rate effect 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT YEAR END 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

436 

(9,972) 

336 
(4,980) 

179 
(25,500) 

(864) 
(11,437) 

(428) 

(52,230) 
(41,956) 
112,080 

921 

71,045 

(177) 

_U_5,551) 

20,087 
(17,000) 

(51~ 

(45,759) 
(171) 

(59,088) 
74,171 
37,603 

306 

112,080 
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5.6 NOTES TO THIE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 .. GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 COMPANY PRESENTATION 
Sword Group SE ("the Company") is a European company {Societas Europaea, or SE) established under 
Luxembourg law, having its headquarters at 2 Rue d'Arlon, Windhof (Luxembourg). The Company is registered in 
the Register of Commerce and Companies of Luxembourg under number B 168.244. 

Sword Group, comprising the Company and the companies it conitrols, specialises in the global delivery of software 
and IT services for regulated industries and international groups. 

Sword Group's activities are organised and managed around two businesses: 
IT Services (also called "Solutions"); and 
Software (also called "Software" or "Products"). 

The Group offers a wide range of services, including strategic and operational consulting, solution engineering and 
application development, project ownership support and project management support, change management and 
third-party maintenance_ 

The Company is listed on Euronext Paris (Compartiment 8). 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 March 2020. The consolidated 
financial statements will be final ised once approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 28 April 2020. 

1.2 MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019 
Effective from 3 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of Magique Galileo Software Limited, a company 
incorporated in the UK specialising in Governance, Risk and Compliance (GRC) solutions for the banking and 
insurance sector - an acquisit ion involving an outlay of some GBP 2,222,000 (equivalent to around €2,488,000), 
excluding additional payments. See Note 12.1 _ 

Effective from 1 May 2019, the Group increased its stake in Plefsys IT PC from 38% to 64%, at a cost of€445,000. 
Following this transaction , the Group will now fully consolidate that company, which had previously been recognised 
in the Group's accounts according to the equity accounting method_ See Note 12.1. 

On 31 October 2019, the Group acquired 100% of DataCo Global Ltd and DataCo Austral ia Pty Ltd at a total cost of 
some GBP 6,399,000 (equivalent to around €7,429,000). See Note 12.1. 

On 31 December 2019, the Group increased its stake in Tipik Communication Agency S.A. from 49% to 98%, at a 
cost of €989,000_ This was paid in January 2020 by cancelling a receivable of €639,000 from Tipik Group SA and 
settling the balance of €350,000 in cash. 
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NOTE 2 .. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

2.1 BASIS FOR PREPARATION 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euros (the company's functional currency), 
rounded off to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. They are prepared on the basis of the historical 
cost, with the exception of derivatives and financial assets held for sale that were valued at their faiir value. 

As per EU Regulation No. 1606/2002of19 July 2002, the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019 
were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as published by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union (hereinafter "IFRS" or "IFRS 
standards"). 

Assets and liabilities, expenses and income were not offset, unless permitted or required by IFRS standards. 

2.2 CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING METHODS 

2.2.1. New and revised IFRS standards impacting the amounts presented or the disclosures to be provided in 
the consolidated financial statements 

On 1 January 2019, the· Group adopted the following new IFRS standards significantly impacting the Group's 
consolidated financial statements: 

IFRS 16: Leases 
IFRS 16 sets out the principles for recognising, measuring and presenting leases, as well as information to be 
provided in the financial statements. The new standard applies both to lessors and to lessees and replaces all the 
standards and interpretations pertaining to leases. 

The standard must be applied retrospectively. However, the Group decided to apply the modified retrospective 
approach, under which the Group is required to recognise the cumulative effect of the initial adoption of IFRS 16 as 
an adjustment of the operning equity at the time of its initial adoption, namely the equity as at 1 January 2019, without 
restating the comparative information. 

Real-estate leases and company car rentals are covered, on the basis that the office equipment, including laptops, 
workstations and printers forming the subject of leases, is classified as low-value assets and therefore exempt from 
recognition in the balance sheet of the subsidiaries in their capacity as a lessee, and that IT equipment other than 
office equipment, including servers, is not leased within the Group and therefore is not affected by the transition to 
IFRS 16. 

On 1 January 2019, the Group recognised a liability corresponding to the present value of lease payments over the 
term of the contract, as determined by the Group. Real-estate leases were discounted applying the Group's marginal 
debt ratio, while car-rental leases were discounted based on a specific rate for this type of contract. 

For real-estate leases, early termination options were considered whenever it was considered that exercising this 
right was likely. 

From 1 January 2019 onwards, the Group also recognised a right-of-use asset, which was initially recognised at the 
level of the lease obligation. 

The recognised leases pursuant to the method prevailing until 31 December 2018 were replaced by (generally 
straight-line) depreciation expenses calculated over the life of the :asset and an interest burden (wh ich is degressive 
in line with periodic payments). 
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In light of the Group's adoption of IFRS 16, the following amendments were made to the performance measures 
presented by the Group: 

the debUequity ratio rose following the increase in the debt level due to the inclusion of lease obligations on 
the liabilities side; 
earnings before interest and taxes, excluding non-recurring items (EBIT) increased pursuant to the 
replacement of rents with a lower depreciation expense; 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items (EBITDA) 
increased following the elimination of leases, albeit without including any depreciation. 

The table below illustrates the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 1 January 2019: 

(in thousands of€) 
ASSETS 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Goodwill 
Other intangible assets 
Property, plant and eq~ment 
Right-of-use assets 
Investments in associates 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Deferred tax assets 
Other assets 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 
Trade and other receivables 
Work in progress 
Current tax assets 
other assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Prepaid expenses 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
TOT AL ASSETS 

1 January 
2019 

restated 

66,200 
--2.,812 

3,720 
18, 174 

865 
649 

1,650 
2,528 

100,598 

33,496 
23,655 
2,500 
7,770 

112,929 
5,029 

185,379 
285,977 

Impact 
IFRS 16 

18,174 

18,174 

(312) 
(312) 

17,862 

31 Oecembe 
r 

2018 
published 

66,200 
__£,812 

3,720 

865 
649 

1,650 
2,528 

82,424 

33,496 
23,655 
2,500 
7,770 

112,929 
5,341 

185,691 
268,115 
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1 January 31 December 
2019 Impact 2018 

(in thousands of €2 restated IFRS 16 ~ublished 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
EQUITY 
Share capital 9,545 9,545 
Share premium 70,676 70,676 
Reserves 1,563 1,563 
Retained earnings 66,371 {619) 66,990 
TOTAL EQUITY- GROUP SHARE 148, 155 {619) 148,774 
Non-controll ing interests {minorit:t interests) 31 {72) 103 
TOTAL EQUITY 148,186 {691} 148,877 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Lease obligations 15,286 15,286 
Other financial debts 20,087 20,087 
Provisions for employee benefits 1,079 1,079 
Other provisions 1,079 _(2,095) 3,022 
Deferred tax liabilities 1,235 1,235 
Other liabilities 11 ,9414 11 ,944 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 50,558 13,191 37,367 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Lease obligations 6,051 6,051 
Other financial debts 6,349 6,349 
Other provisions 2,132 (689) 2,821 
Trade and other payables 18,028 18,028 
Current tax liabilities 520 520 
Other liabilities 26,575 26,575 
Pre~aid services 27,578 27,578 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 87,233 5,362 81 ,871 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 137,791 18,553 119,238 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 285,977 17,862 268,115 

IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax: Treatments 
IFRIC interpretation 23, which clarifies the accounting and valuation rules for uncertainties in income taxes, has no 
significant impact on the valuation of the Group's current and deferred taxes as at 1 January 2019_ The balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated. 

2.2.2. New and revised IFRS standards, published but not yet applicable 

None of the new IFRS standards or IFRIC interpretations or amendments thereto that had been issued by the 
IASB/IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) by the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements 
but which were not yet applicable and for which the Group has not opted for early application, are likely to impact the 
Group. 

2.3 USE OF ESTIMATES 

Preparing consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to malke estimates and 
select scenarios in the process of applying accounting principles. Those areas involving a higher level of judgement 
or complexity, or those for which the estimates and scenarios are significant with respect to the consolidated financial 
statements, are presented in Note 3. 
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2.4 RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

The comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2018 has been modified following a revision of the 
method of calculating the fair value of commitments to purchase minority interests ('put options over minority 
interests' ) and the recognition of the financial liabilit ies consideration resulting from such commitments under 'Equity 
attributable to shareholders of Sword Group SE'_ The table below illustrates the impact on changes to the 
consolidated statement of financial position: 

(in thousands of€) 
Impact on financial position 
Decrease in retained earnings 
Increase in non-controll ing interests (!!linority interest~ 
Increase in other liabilities (!}_on-current) 
Increase in other liabilities (current) 

See the restated summary table in Note 45_ 

2.5 'CURRENT' AND 'NON-CURRENT' PRESENTATION 

31 December 
2018 

_(3,85~ 
2,343 
1, 131 

378 

The consolidated statement of financial position is presented according to the 'current' and 'non-current' distinction 
defined by IAS 1 _Current assets and liabilit ies are those which the Group expects to realise, consume or settle during 
the normal operating cycle, which may extend beyond 12 months after the reporting date_ All other assets and 
liabilities are non-current. 

2.6 TRANSLATION METHODS 

2.6.1. Translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 

The functional currency of each of the Group's entities is the currency of the economy in which the entity is operating _ 
The accumulated impact of the translation of financial statements of foreign operations is recognised in equity under 
'Foreign-currency translation reserve'. The assets and liabilit ies of foreign operations are translated at the closing 
rate and their income and expenses at the average rate for the year_ 

Translation differences 0111 monetary items which comprise a receivable or a payable from/to a foreign subsidiary, the 
settlement of which is not planned or is unlikely, and which constitute a share of the net investment in the foreign 
subsidiary, are initially recognised in other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss at the time of 
reimbursement of monetary items. 

At the time of the disposal of a foreign subsidiary, all accumulated translation differences in equity are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

2_6-2_ Transactions in foreign currencies 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the time of the transaction . At the year end, any accounts receivabl1e or accounts payable in foreign 
currency are converted at the closing exchange rate. 

Translation differences arising when these transactions are settled and when monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are converted at the closing exchange rate are reported in the income statement. 
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Exchange rate of the euro to the most significant foreign currencies as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018: 

Currenc 

Pound sterling 
US dollar 
Australian dollar 
Canadian dollar 
Tunisian dinar 
Moroccan dirham 
Swiss franc 
Colombian peso 
South African rand 
Indian rupee 

2.7 CONSOLIDATION METHOD 

Clos in rate -------
2019 

0.8508 
1.1234 
1.5995 
1.4598 
3.1957 

10.7287 
1.0854 

3,690.04 
16.5577 
80.1860 

2018 
0.8945 
1.1450 
1.6220 

2.9930 
11 .2291 

1.1269 
3,448.28 
16.4593 
79.7321 

Avera e rate 
2019 

0.8781 
1.1196 
1.6106 
1.4810 
3.2635 

10.7694 
1.1227 

3,690.04 
16.13215 

2018 
0.8847 
1.1815 
1.5798 

2.9815 
11 .3044 

1.1548 
3,048.78 
15.61378 

78.8519 80.7298 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together 
constituting "the Group"), prepared as at 31 December 2019. A list of consolidated companies is provided in 
Note 10.1 . 

2. 7 .1. Subsidiaries 

A subsidiary is a company over which the Group has direct or indirect control. Subsidiaries are consolidated using 
the full consolidation method as of the date on which the Group acquires control, and are deconsolidated as of the 
date on which such control ends. 

Control is considered to exist if and only if : 
the Group exerts power over the subsidiary; 
it is exposed or entitled to variable returns due to its links with the subsidiary; and 
it is able to exert its power over the subsidiary in such a way as to influence the amount of returns it obtains . 

Controlled entities are those where the Group has the power to direct their financial and operational policies. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reference period as those of the Group, using 
uniform accounting principles. 

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated in the consolidation process. The profits and losses realised 
due to the disposal of assets within the Group are fully eliminated. 

Profit or loss and each item in other comprehensive income are allocated to shareholders in the parent company and 
to non-controlling interests (i.e. minority interests), even if this results in a deficit balance. 

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a consolidated subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control only 
affect equity. As a result, when acquiring an additional interest in a consolidated subsidiary, the difference between 
the purchase price and the carrying amount of the minority interests acquired is recognised as a change in equity -
Group share. 
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2.7 .2. Loss of control in a subsidiary 

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the total fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any interest retained, and 
(ii) the former carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, as well as any non-
controlling interest. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income pertaining to the subsidiary in 
question are recognised in profit or loss for the year or transferred to another category of equity, where appropriate , 
as if the Group had directly deconsolidated the subsidiary's assets and associated liabilities. The fair value of an 
interest retained in the former subsidiary on the date of loss of control must be considered as being the fair value at 
the time of initial recognit ion for the purposes of subsequent recognition under IFRS 9. 

2.7.3. Associates 

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of these entities without however corntrolling them. 

The Group is considered to have significant influence if it holds 20% or more of the voting rights (directly or indirectly), 
unless it can be clearly demonstrated that it does not have such influence. Conversely, if the Group holds under 20% 
of the voting rights in an entity (directly or indirectly) and it can be clearly demonstrated that the Group exercises 
significant influence, the interest is classif ied as an associate_ 

Investments in associates are initially recognised under the cost method, before being recognised under the equity 
accounting method. They include the goodwill observed at the time of acquisition and are presented net of 
accumulated impairment losses. Associates recognised under the equity accounting method are subject to an 
impairment test if there is an objective indication of impairment. If the recoverable amount of the investment is lower 
than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is then recognised in the profit or loss for the year. 

From acquisition until the date on which significant influence is lost, the Group share in the profit or loss of associates 
is recognised in the profit for the year while the Group share in other comprehensive income is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Accumulated movements since acquisition are recognised by adjusting the initial cost, on 
the assets side, in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

2.8 BUSINESS COMBINATION 
When the Group takes control of an entity, the identifiable assets and liabilities are recognised at their fair value on 
the date of acquisition. 

The consideration transferred in a business combination corresponds to the fair value of assets transferred (including 
cash), liabilities assumed and equity instriUments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquired entity . 
The costs directly related to the acquisition are recognised in profit or loss. 

Goodwill is measured as the positive difference between the following two items: 
the sum of (i) the consideration transferred and, where appropriate, (ii) the amount of non-controlling 
interests (minority interests) in the acquired entity and (iii) the fair value of interests already held by the Group 
prior to acquiring control; and 
the net amount on the acquisition date of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and 
assumed_ 

If, after confirmation of the values, this difference is negative, the amount is immediately recognised in the profit as 
a gain on a bargain purchase_ 

Goodwill is recognised om the assets side of the consolidated statement of financial position under 'Goodwill ' and is 
subject to an annual impairment test (see section 2.9 below). 
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In addition, in the goodwill measurement explained below, the amount of non-controlling interests can be measured, 
on a case-by-case basis with the Group being able to choose, either at fair value ('full goodwill' option) or the share 
of the acquired entity's identifiable net assets ('partial goodwill' option). 

Acquisition differences are recognised in the functional currency of the acquiree. 

Any additional payments are included in the acquisition price at their fair value on the date on which control was 
acquired. This takes the form of a consideration in equity or debts depending on how the additional payments are 
settled. The subsequent recognition of changes in the fair value of any contingent consideration depends on its 
classification in the consolidated financial statements. 

Any contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured on the subsequent reporting dates in 
accordance with IFRS 9 or IAS 37, depending on the case, and the ensuing gain or loss is recognised in the profit 
for the year. 

Acquiring control through consecutive purchases is analysed as a twofold operation: first, a disposal of the entire 
previously held interest; and second, an acquisition of all shares with recognition of an acquisition difference 
(goodwill) on the entire interest (old batch and new acquisition). 

If the initial recognition of a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group shall report in its financial statements provisional amounts for the items for which 
there is incomplete recognition. 

During tine measurement period, the provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively to reflect new information 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected 
the measurement of the amounts recognised on that date. However, the measurement period shall not exceed one 
year from the acquisition date. 

2.9 GOODWILL 
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a business is recognised at the cost established on the acquisition date (see 
Note 2.8), less any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CG Us), namely those likely to 
benefit from the synergies expected of the business combination and representing, within the Group, the lowest level 
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. CGUs correspond to operating segments. 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, determined 
using the cash-flow discounting method . When the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, an 
impairment loss must be recognised. 

The impairment loss is then allocated, firstly as a decrease in the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
CGU, and then, for the remainder, as a decrease in the carrying amount of the CGU's other assets pro rata on the 
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU. 
Goodwill is not depreciated and is subject to impairment testing at least once a year by comparing its carrying amount 
with its recoverable amount on the reporting date, determined on the basis of three-year cash-flow forecasts . 
Impairment testing may occur more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is not 
recoverable. 
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2.10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL 

Intangible assets other tlhan goodwill comprise mainly software, Saas (software as a service) contracts, software 
maintenance contracts and production backlog, business combination activities, the amount paid to buy out a non-
competition clause (see Note 16) and development costs for upgrading existing software solutions. 

2.10.1. Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets acquired separately mainly comprise the non-competition clause. It has an indefinite useful life and 
is consequently recognised at its acquisition cost less any accumUJlated impairment losses. 

2.10.2. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill if they 
meet the definition of an intangible asset. The cost of intangible assets corresponds to their fair value on the date of 
acquisition. 

After initial recognition, these intangible assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over an expected 
useful life of the following duration: 

• Software (and associated contracts): 5-10 years 
• Order books: 3 months to 5 years 

2.10.3. Intangible assets generated internally 

Research costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Development costs are capitalised when they meet the following criteria: 
the technical feasibility needed for completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
the probability that the Group wil l accrue future economic benefits as a result of the intangible asset; 
the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to realise the intangible· asset; 
the ability to rel iably measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Development costs that meet the above criteria are treated as assets up to the level of the direct costs attributed to 
the project. They are depreciated over the expected useful life, as of the project marketing date. 
Bearing in mind the specrnc characteristics of the Group's activities, the crucial criterion is technical feasibility, since 
that is generally the last criterion to be met. The risks and uncertainties involved in the development of new software 
are such that it is impossible to demonstrate a product's technical feasibility until shortly before it is launched . 
Consequently, costs incuirred in this phase of development, which are likely to be capitalised, are not significant and 
are therefore recognised in profit or loss as they are incurred. 

Internal and external direct expenses incurred for major updates to marketed software and upgrades delivering 
additional functionalities are capitalised. 

2.10.4. Derecognition of intangible assets 

An intangible asset is derecognised when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits arre expected from 
its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset (determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at their acquisition cost, including directly attributable costs less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
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Subsequent expenditure is capitalised if it is likely that the future economic benefits associated with the item will be 
enjoyed by the Group and if its cost can be estimated reliably. All other expenditure is recognised immediately as 
expenses as it is incurred_ 

Items are depreciated using the straight-line method in accordance with the expected useful life of the item in 
question. An impairment loss is recognised, where appropriate, when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount (see Note 2.12). 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
• Facilities and fixtures: 
• Transport equipment: 
• Office equipment: 
• Computer hardware: 
• Office furniture: 

10 years 
5 years 

3-5 years 
3 years 

10 years 

The depreciation arrangements for property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually and can be altered 
prospectively depending on the circumstances. 

A property, plant and equipment item is derecognised when it is d isposed of or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from the continuing use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from the disposal or decommissioning of 
a property, plant and equipment item is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss_ 

2.12 IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

As at each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment in order to determine if there is any indication of an impairment loss_ If there is, theni the recoverable 
amount is estimated with a view to determining the amount of the impairment loss_ 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group shall determine the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. When measuring 
value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted by applying a pre-tax rate that refllects the current 
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash-flow estimates 
have not. been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
CGU) shall be reduced to its recoverable amount Any impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss_ 

If an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased in line with the 
revised estimated recoverable amount provided the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years_ The 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. However, no reversal is possible for 
impairments of goodwill_ 

2.13 FAIR VALUE 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivative instruments and financial assets held for sale, at fair 
value at each reporting date_ 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. A fair-value measurement entails the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liabillity taking place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or, in the absence of a 
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal (or most advantageous) market must be accessible to the Group_ The fair value of an asset or a liability 
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
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The measurement of an asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate an economic benefit by 
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that will use the asset in its 
highest and best use. Highest and best use takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally 
permissible and financially feasible, as follows: 

The Group uses measurement techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

All of the assets or liabil it~es for which a fair value is measured or presented in the consolidated financial statements 
are classified in the fair-value hierarchy (see Note 5). 

2.14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

2.14.1. Classification 

Financial assets are divided into the following categories: 
Financial assets at depreciated cost 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets are measured at depreciated cost if the following two conditions are met: 
holding them forms part of a business model where the aim is to hold assets to collect the contractual cash 
flows arising from them; 
their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that correspond solely to repayments of 
the principal and interest payments on the outstanding principal. 

Financial assets at depreciated cost comprise trade and other receivables, deposits and guarantees, and cash and 
cash equivalents. 

On initial recognition, equity instruments are classified by default as financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss unless the Group makes an irrevocable decision to present those not held for trading as financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. This decision is made on an investment-by-investment basis. This is the 
case for non-consolidated interests in listed and unlisted companies. 

Financial liabilities are classified either as financial liabilities at depreciated cost or as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities at depreciated cost comprise bank borrowings, and trade and other payables. 
Derivatives with a negative value are included in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

2.14.2. Initial measurement 

Financial assets/liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus/less directly attributable transaction costs in the 
case of financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss. 

2.14.3. Subsequent measurement 

After initial recognition, financial assets at depreciated cost are measured at depreciated cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment provisions. 

Discounting is omitted for short-term loans and receivables, in view of the negligible impact thereof. 

The effective interest method is a method for calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocating 
interest income during the period in question. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
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future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, over a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured subsequently at fair value with 
recognition of latent gains or losses in other comprehensive income and accumulated in an item called 
'Remeasurement reserve'. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured subsequently at fair value, with gains and losses 
being recognised in profit or loss. 

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at depreciated cost using the effective interest method or fair value 
through profit or loss. 

2.14.4. Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred losses' model of IAS 39 with the 'expected credit losses' model. The new impairment 
model mainly relates to financial assets measured at depreciated cost and contract assets. 

The Group measures loss allowances at the value of the expected credit losses over the life of the assets and 
instruments affected, except for the following items, which are measured at the value of the expected credit losses 
for the next 12 months: 

debt instruments that are established to have a low credit risk as at the reporting date; and 
other debt instruments and bank accounts whose credit risk (i.e. the risk of default over the expected life of 
the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since their initial recognition. 

The Group has decided to measure loss allowances as trade receivables and contract assets at the value of the 
expected credit losses over the life of these assets. 

The Group assumes that the credit risk associated with a financial asset has increased significantly if payments have 
been in arrears for more than 30 days. 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
it is unlikely that the borrower will settle all its credit obligations to the Group without the Group resorting to 
actions such as realising the collateral (if any); or 
the financial asset has matured more than 90 days previously. 

The Group considers that a debt instrument has a low credit risk if its credit rating is equivalent to that resulting from 
an 'investment grade' classification, i.e. if its credit rating is higher than or equal to BAA3 (Moody's) or BBB- (S&P). 

Measurement of expected credit losses 
Expected credit losses are an estimate of credit losses using a model predicting the probability of a default. Credit 
losses are measured based on the present value of all estimated cash flow deficits (i.e. the difference between the 
cash flows that are due to the Group under the terms of the contract and the expected cash flow). 

Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset, unless the impact of 
discounting is considered immaterial. 

With regard to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group measures expected credit losses over the life of the 
assets affected. 
Expected credit losses for these financial assets are estimated based on the Group's credit loss history, following 
any adjustment for changes in macroeconomic indicators such as inflation, interest rates, unemployment rates or 
GDP. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
At each ireporting date, the Group measuires whether financial assets recognised at depreciated cost are likely to be 
credit-impaired. 
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Therefore, financial assets are impaired if one or more events occur that have an adverse effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of these assets, such as a default on payment by a debtor. 

Any receivable that has been outstanding for more than 90 days is fully provisioned unless the Group has information 
indicating that full or partial recovery is likely. 

Presentation of impairment losses 
In the balance sheet, loss allowances related to financial assets measured at depreciated cost are deducted from 
the assets' gross carrying amount. 

Impairment losses on trade receivables and other receivables, including contract assets, are presented separately 
in the income statement. 

2.14.5. Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognised if and only if the contractual rights to cash flows related to the financial asset mature 
or if the Group substantially transfers all of the risks and benefits involved in ownership of the asset. 

Upon the derecognition of a financial asset measured at depreciated cost, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset and the sum of the consideration received or due to be received is recognised in profit or loss. 

However, at the time of the derecognition of an investment in an equity instrument which the Group has elected to 
measure at fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition, the profit or loss accumulated 
previously in 'Remeasurement reserve' is not reclassified to profit or loss but transferred to retained earnings. 

A financial asset is derecognised if and only if the obligation stated in the contract is settled or cancelled or if it 
matures. The difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised financial liability and the consideration 
paid and due is recognised in profit or loss. 
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If the Group exchanges a debt instrument with an existing lender for another debt instrument with substantially 
different terms, this exchange is recognised as eliminating the original financial liability, with this being replaced with 
the recognition of a new financial liability_ Similarly, the Group recognises a material change in the terms of an existing 
financial liability or part of the existing financial liability as eliminating the original financial liability, with this being 
replaced with the recogniition of a new financial liability_ 

2.14_6_ Offsetting 

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and it is intended either 
to settle them on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously_ 

2.15 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Group uses various derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to changes in interest rates and 
exchange rates_ 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is 
concluded, and subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each period. The ensuing gain or loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, while a derivative with a negative fair value 
is recognised as a financ~al liability_ 
Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group intends and has a legally enforceable right to 
offset them. 

2.16 TRADE RECEIVABLES 
Trade receivables are amounts receivabl,e from clients for goods sold or services rendered in the normal course of 
business_ They are part of current assets provided they are realised during the normal operating cycle. Otherwise, 
they are part of non-current assets. 

2.17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, short-term deposits originally maturing in less than three months 
and any monetary investment subject to a negligible risk of change in value. 

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net of current bank overdrafts_ Current bank overdrafts are presented on the liabilities 
side of the balance sheet under 'Financial debt' in current liabilities. 

2.18 TRADE PAYABLES 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services acquired in the normal course of business_ They are 
part of current liabilities provided they are settled during the normal operating cycle. otherwise, they are part of non-
current liabilities. 

2.19 COMMITMENTS TO PURCHASE MINORITY INTERESTS ('PUT OPTIONS OVER 
MINORITY INTERESTS') 

The Group granted minority shareholders of certain fully consolidated subsidiaries commitments to purchase their 
investments. These commitments may be optional (put options) or firm, with predefined maturities and variable 
exercise prices based on multiples of the EBIT. 

On initial recognition, the purchase commitment is recognised as a financial liability for the present value of the 
exercise price of the put option or the firm purchase commitment, against the equity attributable to shareholders of 
Sword Group SE. 
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The subsequent change in the value of the commitment is recognised as a financial liability by adjusting the amount 
of equity attributable to shareholders of Sword Group SE. 
At the end of the commitment, the amount recognised as a financial liability is reversed against the disbursement 
related to the purchase o·f minority interests. 

2.20 PROVISIONS 

2.20.1. General remarks 

A provision must be recognised if: 
the Group has a current legal or implicit obligation as a result of past events; 
resources will probably have to be used to meet the obligation; 
the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

The provisions are recognised at the current value of the expected expenditure of resources. The provisions are 
discounted if there is a significant time impact. The impact of the discount realised at each reporting date is 
recognised in financial expenses. 

2.20.2. Onerous contracts 

The current obligations arising from onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. A contract is 
considered onerous when the Group has concluded a contract for which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from it. 

2.21 TAXES 

Tax expense includes current and deferred tax. 

2.21 .1. Current tax 

Current tax comprises the estimated amount of tax payable (or receivable) on the taxable profit (or loss) for a year 
for the Company and its subsidiaries, and any adjustments to the current tax for previous years. It is calculated on 
the basis of the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Management will rely on their own judgement and estimates in situations where the tax regulations are open to 
interpretation. These positions are reviewed regularly. 

2.21.2. Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised using the liabi lity method for the temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. No deferred tax is recognised if it 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, which at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit(/loss) nor taxable profit(/tax loss). In addition, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred taxes are determined using tax rates and tax regulations which have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date and which are intended to apply when the deferred tax asset in question is real ised or when the 
deferred tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only in so far as an actual future taxable profit , which will allow the charging of 
temporary differences, is likely. 
To assess the Group's ability to recover these assets, the following are taken into account: forecasts of future tax 
results, the share of non-recurring charges that will not recur in the future included in past losses, the history of 
taxable profits for prior periods, and, if applicable, the tax strategy such as the proposed disposal of undervalued 
assets. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences linked to investments in subsidiaries, save when the 
timetable for reversal of these temporary differences is controlled by the Group and when it is likely that such revers a I 
will not take place in the near future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset per tax entity when the tax entity is entitled to offset its current tax assets 
and liabilities, and when the deferred tax assets and liabilit ies in question are levied by the same tax authority. 

2.22 LEASES - THE GROUP AS A BUYER 
On the effective date of a contract, the Group assesses whether it is, or contains, a lease. The Group recognises a 
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease obligation for all leases in which it is a buyer, except short-term leases 
(with a term of up to 12 months) and leases where the underlying asset is of low value. For these leases, the Group 
recognises lease payments as operating expenses using the straight-line method over the term of the lease. 

2.22.1. Lease obligations 

A lease obligation is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments not paid at the start of the lease, 
discounted at a specific debt ratio for leases under car-rental contracts and at the Group's marginal debt rate for real-
estate leases, adjusted, as the case may be, for the deviation between the average of the country spreads that is 
applied to the Group's financing rate and the spread of the country where the real estate is located. 

Lease payments contributing to the measurement of a lease obligation include: 
fixed lease payments. less any lease incentives; 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date; 
the amount the Group expects to pay to the lessor under residual value guarantees; 
the exercise price of purchase options the Group will certainly exercise; and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate 
the lease. 

The lease obligation is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Group 
remeasures the lease obl igation (along with an adjustment corresponding to the asset associated to the related 
right of u:se) if future lease payments are modified in the event of new negotiations or changes to an index or rate, 
or in the event of the revaluation of options. 

The Group made no such adjustments during the period presented here. 

2.22.2. Right-of-use asset 

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding lease obligation, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. 
The depreciation starts on the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment 
testing if there is an indicator for impairment, in accordance with IAS 36. See Note 2.11. 

Right-of-use assets are presented under a separate item in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

2.23 PRINCIPLES OF REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The Group's revenue comes mainly from the following activities: 
consulting and engineering services; 
infrastructure management, appli·cation management and resource outsourcing services; 
sales of licences (software) via a single licence, maintenance services related to the sales of licences 
mentioned above, comprising updates and technical support, Saas contracts (see the definition below) and 
the development of additional functionality for standard products commissioned by clients. 
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Saas (Software as a Service) sales are based on the principle of providing access to an application over the Internet. 
Users pay for the service via a service subscription, unlike the traditional model of providing software under a single 
licence and installing it on the client's own servers. 

Revenue is recognised when the Group transfers control of the goods or services sold to the client, either on a given 
date or gradually. 

2.23.1. Consulting and engineering services 

Consulting and engineering contracts are based on deliverables and are remunerated at a fixed price. The resulting 
services include systems integration and the design and development of customised computer systems and 
associated processes. The contract term is generally between six and 15 months. The contract prices may be subject 
to bonuses or penalties based on the achievement of specified performance goals or benefit levels provided to the 
client. 

Revenue is generally recognised on a percentage-of-completion basis, as at least one of the following conditions is 
met: (i) tine Group's service enhances an asset that the client obtains control of as and when the service is provided; 
(ii) the Group constructs an asset that has no other use (e.g. it is client-specific) and has an enforceable right to 
payment for the service performed to date in case of termination by the client. 

The Group applies the costs incurred method to measure progress. The percentage of completion is based on the 
costs incurred on the date considered compared with the total estimate of costs on termination of the contract. The 
estimate of the total costs of the contract is reviewed if new information has come to light. Changes in the estimate 
of the corresponding percentage of completion are recognised in the income statement as adjustments to revenue 
in the period in which the items giving rise to the revised estimate became known. 

Contract costs based on deliverables are recognised as expenses when they are incurred. 

The Group contractually acquires the right to issue a bill on achievement of specified milestones or on the client's 
acceptance of the work performed. 

The difference between accumulated billing and recognised accumulated revenue is reflected in the consolidated 
statement of financial position under contract assets (if the revenue exceeds the amount billed) or contract liabilities 
(if the amount billed exceeds the revenue). 

2.23.2. Infrastructure management, application management and resource outsourcing services 

Infrastructure management, application management and resource outsourcing contracts are remunerated on the 
basis of a fixed price per work unit, or based on monthly fixed prices that can be adjusted in line· with changes in 
volumes or scope. Services are billable on a monthly basis. In certain cases, the contract may include penalties 
related to the level of service provided. 

The contract term is generally between three and 12 months. 

In general, revenue from service-based contracts is recognised as and when the Group acquires the right to invoice, 
except for special cases where the billing procedure does not reflect the value for the client of the services provided 
to date in relat ion to the value of the remaining services to be provided. Bonuses or penalties related to the level of 
service are, where appropriate, ful ly recognised in the period in which the performance targets are met or missed, as 
the case may be. 

The amounts initially received from clients are, where appropriate, deferred and staggered over the period of the 
services, even if they are non-refundable. Initial amounts payable to clients, if they exceed the fair value of the assets 
transferred by the client, are capitalised (presented as contract assets) and depreciated over the contract period as 
a deduction from revenue. 
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2.23.3. Sales of licences, maintenance contracts, provision of Saas applications and other software sales 

If supplying a licence is identified as a distinct performance obligation, control can be transferred to the client at a 
specific point in time (right of use) or gradually (right of access). 

The sale of software in Saas mode gives rise to a right of access. In this situation, revenue is recognised as and 
when the client receives and uses the benefits of the service. 

Conversely, in case of a right of use being granted, the revenue of the licence will be recognised on delivery if it 
complies with all the obligations stipulated in the contract. 

Maintenance contracts (including updates and technical support) are concluded when the client acquires the licence 
for the urnderlying software. Such contracts can be renewed by the client at the end of each fixed term. Maintenance 
revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, with the Group having a constant duty to 
provide its services. 

Services to develop additional functionality commissioned by the client for standard products are recognised on a 
percentage-of-completion basis, taking account of the contractual limitations preventing the Group from aiming the 
product at another client and of the enforceable right to payment for the work performed. 

Revenue from other software sales mainly relates to the development of additional features requested by clients for 
standard products, and is recogn ised once this is completed. Recurring revenue from subscriptions and support is 
recognised in 'software sales'. 

Revenue from agreements with multiple performance obligations, which generally include licences, support and/or 
services, is allocated to each distinct performance obligation based on their specific sale price. 

2.23.4. Resale activities 

If analysis of a contract makes it possible to identify the purchase of goods or services for resale as a distinct 
performance obligation, it should be determined whether the Group is acting as an agent or as a principal. It is an 
agent if it is not liable to the client for the performance of the service and its acceptance by this cl ient, if it has no 
transformative impact on the goods or services and if it does not bear any inventory risk. In this situation, it recognises 
the revernue for a net amount corresponding to its margin or commission. Otherwise, if it takes control of the goods 
or services before they are resold to the end client, it is acting as a principal. Revenue is recognised on a gross basis 
and external purchases are ful ly recognised as operating expenses. 
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2.23.5. Multi-component contracts 

A performance obligation must be distinguished from other obligations if the following two conditions are met 
simultaneously: 

First and foremost, the underlying goods or services must be distinct in absolute terms. They can be sold on 
their own or the client can benefit from them through resources readily available on the market. 
The goods or services must be distinct in the context of the contract, which requires the transformative 
relationship between the various goods and services in the contract to be analysed. This relationship does 
not exist if the goods or services in question are not used to produce the other goods or services that are the 
subject of the contract, if they do not substantially alter or adjust other goods or services promised in the 
contract or if they are not closely related or are heavily dependent on other goods or services promised in 
the contract. 

If several separate performance obligations are identified within a single contract, the specific sale prices of those 
obligations are deemed to be the contractual sale prices. 

2.23.6. Variable considerations 

Variable considerations relate in particular to the provision of Saas software and services provided on a cost-plus 
basis. Part of the variable remuneration corresponds to the price per work unit multiplied by the number of work units 
(number of incident tickets, number of users, number of servers, volumes of processed data, etc.) used by the client 
during each reference period. 

2.23.7. Costs of obtaining contracts 

The costs of obtaining a contract are recognised in assets if two conditions are met: they would not have been 
incurred if the contract had not been obtained, and they are recoverable. They may relate to sales commissions if 
they are specifically and solely related to obtaining a contract, i.e. they have not been paid on a discretionary basis . 
Commissions are not capitalised if the depreciation period is one year or less. 

2.23.8. Costs of executing contracts 

Costs incurred prior to the signing of an enforceable contract are capitalised only if they are directly attributable to 
the design or implementation phase of a specifically identified contract, if the contract is likely to be signed and the 
costs can be recovered under the contract. 

Costs incurred for the performance of a contract are recognised as expenses when they are incurred, except for 
certain up-front implementation costs, such as transition and processing costs, where the latter do not represent a 
separate performance obligation, which are capitalised if they create a resource that the Group will use to provide 
the promised services. An 'onerous contracts' provision is recognised if the unavoidable costs of performing the 
contract outweigh the relevant benefits. 

2.23.9. Presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position 

The Group provides counter-performance in exchange for products or services transferred to a client in the form of 
either trade receivables or contract assets. A receivable is an unconditional counter-performance, unlike a contract 
asset, wlhich is a counter-performance conditioned by factors other than the passage of time. 

The majority of the Company's contract assets arise from amounts not invoiced on fixed-price service contracts , 
when the recognised revenue exceeds the amount billed to the client, and when counter-performance is subordinated 
to achievement of a milestone or subjected to the client's acceptance. 

The billing amount exceeding the recognised revenue is presented in contract liabilities. 
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2.23.10. Financing components 

A financing component included in the transaction price is identified if it is significant and if the period between the 
completion of the service and payment for this service is greater than 12 months or if the time curve for the completion 
of services diverges significantly from that laid down by the rules and regulations. The Group has not identified any 
contracts with a significant financial component. 

The Group applies the simplification measure provided for by the standard, meaning that the price does not have to 
be adjusted when the time lag does not exceed 12 months. 

2.24 DISTRIBUTION OF DIVIDENDS 

The dividends to be distributed to the shareholders of the parent company are recognised as a liabil ity in the Group's 
financial statements in the period in which the dividend distribution was approved by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, until the payment thereof. 

2.25 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss (attributable to the shareholders of the parent company) 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the year. 

Treasury shares are ignored in the calculation of earnings per share or diluted earnings per share. 

The diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss (attributable to the shareholders of the parent 
company) by the average weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation, plus all dilutive potential ordinary shares 
(subscription options, warrants, etc.), less treasury shares. 

A share subscription plan is considered dilutive when it results in the issue of ordinary shares at a price lower than 
the average market price during the year. 

2.26 SHARE CAPITAL 

2.26.1. Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments. Ancillary costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares or share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of taxes. 

2.26.2. Treasury shares 

All of the treasury shares held by the Group are recognised at their acquisition cost taken from equity. The income 
(or expense) from any disposal of treasury shares is charged directly to the increase (or decrease) of equity (net of 
taxes}, so that any gains or losses do not affect the profit or loss for the year. 

2.27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

2.27.1. Short-term benefits 

Expenses relating to short-term benefits comprise gross pay, social security contributions, paid leave and other short-
term benefits. They are recognised as an expense in the period in which the services are rendered by the staff. Sums 
unpaid as at the reporting date are recognised in 'Other current liabilities'. 

2.27.2. Defined-contribution pension plans 

Expenses relating to defined-contribution pension plans are recognised in profit or loss on the basis of contributions 
paid or payable for the year in which the associated services were rendered by the beneficiaries. Sums unpaid as at 
the reporting date are recognised in 'other current liabilities'. 
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2.27.3. Defined-benefit pension plans 

Defined-benefit pension plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans, including 
mainly retirement obligatnons defined by French collective agreements or company-level agreements. 

The Group's commitments relating to defined-benefit plans are measured using a single actuarial technique, called 
the 'projected unit credit method'. This method is based mainly on a projection of future pension levels payable to 
employees, anticipating the impact of their future salary increases, and on specific assumptions, detailed in Note 23, 
which are updated periodically by the Group. The Group does not outsource the management or financing of 
retirement benefits to an outside fund. 

2.27.4. Compensation for termination of employment contract 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably engaged, without any real 
possibility of withdrawing , in a formal, detailed plan either for dismissal prior to the normal retirement date or offers 
encouraging voluntary retirement with a view to reducing staff numbers. 

2.28 ASSETS AND GROUPS OF ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS 

2.28.1. Assets and groups of assets held for sale 

In accordance with IFRS 5, 'Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations', assets or groups of 
assets held for sale are presented in a single line separately from the statement of financial position and are 
measured and recognised at the value of their carrying amount and their market value, whichever is the lower, less 
the costs required to complete the sale. 

An asset is classified as an 'asset held for sale' only if it is very likely to be sold within a 12-month period, if the asset 
is available for immediate sale in its current condition and if a sale plan has been initiated by management and has 
made sufficient progress. 

2.28.2. Discontinued operations 

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale 
and represents a line of business or a major, distinct geographic area that can be distinctly identified for operational 
and financial reporting purposes. 

When a business is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative income statement and the statement of 
cash flows are restated as if the activity had met the criteria of a discontinued operation from the start of the 
comparative period. 
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NOTE 3 .. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

In preparring consolidated financial statements, management issues judgements, performs estimates and formulates 
assumptions likely to have an impact on the amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements, as wel l as on the information in the notes on contingent assets and liabilit ies on 
the reporting date. 

3.1 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS MADE IN CONNECTION WITH APPLYING ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

The following analysis presents the critical judgements made in connection with applying the Group's accounting 
principles, excluding those which involve estimates, having the most significant impact on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

3.1.1. Revenue recognition 

The Group's management makes judgements in applying IFRS 15, in particular in assessing the distinctness or 
otherwise of the undertakings contained in a contract and the classification as an agent or a principal. 

Distinctness or otherwise of goods or services 

A judgement must be made when assessing the distinctness or otherwise of the undertakings contained in a contract. 

If an actiivity classified as a pre-production activity (such as configuration, testing or design) generates income, the 
Group's management assesses whether this activity is distinct in the context of the contract. If there are strong 
interdependencies between the execution of the pre-production and production phases, the Group considers that the 
two phases are not distinct in the context of the contract and therefore constitute a single performance obligation. 

The entity will then have to determine a s ingle method for measuring percentage of completion for the purposes of 
the performance obligation, covering all pre-production and production phases. On the other hand, if the pre-
production phase can be considered to be d istinct in the context of the contract, it will be treated as a separate 
performance obligation. 

In the case of Saas contracts, the contract allows the client to have Internet access to computer processing functions 
hosted by the Group. The contract generally provides for an implementation phase and an operation phase. 

In this case, the licence is not distinct from the hosting service since the client cannot derive any benefit from the 
licence without the service providing continuous access to the entity's Internet platform. A judgement must be made 
when assessing whether the initial implementation service is distinct from the continuous access se-rvice. The Group 
considers that activities which are not separable from the initiation of the continuous access service, which are 
essential for enabling the client to access the continuous service and which can only be performed by the entity do 
not represent a distinct service provided to the client. 

Classification as an agent or a principal 

For the classification as an agent or a principal, the Group uses indicators such as the Group's responsibility to meet 
its undertakings to the end client, any transformative action performed by the Group with regard to sold goods or 
services and the inventory risk and, where appropriate, in the case of goods and services sold separately, the 
freedom to set prices. In any case, it is necessary to make a judgement and to take into consideration all the facts 
and circumstances specific to each transaction, bearing in mind that only the intermediation margin is recorded in 
revenue if the Group acts as an agent. 

3.1.2. Determining cash-generating units (CG Us) for goodwill impairment testing 

As recommended in IAS 36, the goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to a CGU likely to benefit 
from business combination synergies. Given the impact of synergies based on organisational and commercial criteria 
and the level at which the goodwill is managed and its performance assessed by the Group, the CGUs selected by 
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the Group for the needs of impairment testing correspond to the Group's business segments, i.e. IT services and 
software. 

3.1.3. Term of leases 

The lease liability is recognised as an amount equal to the present value of the leases over the term of the contract. 
Real-estate leases are generally concluded for a term of nine to 15 years. Meanwhile, the average contractual term 
of a car-rental lease is three years. Management has not identified any contracts with renewal or termination clauses. 
Given the absence of such clauses, the term taken into account by the Group is limited to the fixed term of the lease. 

3.2 MAIN SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY ABOUT ESTIMATES 

3.2.1. Goodwill impairment testing 

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing at least annually, in accordance with the accounting principles set out in 
Note 2.11 . The CG Us' recoverable amounts are determined on the basis of the cal~culation of their value in use and, 
where appropriate, their fair value less costs to sell. 

The CGUs' value in use is determined using the discounted future net cash flows method, which is influenced by 
parameters such as estimated medium- and long-term revenue growth, expected rate of profitability and discount 
rate applied. The main assumptions selected by the Group for performing tests are presented in Note 15. Any change 
to these assumptions could have a significant impact on the recov·erable amount. 

3.2.2. Measurement of intangible assets arising from business combinations 

The Group uses valuation techniques and assumptions to determine the fair value of intangible assets arising from 
a business combination . The valuation techniques and assumptions used are described in Note 5. The adoption of 
a different valuation model and any change to underlying variables could have a significant impact on the value 
attributed to these assets. 

3.2.3. Useful life of intangible assets acquired in business combinations 

Depreciable intangible assets acquired in business combinations are valued and depreciated taking into account 
their useful life forecast by the Group. 

Uncertainties regarding these estimates are related mainly to the technical obsolescence that could affect software 
intended for sale or leased under Saas .arrangements and to the erosion rate of clients or contract renewals that 
could impact assets such as contracts to deliver Software as a Service (Saas), support contracts and, where 
appropriate, client relations. 

3.2.4. Intangible assets with indefiniite lives 

The Group is of the opinion that the fee paid by the Group to the former majority shareholder in T ipik to cancel a 
restraint of trade agreement (see Note 16) is comparable to an open-ended operating licence granted to the Group, 
an authorisation without which the Group would be unable to generate any cash flow within the scope of business 
activities subject to the restraint of trade agreement. Consequently, the fee paid was classified as an asset with an 
indefinite useful life that is subject to impairment testing at least once a year. 
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3.2.5. Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets can be recognised only in so far as the tax losses recorded can be used to reduce the tax burden 
on taxable profits. The Group's management use budgets and medium-term growth and profitability assumptions to 
recognise deferred tax assets. A downward revision of the projections established by management can significantly 
influence the recoverable nature of deferred tax assets. 

3.2.6. Revenue recognition 

Group management makes estimates for the application of I FRS 15, in particular for the measurement of the 
percentage of completion of ongoing performance obligations satisfied over time. 

For each ongoing performance obligation satisfied over time, in particular consulting and engineering contracts based 
on deliverables and remunerated on a fixed-price basis, revenue is recognised as and when services are provided, 
using methods based on progress evaluation inputs. According to these methods, income is recognised on the basis 
of the efforts already made or the inputs already used by the entity, such as hours of work or expenses incurred, 
compared with the estimated total for the inputs required to meet the performance obligation. 

3.2.7. Measurement of expected credit losses on trade receivables and work in progress 

The Group measures the relative importance of expected credit losses on the basis of historical net losses recognised 
in profit or loss over a three-year period. llf the historical net losses are deemed significant, the Group determines a 
loss rate by comparing the gross amount of receivables that have been outstanding for more than 90 days with the 
amounts invoiced over a 90-day period before the reporting date and applies the rate calculated in this way to the 
outstanding receivables on that date. As the estimates are based on historical data, it is possible that these will differ 
significantly from the actual losses recorded in 2020. 

Average net historical losses over a three-year period came to €489,000 (compared with €319,000 in 2018), 
accounting for 0.3% (as opposed to 0.2% in 2018) of the average revenue calculated for the period being looked at. 

NOTE 4 .. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including interest-rate risk and foreign-currency 
risk) witln respect to the use of financial instruments. Financial risk management is handled by the Finance 
Department and consists of min imising the potentially unfavourable impact of these risks on the Group's performance. 
This note gives information on the Group's exposure to various risks as well as on how the Group addresses and 
manages these risks. 
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4.1 CREDIT RISK 

The credit risk is the Group's risk of financial loss if a client or any other counteirparty of a financial instrument is 
inadequate in the performance of its obligations. The main credit risk identified by the Group pertains to trade 
receivables, accrued income for work in progress and cash in financial institutions. 

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk by category of financial asset can be analysed as follows: 

-~.11 31 December 
(in thousands of €2 2018 
Trade receivables 37,130 33,496 
Work in progress 28,774 23,655 
Other assets 3,547 4,727 
Cash and cash eguivalents 71 ,657 112,929 
TOTAL 141 ,108 174,807 

In addition to the credit risk exposure involved in holding financial assets, i.e. trade receivables and cash, there is the 
risk of default represented by accrued inc.ome for work in progress, the balance of which stood at €28,774,000 as at 
31 December 2019 (compared with €23,655,000 as at 31 December 2018). 

The Group rigorously selects its counterparties on the basis of their credit standing, measured on the basis of multiple 
criteria including ratings from agencies and financial ratios. 

In addition to the clients' acceptance conditions, the Group's Finance Department determines the maximum payment 
deadlines and sets client credit limits applied by the business units. 

Client credit r isk is managed by the Finance Department of each Group entity. Trade receivables due are reviewed 
regularly at each reporting date by the business units. Each significant delayed payment is monitored and, if 
necessary, made the subject of an action plan. 

As a simplification measure, under Group policy, receivables that have been outstanding for more than 90 days must 
be fully provisioned unless the Group has reliable information (time limits imposed when awarding a public 
procurement contract, for example) indicating that full or partial recovery is possible, in which case the provisioned 
amount is adjusted. 

In addition to losses recognised on the basis of objective loss indicators, the Group estimates the risk of expected 
credit losses that should be provisioned on the basis of historical default data (see Note 3.2.7). 

As at 31 December 2019 (in line with the position as at 31 December 2018), no provision was recognised for expected 
losses, given the non-significant nature of the historical losses expressed as a function of revenue. 

The Group's Finance Department regularly reviews trade receivables on the basis of aged balances. 
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The Group's trade receivables classified by client category are as follows: 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~lllillililiiLDl,·· . ~-3_1_o_e_c_e_m2_0b-1e~r-(in thousands of€) ---.I!Hil_ 
State-owned companies 36,867 29,007 
Large companies and multinationals 23,605 25,994 
SMEs 8,169 4,243 
TOTAL 68,641 59,244 

There is no significant concentration of credit risk at Group level on the basis of trade receivables as at 31 December 
2019 (also reflecting the position as at 31 December 2018). 

No client accounts for more than 10% of the Group's revenue. The top 10 clients together account for 26% of the 
Group's revenue (compared with 21 % in 2018). 

See Note 20 for more information about credit risk exposure such as the breakdown of 'Trade and other receivables', 
aged balances and detaills of the change in allowance for doubtful accounts. 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are invested with seven financial institutions having an S&P 
rating of AA- or higher. With respect to managing its cash surpluses, the Group adopts a cautious short-term 
investment policy. Given the default-risk exposure that is considered insignificant, these assets have not been subject 
to allowances for expected credit losses within 12 months. 

4.2 LIQUIDITY RISK 

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations. 

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company is ultimately responsible for managing liquidity risk_ It has established 
a framework for managing this risk based on proposals set out by the Group's Finance Department. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities, closely monitoring 
projected and actual cash flows and adjusting, if necessary, the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The 
details of the lines of credit available to the Group to further reduce its liquidity risk are described ini Note 25.3. 
The Group's Finance Department has established tools for monitoring projected cash flows for each of the Group's 
business units, enabling it to manage the liquidity risk with full knowledge of the situation. 

The tables below provide an analysis by class of maturity, according to the amount of time until the contractua l 
maturity date, of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities. 

The tables were prepared on the basis of undiscounted cash flows according to the earliest date by which the Group 
could be required to make a payment. These flows can differ from the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities 
in question as at the reporting date_ 

The tables include cash flows related to interest and the principal. In so far as interest flows are floating rate, the 
undiscounted amount is obtained on the basis of market conditions prevailing as at the reporting date. 
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As at 31 December 2019 (in line with the position as at 31 December 2018), the contractual maturities for the Group's 
financial liabilities (including interest payments) were as follows: 

As at 31 December 2019 
>1 year >2 years >3 years 

in thousands of€ <1 ear <2 ears <3 ears <5 ears >5 ears 
Other borrowings (266) (266) 

Bank overdrafts (612) (612) 
Lease obligations (4,080) (3,411) (2,352) (3,495) (3,748) (17,086) 
Trade and other payables (18,401) (18,401) 

Other liabilities (699) (435) (1 ,134) 
Commitments to purchase securities 
held by minority shareholders (665) (1 ,004) (1 ,737) (3,406) 

Contingent considerations (6,847) (5,052) (11 ,899) 

TOTAL (31 ,570) (9,902) (4,089) (3,495) (3,748) (52,804) 

As at 31December2018 (restated) 

in thousands of€ 
Bank borrowings 

Share capital (5,500) (20,00QJ (25,500) 

Interest (113) (113) (113) (55) (394) 

Bank overdrafts (849) (849) 

Trade and other payables (18,028) (18,028) 

Other liabilities (1 ,967) (82) (2,049) 
Commitments to purchase securities 
held by minority shareholders (622) (3,231) (3,853) 

Contingent considerations (5,815) (6,234) (3,354) (15,403) 

TOTAL (32,894) (6,429) (3,467) (23,286) (66,076) 

The variable rate used to estimate the interest cash flows on bank borrowings is the three-month Euribor, plus a 
margin, i.e. a rate of 0.491% as at 31 December 2018. 

4.3 MARKET RISK 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument w ill fluctuate due to developments 
in market prices. The market risk arises f rom open positions in foreign currencies and interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities. 

4.3.1. FOREIGN-CURRENCY RISK 

Exposure to foreign-currency risk arises from sales and purchases made by the Group abroad, mainly denominated 
in US dollars, pounds sterling and Swiss f rancs, and the resulting outstandings. 

With a view to managing its exposure to foreign-currency risk, the Company's Board of Directors adopted limits for 
each currency and each maturity, pursuant to a proposal by the Finance Department. 

With a vi:ew to mitigating the Group's exposure to such risk, the Group's net foreign-currency positUons classified by 
maturity, both real and estimated on the basis of budgets and financial forecasts, are monitored and foreign-exchange 
spot or forward contracts are concluded to comply with the limits set. 

The table below shows the carrying amounts of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as 
well as the overall net position for each currency as at the reporting date. Non-significant currencies as at the reporting 
date have been grouped together. 
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Assets 
in thousands of€ 2018 

Pound sterling 41, 148 28,337 

US dollar 8,242 7,006 

Swiss franc 19,987 19,993 

Other 5,335 854 

Liabilities -----
2019 

(30,566) 
(3,740) 
(7,979) 
(1,210) 

2018 
(21,491) 

(2,953) 
(8,955) 

(738) 

2018 
10,582 6,846 
4,502 4,053 

12,008 11,038 
4,125 116 

The table below illustrates the sensitivity of profit or loss and equity to fluctuations against the euro of exchange rates 
applied to the Group's financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and held by the Group as at 
the reporting date, i.e. the Group's net position in the currency, with all other variables remaining constant. 

It assumes a fluctuation in the exchange rate in line with the historical volatility of exchange rates on the market, 
calculated on the basis of the previous 12 months. 

(In thousands of€) 

Currency 
Pound sterling 
US dollar 
Swiss franc 

31 December 2019 

Exchange-rate Impact on 
changes earnings 

6% 354 
3% 25 
3% 94 

Impact 
on equity 

2,334 
85 

880 

31 December 2018 

Exchange-rate Impact on Impact 
changes earnings on equity 

3% 99 806 
5% 19 147 
4% 131 1,047 

The above exchange-rate changes represent management's best estimate, bearing in mind historical volatil ity within 
one year. 

4.3.2. INTEREST-RATE RISK 

The Group's exposure to the risk of interest-rate changes is linked to the Group's financial-debt level, or even its cash 
position. When it does resort to borrowing, the Group manages th is risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed-
rate and floating-rate borrowings and by using, where appropriate, interest-rate swaps. 

The risk-management policy takes account of management's anticipated rate fluctuations, historicall volatility and the 
impact of fluctuations on the Group's prom or loss. 

To avoid negative interest rates being applied to its cash at bank, the Group has negotiated thresholds with its bank 
counterparties below which the invested amounts are not subject to negative interest rates and takes care to diversify 
its investments to ensure it is not penalised. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not contracted any bank loans. 

Bank loans contracted by the Group as at 31 December 2018 were paid at a floating rate only_ In addition, on that 
date, the Group had no open swap cont racts. Despite the significant proportion of floating-rate borrowings as at 
31 December 2018, the Group estimated that its exposure to interest-rate fluctuations was limited, given the 
monetary policies in place at that time. Th,e main borrowings were denominated in euros and held with the Company. 

The sensitivity analysis for floating-rate debts was prepared based on the assumption that debts as at the reporting 
date presented a stable outstanding throughout the year. 

If interest rates were to rnse/fall by 50 basis points (corresponding to management's assessment of the reasonably 
possible interest-rate fluctuation) and if all other variables remained constant, the profit or loss for the year ended 
31 December 2018 would fall/rise by €86,000. 
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4.4 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group manages its capital in such a way that it can ensure ongoing operations while maximising return for 
stakeholders by optimising the gearing ratio (net debt to equity). 

The Group is not subject to any external capital requirements, apart from complying with the financial ratios imposed 
by the banks (see Note 25.3). 

As at 31 December 2019, the financial structure ratio was as follows: 

-1.111 31 December 
(in thousands of €2 2018 
Lease obligations 17,086 
Other financial debts 878 26,436 
Cash and cash eguivalents {71 ,657} (112,929} 
Net cash (53,693) (86,49~) 

Egui!i'. 150,009 147,368 
NET DEBT RATIO (35.79%} (58.69%} 

In light of the Group's adoption of IFRS 16, the debUequity ratio shifted from (47.18%) to (35.79%) following the 
increase in the debt level due to the inclusion of lease obligations on the liabilities side. 

NOTE 5. FAIR-VALUE MEASUREMENT 

5.1 FAIR-VALUE HIERARCHY 

To reflect the importance of the data used in fair-value measurements, the Group classifies these measurements 
using a two-tier hierarchy: 

Level 1: (unadjusted) prices quoted on asset markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2: data other than the quoted prices targeted at Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability in 
question, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. data derived from prices); and 
Level 3: data relating to the asset or liability which are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
data). 

The tables below provide an analysis of assets and liabilities recognised at fair value in the balance sheet by 
hierarchical level. 

In thousands of€ 
Assets at fair value 
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Shares in SBT 
Interests in various unlisted companies 

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 

Level 1 

219 

219 

Level 2 Level 3 

880 
880 

Total as at 
31 December 

2019 

219 
880 

1,099 
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in thousands of€ 
Liabilities at fair value 

Financial liabilities at fair value througl]_profit or loss 
Contingent considerations on acquisit ions 

Commitments to purchase securities hefd by minority 
shareholders 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 

In thousands of€ 
Assets at fair value 
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Shares in SBT 
Interests in various unlisted companies 

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 

in thousands of€ 
Liabilities at fair value 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Contingent considerations on acq_!:! isit ions 

Commitments to purchase securities hefd by minority 
shareholders 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 

Level 1 

Level 1 

330 

330 

Level 1 

Level2 

Level 2 

Level 2 

Level 3 

11 ,899 

3,406 
15,305 

Level3 

319 
319 

Level 3 

15,403 

3,853 
19,256 

Total as at 
31 December 

2019 

11,899 

3,406 
15,305 

Total as at 
31 December 

2018 

330 
319 
649 

Total as at 
31 December 

2018 
(restated) 

15,403 

3,853 
19,256 

Should a fair-value level transfer be necessary, the Group would change the cl'assification (bearing in mind the 
consequences in terms of measurement) on the date of the triggering event or on the date of the change of 
circumstances leading to the transfer. 

There was no transfer between Levels 1 and 2 during the year. 

5.2 MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES 

5.2.1. For business combinations or transactions with minority interests 

lntanqib/.e assets 
The fair value of software for third parties, Saas contracts, software maintenance contracts and order books acquired 
in a business combination is calculated using the most appropriate method under the circumstances, including the 
multi-period excess earnings method, which consists of measuring the asset in question after deducting a reasonable 
return for the other assets generating cash flows. The valuation is a function of variables such as the rate of 
technological obsolescence, the cl ient erosion rate (or even the contract renewal rate) and the discount rate. 
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Contingent considerations 

The fair value of the contingent consideration relating to the purchase of Swords.a r.I. (previously ID&O s.a r.1.) 
securities is based on revenue growth forecasts, calculated for the period from 16 February 2018 to 31 December 
2020, adjusted - if applicable - to take account of the discount effect. 

The fair value of the contingent consideration relating to the additional purchase of Sword Charteris Ltd securities is 
based on a multiple of EBITDA plus net cash for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

The fair value of the contingent consideration relating to the purchase of Magique Galileo Software Ltd securities is 
based on a multiple of EBITDA plus net cash for the year ended 31 December 2019, after deducting the exercise 
price. 
Contingent considerations are classified as Level 3 of the fair-value hierarchy taking account of the use of non-
observable data specific to the companies/interests acquired. 

Put options over minority interests 
The fair value of the Group's purchase commitments vis-a-vis minority shareholders (see Note 10-4) is based on a 
multiple of the EBIT of the subsidiary in question, adjusted to take account of the discount effect. The purchase 
commitments are included in the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair value. 

A change of +10% in EBIT would result in a €307,000 increase in debts relating to purchases of minority interests as 
at 31 December 2019 (compared with €365,000 as at 31December2018). 

A change of -10% in EBIT would result in a €298,000 decrease in debts relating to purchases of minority interests as 
at 31 December2019 (compared with €351 ,000 as at 31December2018). 

5.2.2. In the ordinary course of business 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Equity instruments at Level 1 are measured at the stock-exchange rate as at the reporting date. Other equity 
instruments belong to Level 3 and are measured on the basis of their net asset, as communicated by the 
management of the company in question. The Group makes adjustments if it notes, on the basis of the available 
information, that the net asset differs significantly from the fair value. 

5.3 RECONCILIATION OF LEVEL 3 FAIR-VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - 31 December 
(in thousands of €2 2018 
Balance as at opening 319 267 
Acquisitions 561 53 
Disposals/payments (1) 
Total gains and losses 
BALANCE AS AT YEAR END 880 319 
Total gains and losses relating to assets held as at year end 

Total gains and losses relating to assets held as at year end are included in other comprehensive income under 
'Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - gainl(loss) related to remeasurement at fair 
value'. The cumulative impact is recorded in 'Reserve for remeasurement of financial assets'. 
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Contingent considerations/put options over minority interests 

in thousands of€ 
Balance as at opening 
Acquisitions 
Disposals/p2_yments 
Total gains and losses 
BALANCE AS AT YEAR END 
Total gains and losses relating to outstanding contingent considerations/put 
options over minority interests 

31 December 
2019 

19,256 
2,474 

(6,622) 
197 

15,296 

197 

NOTE 6 .. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY ACCOUNTING CATEGORY 

As at 31December2019 

Financial 
Financial Financial instruments at 

instruments instruments at fair value 
at fair value through other 

depreciated through profit comprehensive 
in thousands of€ cost or loss income 

ASSETS 
Financial instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 1,099 
Other assets 2,451 
Long-term investments 2,451 1,099 
Trade and other receivables 37, 130 
Other assets 1,099 
Cash and cash equivalents 71,657 
Current financ ial assets 109,886 
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 112,337 1,099 

LIABILITIES 
Lease obligations 13,006 
Other liabilities 435 7,793 
Non-current financial liabilities 13,441 7,793 
Lease obligations 4,080 
Other fi nancial debts 878 
Trade and other payables 18,401 
Other liabilities 699 7,512 
Current financ ial liabilities 24,058 7,51 2 
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 37,499 15,305 

31 December 
2018 

restated 
622 

19,256 
(1_,55~ 

937 
19,256 

937 

1,099 
2,451 
3,550 

37, 130 
1,099 

71 ,657 
109,886 
113,436 

13,006 
8,228 

21,234 
4,080 

878 
18,401 
8,211 

31,570 
52,804 
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As at 31 December 2018 (restated) 

Financial 
instruments 

at 
depreciated 

in thousands of€ cost 
ASSETS 
Financial instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
Other assets 1,397 
Long-term investments 1,397 
Trade and other receivables 33,496 
Other assets 3,326 
Cash and cash eguivalents 112,929 
Current financial assets 149,751 
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 151,149 

LIABILITIES 
Other ti nancial debts 20,087 
Other liabilities 82 
Non-cu rrent f inancial liabilities 20,169 
Other ti nancial debts 6,349 
Trade and other payables 18,028 
Other liabilities 1,967 
Current financial liabilit ies 26,344 
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 46,513 

NOTE 7. BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE 

Software segment 

Breakdown b 
Governance, Risk & Compliance (GRC) 
Intellectual Property (~) 

Asset Finance * 
Other 
TOTAL 

Financial 
instruments at 

fair value 
through profit 

o r loss 

12,993 
12,993 

6,262 
6,262 

19,255 

Financial 
instruments at 

fair value 
through other 

comprehens ive 
income 

649 

649 

649 

31 December 
2019 

17,489 
5,891 

795 
24,175 

649 
1,397 
2,046 

33,496 
3,326 

112,929 
149,751 
151,797 

20,087 
13,075 
33,162 
6,349 

18,028 
8,229 

32,606 
65,768 

31 December 
2018 

13,290 
6,141 
1,666 

693 
21,790 

*Excluding revenue generated by Apak Group Ltd, which is classified as a discontinued operation (see Note 14) 
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IT Services segment 

e 
Health, telecommunications and others 
Insurance and finance 
Industry 
Governments/European institutions 
TOTAL 

See Note 9 for a breakdown of revenue by geographic area. 

31 December 
2019 

47,252 
32,131 
51 ,032 
58,592 

189,007 

NOTE 8. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATING TO REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The table below provides information on trade receivables, work in progress and prepaid services. 

31 December 
2018 

33,666 
24,798 
44,413 
46,745 

149,622 

(in thousands of€) -~3_1_D_e_c_em_2_~_~_;_ 
Trade and other receivables ass_e_ts~)~--------------­

Work in progress (assets) 
Costs of executing contracts activated following a deferral of revenue 
UfRS 15) @_sset~) <1l 

Prepaid services (liabilit ies) 
<1l Included in prepaid expenses 

37,130 
28,774 

737 
26,474 

33,496 
23,655 

____1472 
27,578 

IFRS 15 uses the terms 'contract assets' and 'contract liabilities' to refer to the items commonly known as 'Work in 
progress' and 'Deferred income'. However, this standard does not prevent an entity using other terms in its statement 
of financial position. The Group has used the terms 'Work in progress' and 'Deferred income' to label these items in 
assets and liabilities_ 

The Group records in deferred charges under 'Assets relating to the costs of executing contracts' costs related to 
installation and configuration services for certain software packages, whose revenues and associated costs are only 
recognised when the software is commissioned, regardless of whether this is marketed as licences or in Saas mode. 
These assets are included in the section 'Prepaid expenses'. 

In accordance with IFRS 15, revenue recognised before the date when it is billed to clients is recognised as 'Work in 
progress'. Interim payments exceeding the revenue recognised as at the reporting date are recorded as 'Prepaid 
services' _ 

8.1 ANALYSIS OF SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATING TO 
REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The change in work in progress, costs of executing the activated contracts and prepaid services is proportional to 
revenue recogn ition_ 

8.2 REVENUES RELATING TO PREPAID SERVICES 

-~-----~-------------------~-;:: 1•• • -~3-1~D-ec_e_m~0b-1e~r-(in thousands of€) _ 
Revenues recognised during the year and included in the opening 24,942 19,705 balance of prepaid services 
Revenues recognised during the year and relating to the performance 
obligations met in previous years <1l 

<11 This may include in particular the impact of changes in estimates on the measurement of the variable 
considerations and (see Note 2.22.6) of such changes on the progress of the performance obligations recognised 
over time_ 
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8.3 OUTSTANDING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS 

Schedule of outstanding performance obligations on long-term and fixed-price contracts 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~···. -~-3-1~D_e_c_e_m2.Qb.!e~r-(in millions of€) ~ 

ssless than 1 year 158 140 
Between 1 and 2 years 130 11 0 
Between 2 and 3 years 190 150 
Share of revenue allocated to outstanding performance 
obligations at reporting date 478 400 

The above schedule corresponds to the order-book schedule (also known as the 'production backlog'). 

8.4 ASSETS RELATING TO COSTS OF EXECUTING CONTRACTS 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-·· • 1••• ~~3_1_o_e_c_e_m~0b-1e~r-(in thousands of€) ~ 

Assets relating to costs of executing contracts (gross ba lanc~ 737 3,472 
Depreciation and impairment losses 
Net ballance of assets relating to costs of executing contracts 737 3,472 

NOTE 9 .. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

In accordance with IFRS 8, the segment information presents operating segments roughly corresponding to 
industries identified on the basis of the Group's business components. This segment information is based on the 
organisation of the Group's internal management, which leads to the preparation - in each business component - of 
management tools used by the Group's management. 

Taking a business approach, the Group defined two operating segments, i.e. 'IT Services' and 'Software', both of 
which influence the Group's performance measurement and strategic approach. 

Around the operating segments gravitate support functions, such as sales, finance, human resources and logistics. 

The indUJstries are defined as follows: 

llT Services (Solutions): 
This is a division specialising in information and content engineering systems integration and targeting 
regulated markets and compliance management. It bases its strategy on technical software components 
such as document management tools. 

Software (or Products) : 
This division covers software for Governance, Risk & Compliance (GRC), document management and major 
project management. It also includes applications for vehicle and equipment financing, mainly for lease 
companies and brokers: operations that were in large part sold in October 2018. See Notes 13.2 and 14. 
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9.1 INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA 

The table below shows the breakdown of revenue by geographical market, excluding intra-segment revenue and 
information on non-currernt assets by geographical area: 

in thousands of€ 

Benelux 
France 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Other 
TOTAL 

Revenue from external clients 
31 December 

2019 
35,175 
46,048 
27,927 
61 ,822 
12,577 
29,633 

213,182 

31 December 
2018 

28,644 
50,944 
27,900 
51,179 

6,206 
6,539 

171,412 

11 Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 

9.2 INFORMATION BY SEGMENT 

9.2.1. Analysis of the income statement as at 31 December 2019 

(in thousands of€) 
Revenue 
- outside the Group (external clients) 
- intra-segment 

Total revenue 
Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation, exc luding 
non-recurring items (EBITDA) 
Depreciation charges 
Earnings before interest and taxes, 
excluding non-recurring items (EBID 
Income f rom disposals of assets 
Impairment losses on assets 
Other non-recurring items 
Operating profit (OP) 
Financial result 

Profit or loss of associates 
Income tax 
Profit fo r the year 
Non-controll ing interests 
Group s hare 

IT Services Software 

189,007 24,175 

189 007 24175 

22,400 6,224 
(6,387 (1 , 720) 

16,013 4,504 
122 22 

(212) 
(213) (59) 

15,710 4,467 

Non-current assets tJ 

31 December 
2019 

17,958 
20,576 
28,191 
39,404 

329 
2,593 

109,051 

Non-allocated 

~ 

(48) 
(504) 

(577) 
(1 ,129) 

31 December 
2018 

16,998 
13,040 
25,730 
25, 156 

78 
516 

81,518 

Consolidated 
total 

213, 182 

213 182 

28,624 
(8, 155) 

20,469 
(360) 
(212) 
(849) 

19,048 
(561 ) 

(4,938) 
13,549 

299 
13,250 
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9.2.2. Analysis of the income statement as at 31 December 2018 

(in thousands of €) IT Services Software 
Revenue 
- outside the Group (external clients) 
- intra-segment 
Total revenue 
Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation, excluding 
non-recurring items (EBITDA) 
Depreciation charges 
Earnings before interest and taxes, 
excluding non-recurring items (EBIT) 
Income f rom disposals of assets 
Impairment losses on assets 
other non-recurring items 
Operating profit (OP) 
Financia l result 
Profit or loss of associates 
Income tax 
Profit for the year 
Non-controll ing interests 
Group share 

149,621 

149,621 

16,042 
@,248)_ 

12,794 
180 

.J.!ll11) 
(6,805) 

5,158 

9.2.3. Analysis of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019 

21,791 

21 ,791 

4,103 
(1,20'!) 

2,899 
82,117 
(2,03Q) 

(283) 
703 

Non-allocated 

_(!47) 

(147) 
(1 ,142) 

(505) 
(1,794) 

Non- Adjustments and 
(in thousands of €2 IT Services Software allocated eliminations 
Segment assets 179,728 37,059 
Non-allocated assets 40,328 
TOT AL ASSETS 179,728 37,059 40,328 
Segment liabilities 89,872 17,322 136,381 
Non-allocated liabilities {88} {136,381} 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 89,872 17,322 (88} 
Investments in intangible assets 
and in property, plant and 
egyie,ment durinfJ. the ~ear 4,993 3,002 52 

9.2.4. Analysis of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018 (restated) 
Non- Adjustments and 

(in thousands of €2 IT Services Software allocated eliminations 
Segment assets 147,841 23,274 
Non-allocated assets 97,000 
TOT AL ASSETS 147,841 23,274 97,000 
Segment liabilities 80,423 10,821 101 ,796 
Non-allocated liabilities 29,503 {101 ,796} 
TOT AL LIABILITIES 80,422 10,821 29,503 
Investments in intangible assets 
and in property, plant and 
egyie,ment durinfJ. the l::_ear 4, 192 3,726 40 

See Note 15.2 for allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units. 

Consolidated 
total 

171,412 

171,412 

20,145 
(4,599) 

15,546 
81 ,155 
(3,041 ) 
(7,593) 
86,067 
(1 ,010) 
(1 ,319) 

--- (1 ,881) 
81 ,857 

326 
81 ,531 

Consolidated 
total 

216,787 
40,328 

257,115 
243,575 

{136,469} 
107,106 

8,047 

Consolidated 
total 

171,115 
97,000 

268, 115 
193,040 
{72,293} 
120,747 

7,958 
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All of the assets are allocated to the segments, except assets which cannot be allocated to a CGU, which comprise 
mainly cash and cash equivalents held by the Company. 

All of the liabilities are allocated to the segments, except liabilities which cannot be allocated to a CGU. 

In 2018, these liabilities comprised mainly bank loans contracted by the Company for the purpose of financing the 
Group. 

NOTE 10. GROUP INFORMATION 

10.1 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 

Main 
business/ 
operating 

Com an se ment 
Luxembourg 

Parent 
Sword Group SE company 
Sword Technologies S.A. IT Services 

Holding 
Sword Sol s.a r.I. company 
South Africa 
Sword Creation IT Services/ 
lnformatique Ltd (1) Software 
Australia 
DataCo Australia Pty Ltd (2) IT Services 
Sword GRC Pty Ltd 
(previously Active Risk Pty 
Ltd) Software 
Bel ium 
Sword lntegra S.A. IT Services 
Tipik Communication 
Agency S.A. (3) IT Services 
Vadear S.A. IT Services 
Canada 
Sword Corporation Inc. (4) IT Services 

c rus 
Apak Beam Ltd Software 
Colombia 
Sword Colombia SAS IT Services 
Denmark 
Dataco Denmark Aps (2l IT Services 
Dubai 
Sword Middle East FZ LLC IT Services 

United States 
Data Co Services USA IT Services LLC (2> 

Sword GRC Inc. 
(previously Active Risk Inc.) Software 
Sword Solutions Inc. IT Services 
Magique Galileo Software Software LLC (SJ 

France 
Sword Connect SAS IT Services 
Sword Insight SAS IT Services 
Sword Kami SAS Software 

Method 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 
FC 

% controlled 

31 December 
2019 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

98% 
100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 

100% 

95% 
70% 
92% 

31 December 
2018 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

49% 
100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 

68% 
70% 
68% 

% interest 

31 December 
2019 

100% 

100% 

100% 

92% 

100% 

98% 
98% 

45% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

92% 
100% 

100% 

95% 
70% 
92% 

31 Decemb 
er 2018 

100% 

100% 

100% 

89% 

100% 

49% 
49% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

89% 
100% 

68% 
70% 
68% 
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% controlled 

Com an 
Sword Orizon SAS 
Sword SAS 
Greece 
Plefsys IT PC (6) 

Space4Business S.A. 
Greece C7> 

Sword Services Greece 
S.A. 
India 
Sword Global India Pvt Ltd 
Lebanon 
Sword Lebanon SAL 
Sword Middle East LLC 
Netherlands 

Main 
business/ 
operating 
se ment 

Software 
IT Services 

IT Services 

IT Services 

IT Services 

IT Services 
IT Services 

DataCo Netherlands B.V. <2> IT Services 
New Zealand 
DataCo New Zealand Ltd <2> IT Services 
United Kingdom 

AAA Group Ltd 
AAA Ltd 
Dataco Global Ltd c2> 

DataCo Ltd <2> 

Infinity Ltd 
Magique Galileo Software 
Ltd (S) 

Minttulip Ltd 
Mobile Productivity Ltd 
Sword Achiever Ltd 

Sword Charteris Ltd 
Sword IT Solutions Ltd 
Sword General Partners 
Ltd (S) 

Sword GRC Group Ltd C9J 
(previously Active Risk 
Group Ltd) 
Sword GRC Ltd 
(previously Active Risk Ltd) 

Sword Soft Ltd 
Sword Technologies 
Solutions Ltd 
Venture Information 
Management Ltd 
Switzerland 
CBA Sourcing S.A. 

Holding 
company 
IT Services 
IT Services 
IT Services 
IT Services 

Software 

IT Services 
Software 
Software 
Holding 
company 
IT Services 
Holding 
company 

Holding 
company 

Software 

Holding 
company 

IT Services 

IT Services 

IT Services 

Method 
FC 
FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 
FC 
FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 
FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

FC 

31 December 
2019 
82% 
99% 

64% 

100% 

99% 

100% 

97% 
98% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 
100% 

100% 

100% 

92% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

Eurogenia S.A. 
Sword s.a r.I. 

FC 

FC Holding 
company~~~~~~~-

51% 

100% 

(previously ID&O s.a r.I.) 
Sword Technologies 
S.A. c10> 
Swissgenia S.A. 
Sword Services S.A. 

IT Services 

IT Services 

IT Services 
IT Services 

FC 

FC 

FC 
FC 

100% 

45% 

80% 
97% 

31 December 
2018 
72% 
99% 

99% 

100% 

97% 
98% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 
100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

89% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

51% 

100% 

100% 

45% 

80% 
97% 

% interest 

31 December 
2019 
82% 
99% 

64% 

100% 

99% 

100% 

97% 
98% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 
92% 

100% 

100% 

92% 

92% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

51% 

100% 

100% 

45% 

80% 
97% 

31 Decemb 
er 2018 

72% 
99% 

99% 

100% 

97% 
98% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
100% 
89% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

89% 

89% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

51% 

100% 

100% 

45% 

80% 
97% 
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Com an 
Sword Sports & Events S.A. 

Main 
business/ 
operating 
se ment 

(previously Sword Digital IT Services 
S."1) 

Holding 
Sword Suisse Holding S.A. company 

<•1 Liquidated on 30 April 2019. 

Method 

FC 

FC 

% controlled 

31 December 
2019 

85% 

100% 

31 December 
2018 

100% 

100% 

% interest 

31 December 
2019 

85% 

100% 

31 Decemb 
er 2018 

100% 

100% 

<21 On 31October2019, the Group acquired 100% of DataCo Global Ltd and DataCo Australia Ply Ltd. See Note 12.1. 
131 On 31December2019, the Group increased its stake in Tipik Communication Agency S.A. from 49% to 98%, costing it €989,000. This was 
paid by offsetting a receivable of €639,000 from Tipik Group S.A. and settling the balance of €350,000 in cash in January 2020. 
141 Established on 11 February 2019. 
151 Effective from 3 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of Magique Galileo Software Ltd. See Note 12. 1. 
161 On 1 May 2019, the Group increased its stake in Plefsys IT PC from 38% to 64%. Following this transaction, the Group wilr now fully consolidate 
Plefsys, which had previously been recognised in the Group's accounts according to the equity accounting method. See Note 12.1. 
m Established on 31 January 2019. 
191 Liquidated on 10 September 2019. 
191 During the year 2019, the Group repurchased 3% of the shares held by minonty shareholders in accordance with the employee stock ownership 
plan for managers at Sword GRC Group Ltd. See Note 10.3. 
<•01 Effective 1 July 2014, the Group signed a shareholders' agreement giving it control over Sword Technologies S.A. (Switzerland). Consequently, 
the company is fully consolidated. 

10.2 INFORMATION ON GROUP SUBSIDIARIES WITH SIGNIFICANT NON-CONTROLLING 
INTERESTS (MINORITY INTERESTS) 

Comprehensive 
income for the 
year attributed Cumulative 

Percentage held by minority to minority minority 
interests interests interests 

~C_o_m~p_a_n~y'--~~~~~~~~~~---"lllllllllllllll~'-111@~·1.-~~~~---::2:0:1;81~111~'-111@~·1.-~~2:0:1;81~11~4•'1'-@1ir----:;2;0;18;--, 

Tipik Communication Agency S.A.<'X"l 2% 51% 58 7 (1,257) 

Sword GRC Group Ltd n 
Sword Technologies S.A. (Switzerland) 

Other 

8% 

55% 

From 1% to 49% 

11% 

55% 252 

From 1 % to 49% (11) 

299 

1,653 2,073 

248 781 817 

78 565 813 

326 3,006 2,446 

('J On 31 December 2019, the Group acquired an additional 49% stake in Tipik Communication Agency S.A., thereby 
increasing its interest to 98%. See Note 10.1. 

< .. l The amounts presented for Tipik Communication Agency S.A. and Sword GRC Group Ltd take account of afl 
entities belonging to the respective subgroup. 
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10.3 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (MINORITY INTERESTS) 

10.3.1. Impact of transactions with minority interests on equity - Group share for the years ended 
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 

in thousands of€ 
Changes in reserves, in terms of the Group share, due to: 
- Acquisitions/repurchases of securities in: 

Tipik 
Sword Technologies S.A. 
Sword Charteris Ltd 
Apak Group Ltd 
Other 
Sword GRC Group Ltd (previously Active Risk Group Ltd) 

NET IMPACT ON EQUITY - GROUP SHARE 

10.3.2. Sword Technologies S.A. 

31 December 
2019 

(2,261) 

(412) 
291 

(2,382) 

31 December 
2018 

restated 

(625) 
(17,423) 
(11 ,146) 

(530) 
(4,426) 

(34,150) 

In early 2015, the Group disposed of 10% of its shares in Luxembourg subsidiary Sword Technologies S.A., which 
until then had been held in full by two managers of the subsidiary, at a price of€745,000, calculated based on revenue 
growth. The amount was financed by a loan granted by the Group to these senior executives, fall ing due at the end 
of 2018 and bearing interest of 2% per annum. In 2017 and 2018, the Group repurchased 10% ofr the shares from 
the minority shareholders for a total price of €2,224,000, calculated on the same basis as the subscription price. 

10.3.3. Sword Charteris Ltd 

On 2 August 2018, the Group increased its stake in Sword Charteris Ltd from 49% to 100%, paying an exercise price 
of €3,766,000, calculated based on a multiple applied to EBITDA. 

The purchase agreement envisages an additional payment, calculated and payable at annual intervals between 
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2021 . As at 31 December 2019, the additional payment was calculated to be 
€9, 126,000 (compared w ith €1 4,967,000 as at 31 December 2018). 

10.3.4. Sword GRC Group Ltd (previously Active Risk Group Ltd) 

An employee stock ownership plan for managers at Sword GRC Group Ltd had been implemented by Sword Soft Ltd . 
a Group subsidiary. Under the plan, minority shareholders can obtain financing from Sword Soft Ltd, allowing them 
to pay up the subscribed capital and reimburse Sword Soft Ltd within five years. This financing gave rise to 
receivables from the minority shareholders amounting to €1 ,219,000 as at 31 December 2019. Tlhese receivables 
have an interest rate of 3%. The price of subscribed shares is calculated based on a multiple applied to EBIT. In 
addition, Sword Soft Ltd undertook to buy back the shares acquired by minority shareholders if they request this. The 
redemption price is calculated on the same basis as the subscription price. The estimated redemption price 
corresponds to the fair value of the commitments listed in Note 10.4. 
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10.4 COMMITMENTS TO PURCHASE MINORITY INTERESTS 

Commitments to purchase equity securities granted to non-controlling interests were as follows as at 31 December 
2019: 

(in thousands of€) 
Sword GRC Group Ltd 

% held by 
minority 

shareholders 
8% 

Minority 
interests 

included in 
the buyback 

plan 
8% 

Measurement 
method 

EBIT multiple 

Fair value of 
commitments 

(current 
debts) 

665 

Fair value of 
commitments 
(non-current 

debts) 
2,7411 

Commitments to purchase equity securities granted to non-controlling interests were as follows as at 31 December 
2018 (restated}: 

(in thousands of€) 
Sword GRC Group Ltd 

% held by 
minority 

shareholders 
11% 

Minority 
interests 

included in 
the buyback 

plan 
11% 

Measurement 
method 

EBIT multiple 

Fair value of 
commitments 

(current 
debts) 

622 

Fair value of 
commitments 

(non-current 
debts) 
3,2311 

For the method used to measure the fair value of commitments, see Note 5.2. 

NOTE 11. ASSOCIATES 

11.1 CHANGES DURING THE YEAR 

-

;x 
1
• -

1 

31 Decem
20

b
1
e
8
r 

~Vn~~-o_u_s_an_d_s_o_f_€~)~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~· ~~~~~~~~ 
Balance as at opening 865 2,852 
Acquisition and securing a significant influence 415 
Disposal and loss of significant influence (815) (1 ,083) 
Share of profit or loss for the year ( 1,319) 
Dividends paid 
BALANCE AS AT YEAR END 353 865 

On 1 May 2019, the Group increased its stake in Plefsys IT PC from 38% to 64%, at a cost of €445,000, giving it sole 
control o,ver that company, which is now fully consolidated. See Note 12.1. 

11.2 INFORMATION ON ASSOCIATES 

Place of incorporation Main business[ % interest 
Compan~ and main site operating segment ~ 2018 
Plefsys IT PC Greece IT Services 38% 
Cowork Engineering France IT Services 24% 24% 

* P/efsys IT PC has been fully consolidated since 1 May 2019. See Note 11.1 above. 

Since associates are not significant at Group level, the informat ion to be provided under 
IFRS 12 has not been presented. 
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NOTE 12. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ACQUISITIONS 

12.1 ACQUISITIONS IN 2019 

12.1.1. Description 

Magique Galileo Software Ltd 
Effective from 3 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of Magique Galileo Software Ltd, a company incorporated 
in the UK - an acquisition involving an outlay of some GBP 2,222,000 (equivalent to around €2,464,000). excluding 
additional payments. Magique Galileo Software is a company specialised in GRC solutions for the banking and 
insurance sector, so this transaction allows the Group to expand its product range and increase its presence in the 
sector. 

P/efsys IT PC 
The Group had invested €445,000 on 1 May 2017 in the acquisition of an 18% stake in Plefsys IT PC ("Plefsys"}, a 
company incorporated in Greece. Under the deal, it pledged to pay up to €1 ,200,000, excluding additional payments 
and including the amount of the original investment, to increase the Group's stake to 64% of this company's capital 
over a three-year period . The idea behind this acquisition by the Group is to put together a specialist team and 
improve its know-how regarding calls for tenders and management of projects commissioned by the European 
institutions. 

Effective from 30 April 2018, the Group had increased its stake in Plefsys from 18% to 38%, at a cost of€415,000. 
Following the 26% increase in the shareholding in Plefys on 1 May 2019 for a price of €445,000, thereby giving the 
Group control of that company, the Group will now fully consolidate Plefsys, which had previously been recognised 
according to the equity accounting method. 

The Grolllp pledged to increase its stake by 6% in May 2020 and by 15% in March 2022, provided that Plefsys meets 
certain performance targets. The price for the additional 6%, which is variable, willl be based on the achievement of 
performance targets and be capped at €300,000. The parties have agreed to negotiate the sale price for the 
remaining 15% of shares in good faith. 

Data Co 
On 31October2019, the Group acquired 100% of the capital of Dataco Global Ltd, a company incorporated in the 
UK, and DataCo Australia Ply Ltd, a company incorporated in Australia, at a total cost of 
GBP 6,399,000 (equivalent to around €7,429,000). DataCo is a service company specialising in data management 
for the oil and gas industry. 

The idea behind this combination was to allow the Group to strengthen its Data activities in the UK and to generate 
synergies, given the similarity of the sectors in which Sword Services UK and Dataco operate. 

12.1.2. Consideration transferred 

Plefsys 
in thousands of€ Ma ue Galileo IT PC DataCo 

Consideration settled in cash 2,518 445 7,189 10,152 
Less: 
Balance of cash and cash equivalents 
acguired 499 9 4,823 5,331 
NET CASH OUTFLOW 2,019 436 2,366 4,821 

The Magique Galileo Software Ltd purchase agreement envisages an additional payment corresponding to several 
times the adjusted EBITDA, obtained for 2019, from which GBP 2,000,000 is deducted. Calculated in this way, the 
additional payment is limited to GBP 3,000,000 and amounts to GBP 2, 104,000 (equivalent to aroUJnd €2,474,000). 
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12.1.3. Assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the acquisition date 
Magique Plefsys 

in thousands of€ Galileo IT PC 
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets 
Prope.!:!y, plant and equipment 
Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Other assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax liability 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Current tax 
Other liabilities 
IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS ACQUIRED 

1,281 
23 

221 
93 

499 

(542) 
1,267 

1,090 
1 

9 

9 

(?) 

(9) 
1,098 

Dataco 

17 

1,519 
1,809 
4,823 

(1,191) 
(2) 

(1 ,665) 
5,310 

2,371 
41 

1,749 
1,902 
5,331 

(218) 

(1 ,283) 
(2) 

(2,216) 
7,675 

At the time it acquired Plefsys IT PC, the Group recognised an amount of €1 ,090,000 for a sales collaboration 
agreement for a period ending in Apri l 2023. 

12.1.4. Goodwill arising from the acquisit ion 

in thousands of€ 
Consideration transferred 
Plus: 
Deferred payment 
Plus: 
Additional payment (estimated on acquisition) 
Less: 
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 
Plus: 
Non-controlling interests 
GOODWILL ARISING FROM THE 
ACQUISITION 

Magique 
Galileo 

2,518 

2,474 

3,725 

Plefsys 
IT PC DataCo 

___ 1 ,0~_ ~189 

240 

1,098 5,310 

3 

2,119 

10,802 

240 

2,474 

6,585 

3 

6,934 

In accordance with IFRS 3, the Group undertook a provisional assessment of the fair value of DataCo's identifiable 
assets and liabilities pending the final isation of the checks being performed by third-party experts. 

The goodwill on the acquisition of Magique Galileo is related mainly to growth forecasts, expected future profitability 
and cost reductions implemented upon the acquisition, and to medium-term synergies arising from the support 
provided to this company by the Group. 

Goodwill should not be deductible for tax purposes. 

12.1.5. Impact of acquisit ions on the Group's profit or loss 

If this business combination had been in place as at 1 January 2019, the revenue and profit or loss for the period of 
the acquired entity would have been presented as follows: 

_,_~n~~-o_u_s_an_d_s_o_f_€~)~~~~~~~~~~~~~~M_a~g~i~g_ue~G_a_li_le_o~~~~-D_a_t_a_C_o__.lllllC.Jb1!!!i 
Revenue 2,350 6,583 8,933 
Profit or loss 293 597 890 
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For the period from their acquisition date until 31 December 2019, t he acquired companies contributed to the Group's 
revenue and profit or loss in the fo llowing proportions: 

~rn~~_o_u_s_a_n_d_s_o_f~€)~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-M_a~g~i~q~u_e_G_a_l_il_e_o~~~~-D_a_ta_C_o~llllCQifi1!!!1 
Revenue 2,350 1,244 3,594 
Profit or loss 293 171 464 

The amounts associated with the acquisition of Plefsys IT PC are not significant and had no impact on the Group's 
profit or loss. 

12.2 ACQUISITIONS IN 2018 

12.2.1. Description 

ID&O s.a r.I., renamed 'Swords.a r. I.' 
Effective from 16 February 2018, the Group acquired the whole of ID&O s.a r.I. , a company incorporated in 
Switzerland, for a sum of €2,761 ,000, excluding addit ional payments. ID&O s.a r.I. is a Swiss consulting and IT 
services company based in Geneva. The idea behind this combination was to allow the Group to expand its client 
base and to contribute to its growth while controlling its fixed costs. 

Sword Digital, renamed 'Sword Sports & Events S.A.' 
On 1 June 2018, the Group acquired all the shares in Sword Digital for a total of 
CHF 3. Since the amounts associated with that acquisition were not significant at Group level, the information to be 
provided under IFRS 3 has not been presented. 

12.2.2. Consideration transferred 
(in thousands of€) 
Consideration settled in cash 
Less: 
Balance of cash and cash equivalents 
ac uired 
NET CASH OUTFLOW 

10&0 s.a r.I. 
2,824 

1,070 
1,754 

The purchase agreement envisages an addit ional payment based on the change in revenue. The additional payment 
classified as 'contingent consideration liability' is calculated for the period from 16 February 2018 to 31 December 
2020. The fair value of this liabil ity was €436,000 as at 31 December 2018 and takes into account the discounting of 
estimated cash flows. 

12.2.3. Assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the acquisition date 

(in thousands of€) 
Non-current assets 
Financial assets 
Deferred tax assets 
Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Other assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS ACQUIRED 

ID&O s.a r.I. 

10 
31 

328 
66 

1,070 

(489) 
1,016 
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12.2.4. Goodwill arising from the acquisition 
(in thousands of€) 
Consideration transferred 
Plus: 
Additional payment (~stimated on acquisition) 
Less: 
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 
GOODWILL ARISING FROM THE ACQUISITION 

ID&O s.a r.I. 
2,824 

423 

1,016 
2,231 

The goodwill on the acquisition of this company is related mainly to growth forecasts, expected future profitability and 
cost reductions implemented upon the acquisition, and to medium-term synergies arising from the support provided 
to this company by the Group. Goodwill should not be deductible for tax purposes. 

12.2.5. Impact of acquisitions on the Group's profit or loss 

If this business combination had been in place as at 1 January 2018, the revenue and profit or loss for the period of 
the acquired entity would have been presented as follows: 

(in thousands of€) 
Revenue 
Profit or loss 

ID&O s.a r.I. 
2,302 
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For the period from their acquisition date until 31 December 2019, the acquired companies contributed to the Group's 
revenue and profit or loss in the following proportions: 
(in thousands of€) 
Revenue 
Profit or loss 

12.3 OTHER OPERATIONS LEADING TO A TAKEOVER IN 2018 

12.3.1. Description 

ID&O s.a r.I. 
1,970 

(22) 

Effective from 31 December 2018, the Group signed an amendment to the shareholders' agreement giving it control 
over Tipik Communication Agency S.A. (Tipik), a company established in Belgium specialising in digital 
communication, and its subsidiary Vadear S.A. The amounts presented for Tipik include that company, an investment 
wholly held by Tipik. This amendment gives rise to the Group's takeover of Tipik, justified by the Group's ability to 
financially support T ipik and to create synergies by offering its expertise. 

12.3.2. Consideration transferred 

(in thousands of€) 
Consideration settled in cash 
Less: 
Balance of cash and cash equivalents acquired 
NET CASH INFLOW 

Tipik 

4,888 
(4,888) 
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12.3.3. Assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date of taking control 

(in thousands of €2 Tipik 
Non-current assets - --
Intangible assets 
Property, plant and equipment 159 
Financial assets 17 
Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 4,563 
Other assets 811 
Cash and cash equivalents ~888 

Non-current liabilities 
Provisions (~5Q) 

Current liabilities 
Financial debt (5,500) 
Trade and other payables (1 ,830) 
Current tax (70) 
Other liabilities (5,154} 
IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS (2,465} 

At the time of the takeover, the Group recognised (€1 ,257,000) for the non-controlling interests at the date of 
takeover, measured using the partial goodwill method. 

12.3.4 . Goodwill arising from taking control 
(in thousands of€) 
Consideration transferred 
Plus: 
Non-controll ing interests (mino!j!y interest~ 
Less: 
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 
GOODWILL ARISING FROM TAKING CONTROL 

Tipik 

(1 ,257) 

(2,465} 
1,208 

The goodwill from this takeover operation is mainly related to the synergies and cost savings the takeover should 
lead to, more specifically taking into account Tipik's realignment in digital communication and market developments 
requiring streamlining of the offer. 

Goodwill should not be deductible for tax purposes. 

12.3.5. Impact of the takeover on the Group's profit or loss 

If this business combination had been in place as at 1 January 2018, the revenue and profit or loss for the period of 
the acquired entity would have been presented as follows: 

(in thousands of €2 
Revenue 
Profit or loss 

Tipik 
13,958 
(2,693} 

As the Group has consolidated Tipik effective from 31 December 2018, Tipik did not contribute to the Group's revenue 
and profit or loss in 2018. 

NOTE 13. DISPOSALS 

13.1 DISPOSALS IN 2019 

None 
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13.2 DISPOSALS IN 2018 

Apak Group Ltd 
With a view to refocusing its business activities, the Group decided to dispose of its stake in Apak Group Ltd, a 
company incorporated in the UK, and its subsidiary Sword Apak Inc. for a total price of €129,182,000. The 
deconsolidation took effect on 18 October 2018. See Note 14. 

Sword Performance Solutions AG 
On 10 April 2018, the Group disposed of its stake in Sword Performance Solutions AG, a subsidiary based in 
German-speaking Switzerland specialising in the implementation of APM solutions, for a total price of €5,663,000. 
This sale covered Adhoc s.a r.L Moroc.co, Adhoc CTS Tunisia, Adhoc ISL Tunisia and Sword Performance 
France SAS. 

13.2.1. Consideration received 

in thousands of€ 

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 
Consideration receivable 
TOTAL CONSIDERATION 

Apak 
Grou Ltd 

127,682 
1,500 

129,182 

13.2.2. Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost 

Apak 
in thousands of€ Grou Ltd 

Non-current assets 
Goodwill 21 ,124 
Other intangible assets 3,727 
Property, plant and equipment 4,070 
Financial assets 
Deferred tax assets 503 
Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 7,171 
Other assets 6,081 
Cash and cash equivalents 11,447 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables ~.269) 

Current tax liability (322) 
Other liabilities (10,284} 
NET ASSETS DISPOSED OF 41 ,248 

Sword 
Performance 
Solutions A,G 

5,663 133,345 
1,500 

5,663 134,845 

Sword 
Performance 

Solutions AG 

2,949 24,073 
3,727 

34 4,104 
33 33 

4 507 

1,677 8,848 
388 6,469 

1,587 13,034 

(1 ,086) (3,355) 
(18) (340) 

(311} (10,595} 
5,242 46,490 
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13.2.3. Profit/(loss) generated on disposal 

in thousands of€ 
Total consideration 
Less: Net assets disposed of 
PROFIT GENERATED ON DISPOSAL 

13.2.4. Net cash outflow on disposal 

in thousands of€ 

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 
Less: 
Balance of cash and cash equivalents disposed of 
NET CASH OUTFLOW 

NOTE 14. CONTRIBUTION OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Apak 
Grou Ltd 

129,182 
41 ,248 
87,934 

Apak 
Grou Ltd 

127,682 

11,447 
116,235 

Sword 
Performance 
Solutions AG 

5,663 
5,242 

421 

Sword 
Performance 

Solutions AG 
5,663 

1,587 
4,076 

133,345 
46,490 
86,855 

133,345 

13,034 
120,311 

Effective from 18 October 2018, given its policy of refocusing its activities exclusively on data management, the 
Group sold its subsidiary Apak Group Ltd and Apak Inc. ("Apak"), a provider of software solutions in financing assets . 
As Apak's contribution to profit or loss and cash flows is presented in a single line, the tables below provide a 
breakdown of the components of this cont ribution. 

14.1 PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATION 

(in thousands of€) 
Revenue 
EBITDA 
EBIT 
Operating profit 
Financial result 
Profit before tax 
Income tax 
Profit for the year from discontinued operation 

14.2 NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED BY) THE DISCONTINUED OPERATION 

(In thousands of€) 
Net cash inflows from operating activities 
Net cash outflows from investment activities 
Net cash outflows from financing activities 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

14.3 IMPACT OF THE SALE ON THE GROUP'S FINANCIAL POSITION 

See Notes 13.2 and 31 . 

2018 
20,039 
6,409 
5,563 
5,319 
(139) 
5,180 
(632) 
4,548 

2018 
2,786 

(3,386) 
(3,427) 
(4,027) 
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NOTE 15. GOODWILL 

15.1 CHANGES IN GOODWILL 

(in thousands of€) 
GROSS AMOUNT 
Balance as at opening 
Additional amounts recognised following business combinations 
arising during the year 
Disposals 
Translation difference 
Balance as at year end 

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 
Balance as at opening 
Balance as at year end 

GOODWILL, NET CARRYING AMOUNT 

-
91,200 

5,844 

2,205 
99,249 

25,000 
25,000 

74,249 

15.2 ALLOCATION OF GOODWILL BY CASH-GENERATING UNITS (CGUs) 

31 December 
2018 

110,870 

3,465 
(24,071) 

936 
91,200 

25,000 
25,000 

66,200 

-......._~~~~~...._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--'lllillililLLUl1,··. '---3_1_o_e_c_e_m~0b-1e~r-(inthousandsof€) ~ 

CGU 1 - Software 13,298 8,894 
CGU 3 - IT Services (Solutions) 60,951 57 306 

TOTAL 74,249 66,200 

15.3 GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT TESTING 
In 2019, without modifying the valuation methods used in the previous year, apart from the impact of the adoption of 
IFRS 16, the Group re-examined the value of the goodwill associated with its cash-generating units (CGUs) by 
comparing the recoverable amount of the CGUs with their net carrying amount, including goodwill. In accordance 
with IAS 36, only the value in use in respect of the recoverable amount was selected. 

The recoverable amounts of CGU 1 and CGU 3 were respectively €65,575,000 (compared with €68,818,000 in 2018) 
and €301 ,635,000 (compared with €238,412,000 in 2018). 

15.3.1 . Key assumptions 

The forecast cash flows used by the Group to estimate value in use came from the 2020 budget and from an 
extrapolation for 2021 and subsequent years. Based on the 2020 budget, the Group's revenue rose by approximately 
12.5% (12.5% on a like-for-like basis). 

The key assumptions adopted in the valuation model used by the Group are (i) medium-term growth in revenue, 
(ii) an operating margin corresponding to the EBIT/revenue ratio, (iii) the infinite growth rate used to calculate the 
final value, and (iv) the discount rate. 

87 



Sword Group - 2019 Financial Report 

CGU 1 - Software CGU 3 - Solutions - 2018 - 2018 
Medium-term revenue growth 10% 10% 10% 10% 
Operating margin 19% 20% 9% 9% 
Infinite growth rate 2% 2% 2% 2% 
Discount rate after tax (") 6.14% 7.14% 5.65% 7.29% 

r·J The pre-tax discount rates for 2019 were 8.31% (compared with 8.84% in 2018) and 7.24% (compared with 8.98% 
in 2018) for CGU 1 and CGU 3 respectively. 

The values attributed to medium-term revenue growth and to the operating margin were determined with due 
diligence and are consistent with the Group's historical and budget ary data. The forecasts were made taking account 
of the order book, development costs related to the improvement of software solutions, changes in scope and the 
product mix and the change in exchange rates. The discount rates used for arnnual impairment tests were the 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC) rates specific to each CGU. 

15.3.2. Sensitivity of recoverable amounts 

The Group's management is of the opinion that no reasonably possible change in key assumptions on which the 
recoverable amount of each CGU is based would cause the ca.rrying amount allocated to them to exceed their 
recoverable amount. 

NOTE 16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Non-
Client competition 

in thousands of€ Software contracts clause 
GROSS AMOUNT 
As at 31 December 2017 
Inflows of assets generated internally 
Acquisitions via business combinations 
Acquisitions 
Disposals 
Deconsolidations 
Translation difference 
As at 31 December 2018 
Inflows of assets generated internally 
Acquisitions 
Acquisitions via business combinations 
Disposals 
Deconsolidations 
Translation difference 
Other movements 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

14,037 4,315 1,113 
4,387 

597 
(1 ,842) 
(3 ,77~) 

23 (19) 
12,832 4,893 1,113 
4,325 

1,315 
(~,77!) 

489 286 
616 

14,488 6,494 1,113 

Other 
intangible 

assets 

7,545 27,010 
4,387 

3,080 3,080 
309 906 
j~ (1 ,885) 

(! ) (3,774) 
4 

10,890 29,728 
4,325 

169 169 
(!,09Q) 2,405 

(237) (4,011) 
(~ (34) 

34 809 
(153) 463 

11,912 33,854 
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Non- Other 
Client competition intang ib le 

in thousands of€ Software contracts c lause assets 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 
As at 31 December 2017 (5,251) (3,706) (6, 135) (15,092) 
Depreciation charges (1,301) (l,208) (1_, 152} (3,664) 
Scope changes (89) (3,076) (3, 165) 
Recognised impairment losses @_71) (52) (1 ,026) 
Translation difference 10 21 31 
As at 31 December 2018 {7,608} {4,893} (11 ,014} {22,917} 
Depreciation charges (1,55~ (263) (1 ,815) 
Scope changes 238 238 
Recognised impairment losses m (1) 
Reversals of impairment losses 3,399 3,399 
Translation difference @O~ _(2@ (460) 
Other movements {535} {72) {607} 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 (6,505} {5,4()8} (1 0,249} {22,162} 

NET AMOUNT 
As at 31 December 2018 5,224 !~'!..13 475 6,812 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 7,983 1,086 1,113 572 11,692 

'Client contracts' comprise Saas contracts and software maintenance contracts. 

Until September 2014 the Group had undertaken, during the sale of a business unit, to refrain from providing digital 
communication services to the European institutions. Subsequently, given the growth prospects in the public sector 
and following a change in strategy, the Group secured the cancellation of the relevant non-competition clause. This 
cancellation was valued at €1 , 113,000. 

The other intangible assets comprise mainly services to be provided under contracts in the 'IT Services' segment, 
also known as the 'production backlog'. 

5.6.1.1.1 .1 Impairment testing for the non-competition clause 

As at the reporting date, the Group compared the net carrying amount of CGU 3 - IT Services, to which the amount 
for buying out the non-competition clause worth €1 , 113,000 was allocated, including the carrying amount of that 
agreement, and its recoverable amount, which was determined on the basis of its value in use. 

Since the recoverable amount of CGU 3 exceeded its net carrying amount, no impairment loss was recognised. See 
Note 15 for key assumptions used to calculate value in use. 
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NOTE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Facilities, 
Land and developments T ransport Office and IT Office 

in thousands of€ buildin s and fixtures e ui ment e ui ment furniture 

GROSS AMOUNT 
As at 31 December 2017 404 3,004 228 12,453 5,628 21,717 
Acquisitions 221 253 1,911 280 2,665 
Acquisitions via business 
combinations 588 39 816 279 1,722 
Disposals (62n (301) (1 638)_ (759) (4,325) 
Deconsolidations (4~) (1,115) (3,654_) (7,817) 
Translation difference (4) 26 10 99 48 179 
As at 31 December 2018 400 3,164 229 8,526 1,822 14,141 
Acquisitions 2,182 118 940 214 3,454 
Acquisitions via business 
combinations 126 57 183 
Disposals (167) (135) (420) (722) 
Translation difference 21 70 7 93 22 213 
Other movements 78 {15) 63 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 421 5,249 219 9,343 2 ,100 17,332 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 
As at 31 December 2017 (347) (1 ,964) (197) (9,516) (2,416) (14,440) 
Depreciation charges (44,L (214J (2~ (1'_528) (35~) (2,16~) 

Scope changes (468) (20) 1,932 705 2,149 
Reversals of impairment 
losses 588 189 2,627 738 4,142 
Translation difference 2 (16) (3} (68} (19} (104) 
As at 31 December 2018 {389} {2,074} {54} {6,553} {1,351} {10,421} 
Depreciation charges ( 11) (866) (1~ (863) (109) (1 ,868) 
Scope changes (114) (50) (164) 
Recognised impairment 
losses (179) (33) (212J --
Reversals of impairment 
losses 160 30 420 610 
Translation difference (20) (36) (2) (75) (15) (148) 
Other movements (35) (5) (40) 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 {420} {2,995} {78} {7,220} {1 ,530) {12,243} 

NET AMOUNT 
As at 31 December 2018 11 1,090 175 1,973 471 3,720 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 1 2,254 141 2,123 570 5,089 

As at 31 December 2019, no guarantees had been issued regarding property, plant and equipment (the same had 
been the case in 2018). 
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NOTE 18. LEASES 

18.1 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS BY CATEGORY 

in thousands of€ 
GROSS AMOUNT 
As at 31 December 2018 
Adjustments related to the adoption of IFRS 16 
As at 1 January 2019 
New contracts 
Acquisitions via business combinations 
Disposals/exits from contracts 
Translation difference 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 
As at 31 December 2018 
Adjustment related to the adoption of IFRS 16 (1> 

As at 1 January 2019 
Depreciation charges 
Disposals/exits from contracts 
Translation difference 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

NET AMOUNT 
As at 31 December 2018 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

35,682 
35,682 

1,149 
41 

(4,153) 
678 

33,397 

(18,567) 
(18,567) 

(3,714) 
2,673 
448 

20,056 

13,341 

2,112 37,794 
2,112 37,794 

770 1,919 
41 

(598) (4,751) 
1 679 

2,285 35,682 

(1,053) (19,620) 
(1,053) (19,620) 

(716) (4,430) 
567 3,240 

448 
1,202 21 ,258 

1,083 14,424 
(11 The adjustment related to the adoption of IFRS 16 includes provisions for empty premises. See Note 24. 

18.2 LEASE OBLIGATIONS 

-.__~~~~~-'-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-liiEliiiilLiili•·· . "---3-1_D_e_c_e_m2_0b~e~r-(inthousandsof€) ~ 

Non-current 13,006 
Current 4,080 
TOTAL 17~86 

Reconciliation - ;:::: 
~Un~~-o_u_s_an_d_s_o_f_€~)~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~- 1 • 

Commitments glven @gluding__Qperating leases)_ as at 31 December 2018 
Discounting* 
Present value of the off-balance-sheet commitment for leases 
Exclusion of lease commitments for low-value assets 
Exclusion/(inclusion) of leases depending on the exercise of break/extension options 
TOTAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS AS AT 1JANUARY2019 

19,272 
2,065 

21,337 

21,337 

*Car-rental leases are discounted at the marginal debt ratio applicable to this type of contract, which is estimated at 
6.5%, while real-estate leases are discounted at the Group's marginal debt ratio, which was 1. 74% as at 1 January 
2019, to which a country spread is added as appropriate. See Note 2.22.1. 
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Maturities 

-~~~~~~'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-liiiliilli1illi,·-, ~3-1 _D_e_ce_m~Q_b1e~r-(in thousands of€) ---.miil_ 
Less than one year 4,080 
Between one and five years 9,258 
More than five years 3,748 
TOTAL 17,086 

18.3 ITEMS RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS 

- •·· ·· 
_,_Un~~_o_u_sa_n_d_s_o_f~€)'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~- • • 

Charges for depreciation for right-of-use assets 4,430 
Interest expenses on lease obligations 399 
Lease expenses for short-term leases 
Lease expenses for leases for low-value underlying assets 61 

Expenses for variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease obligation 
TOTAL 4,890 

The Group's leases do not include variable payments. 

Total cash outflows relating to leases were €5,054,000 in 2019. 

NOTE 19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

19.1 BALANCE AS AT THE REPORTING DATE 

-~~~~~~'---~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--~ 1••• '--~3-1_D_e_c_e_m2_0bje_!!r_ (in thousands of€) . ~ 

Interest in SBT 220 330 
Interests in various unlisted companies 879 319 
TOT AL 1,099 649 

19.2 CHANGES DURING THE YEAR 

(in thousands of€) 
Balance as at opening 
Acquisitions 
Disposals 
Changes in fair value 

BALANCE AT YEAR END 

NOTE 20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

- 31 December 
2018 

649 518 

561 53 
(2) 

(111) 80 

1,099 649 

-~~~~~~'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-lllllJIJiJJJLl11•• • -~-3-1_D_e_c_em~Q.b1-e8r_ (in thousands of€) ~ 
Trade receivables 39,867 35,589 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,737) (2,093) 
TRADE RECEIVABLES, NET 37,130 33,496 

Due to their short-term maturity, the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is close to the fair value. 
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As at 31December2018 

0-3 months 
25,254 
22,244 

3-6 months 
591 

1,820 

6-12 months 
285 
860 

>1 ear 
596 

3 

Total 
26,726 
24,927 

The trade receivables presented above comprise amounts due as at the reporting date and for wh ich the Group has 
not created an allowance for doubtful accounts, since it has no information on the solvency status of the relevant 
receivables and since these amounts are still considered recoverable. 

Change jn allowance for doubtful accounts 

(in thousands of€) 
Balance as at opening 
Impairment losses recognised during the year 
Impairment losses subject to a reversal 
Scope change 
Translation difference 
BALANCE AS AT YEAR END 

Aged balance of impaired receivables 

As at 31 December 2018 

NOTE 21 . OTHER ASSETS 

0-3 months 
384 
266 

3-6 months 
822 
450 

31 December 
2019 

(2,093) 
(1,114) 

602 

(97) 
(35) 

(2,737) 

31 December 
2018 

(1 ,400) 
(1 ,389) 

854 

(148) 
(10) 

(2,093) 

6-12 months >1 ear Total 
577 
487 

954 
890 

2,737 
2 093 

-....._~~~~~_._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~---'-;:: ,··. __ 3_1~D_e_c_em1.Qb.!e~r-(in thousands of€) _ 
Deposits and guarantees 1,031 859 
Consideration receivable on the capital increase in Sword GRC 
(previously Active Risk) (see Note 10) 
Other non-current receivables 
Total other non-current assets, gross amount 
Provisions for other non-current assets 
TOTAL OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS, NET AMOUNT 
Tax and social security receivables 
Consideration receivable on the capital increase in Sword GRC 
(previously Active Risk) (see Note 1 O)_ 
Consideration receivable on the disposal of Apak ~ee Note 13.1) 
Consideration receivable on the disposal of Tipik 
Other current receivables 
Total other current assets, gross amount 
Provisions for other current assets 
TOTAL OTHER CURRENTASSETS, NETAMOUNT 

813 
607 

2,451 
(3) 

2,448 
4,472 

406 

693 
5,571 

5,571 

1, 131 
541 

2,531 
(3) 

2,528 
4,066 

377 
1,500 

446 
1,381 
7,770 

7,770 

The fair value of 'other non-current assets' was determined on the basis of cash flows discounted at the Group's 
borrowing cost. The fair value of all financial assets making up this section was €2, 113,000 (compared with 
€2,245,000 as at 31 December 2018) and was classified as Level 2 in the fair-value hierarchy. The net carrying 
amount of the financial assets included in 'other current assets' is a reasonable approximation of their fair value due 
to their short-term maturity. 
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NOTE 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(in thousands of€) 
Cash and cash equivalents 
TOTAL 

31 December 

2019 
71 ,657 
71 ,657 

31 December 

2018 
112,929 
112,929 

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

(in thousands of€) 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Bank overdrafts n 
TOTAL 

<'> Included in other current financial debt 

NOTE 23. PENSION PLANS 

31 December 

2019 
71 ,657 

(612) 
71 ,045 

31 December 

2018 
112,929 

(849) 
112,080 

At the year end, the provisions for employee benefits consisted solely of provisions for post-employment benefits 
totalling €1 ,534,000 (compared with €1 ,079,000 in 2018). Post-employment benef its fall under defined-contribution 
pension plans and defined-benefit pension plans. 

23.1 DEFINED-BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 

This type of plan aims to award certain Group employees, under certain conditions, pension benefits when they 
decide to retire. Employees benefiting from this type of plan are mainly employed by the Group's French subsidiaries . 
There were 434 of them un total as at 31 December 2019 (compared with 471 as at 31 December 2018). 

In France, the amount of and conditions for granting such benefits are governed by a national collective agreement 
in the industry in which the Group is operating (SYNTEC agreement). 

The pension obligations were not subject to external coverage. 

Pension obligations and similar benefits are valued internally under the supervision of the Group's Finance 
Department. 

Items relating to post-employment benefits in comprehensive income can be analysed as follows: 

-'--~~~~~-'-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~--'-::::\ L___3_1_D_e_c_e_m_b_e_r_ (in thousands of€) __ 2018 
Cost of services rendered during the year 
Financial cost 
Items recognised in profit or loss for the year 

TOTAL 

(435) 
(23) 

(458) 
(458) 

(102) 
(25) 

(127) 
(127) 

The cost of services rendered during the year are recognised in staff expenses in the income statement. The financial 
costs are recognised in the financial result. 
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23.2 ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

The obligations were measured internally on the basis of assumptions updated regularly and reviewed annually. The 
following assumptions were adopted: - 31 December 

2018 
Discount rate n 
Adjustment rate for annual salaries 
Social security contribution rate 
Retirement age 
Staff rotation 
Mortality table 

r·1 The discount rate is based on iBox AA 10+. 
r .. J Variable depending on geographical area 

0.77% 1.62% 
1.50% 1.50% 

45% 45% 
65-67 years old 65-67 years old 

( .. ) ( .. ) 
INSEE 2018 INSEE 2017 

The average duration of the obligation in respect of services as at 31 December 2019 is less than onie year (the same 
as in 2018). 

23.3 CHANGE IN THE PRESENT VALUE OF OBLIGATIONS 

- 31 December 
(in thousands of €2 2018 
Balance as at opening 1,079 1,015 

Cost of services rendered during the year 367 102 

Financial cost 91 25 

Scope changes (13) 

Other changes (3) (50) 

BALANCE AS AT YEAR END 1,534 1,079 

Since the amounts provided are not significant at Group level, other disclosures under IAS 19 were omitted , 
specifically a sensitivity analysis showing the impact of changes made to certain actuarial assumptions on the value 
of pension-benefit commitments. 

NOTE 24. OTHER PROVISIONS 

(in thousands of €2 
Balance as at 31 December 2018 

Adjustments related to the adoption of IFRS 16 
Balance as at 1 January 2019 
Charges for provisions 
Write-backs on used provisions 
Translation differences 

Litigation risks 
4,222 

(2,783) 
1,439 

(1,340) 

Other TOTAL 
1,621 5,843 

(2,783) 
1,621 3,060 

541 541 
623) (1 ,963) 

1,539 1,639 l:fJtiH4it£ilii.i:t;;!i=i$;fMP•~---------1_0_0 _____ ~----~~-
current 100 1, 147 1,247 
Non-current 392 392 

*Following the adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, the Group reclassified the provisions for empty premises as 
a deduction from right-of-use assets. 
Provision charges/write-backs on provisions for lit igation risks a re included in 'Other non-recurring items' in the 
consolidated income statement. 
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NOTE 25. OTHER FINANCIAL DEBTS 

25.1 BREAKDOWN OF OTHER FINANCIAL DEBTS BY TYPE 

- 31 December 
(in thousands of €2 2018 

Bank borrowings 20,000 

Other borrowings and advances 87 

Other non-current financial debts 20,087 

Bank borrowings 5,500 

Other borrowings and advances 266 
Bank overdrafts 612 849 
other current financial! debts 878 6,349 

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL DEBTS 878 26,436 
At the end of 2018, bank borrowings were floating-rate borrowings. Their net carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of their fair value due to the fact that the fair value of the borrowings is determined on the basis of 
cash flows discounted at the Group's borrowing rate as at the reporting date. The fair value of bank borrowings is 
classified as falling within Level 2 of the fair-value hierarchy. 

25.2 MATURITIES 

(in thousands of €2 
Less than one year 
Between one and five years C' l 

More than five years 
TOTAL 

878 

878 

31 December 
2018 
6,349 

20,087 

26,436 
('J Classification at more than one year takes account of existing credit refinancing options negotiated for the Group. 

25.3 AVAILABLE LINES OF CREDIT 

(in thousands of €2 
Authorised amount 
Less than one year 
Between one and five years 
More than five years 
Amount drawn down 
Less than one year 
Between one and five years 
More than five years 
Available amount 
Less than one year 
Between one and five years 
More than five years 

130,000 

130,000 

130,000 

130,000 

31 December 
2018 

135,500 
5,500 

130,000 

25,500 
5,500 

20,000 

110,000 

110,000 

If borrowings are needed, the Group's banking arrangements require compliance with financial ratios: a 'net 
consolidated financial debt/consolidated EBITDA' ratio of less than 3 or 3.5 depending on the contracts, and a 'net 
consolidated financial debt/consolidated equity' ratio of less than 1. These financial ratios do not take into account 
changes brought about by the adoption of IFRS 16. 
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25.4 CHANGE IN FINANCIAL DEBT 

The change in financial debts (including rental obligations) during the years 2019 and 2018 is included in cash flows 
from financing activities (see the consolidated statement of cash flows). 

NOTE 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-·· . ,· · . ~~3-1_D_e_c_e_m2_!>b_1e~r-(in thousands of€) ~ 

Suppliers 5,370 6, 167 
Accrued invoices 12,806 11,365 
other 225 496 

TOTAL 18,401 18,028 

NOTE 27. OTHER LIABILITIES 

in thousands of€ 
Deposits and guarantees 
Contingent consideration on the acquisition of minority interests in Sword 
Charteris Ltd (see Note 10.~ 
Commitments to purchase securities heid by minority shareholders 
(see Note 10.4) 
Contingent consideration on the acquisition of ID&O s.a r.L, renamed 
'Sword s.a r.I.' (see Note 12.2) 
Other 

TOTAL OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Value-added tax and other taxes 
Social security and other social bodies 
Commitments to purchase securities he~d by minority shareholders 
(see Note 10.4) 
Deferred consideration on the acquisition of DataCo (see Note 12.1) 
Deferred consideration on the acquisition of minority interests in Sword 
Charteris Ltd (see Note 10.3) 
Contingent consideration on the acquisition of minority interests in Sword 
Charteris Ltd (see Note 10.3) 
Contingent consideration on the acquisition of ID&O s.a r.L, renamed 
'Sword s.a r.I.' (see Note 12.2) 
Contingent consideration on the acquisition of Magique Galileo 
Software Ltd (see Note 12. 1) 
Other 
TOTAL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

NOTE 28. TAXES 

28.1 BREAKDOWN OF TAX EXPENSE 

(in thousands of€) 
Tax on profit recognised in the profit for the year 

Current tax 
Deferred tax 
TOTAL 

31 December 
2019 

21 

4,960 

2,741 

92 
414 

8,228 
10,958 
10,085 

665 
240 

4,192 

181 

2,474 
459 

29,254 

5,016 
(78) 

4,938 

31 December 
2018 

restated 
22 

9,588 

3,231 

174 
60 

13,075 
9,087 
9,636 

622 

1,883 

5,379 

262 

84 
26,953 

31 December 
2018 

2,277 
(396) 
1,881 
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28.2 RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THEORETICAL AND ACTUAL TAX 

(in thousands of€) 
Profit before tax 
Average tax rate in force in Luxembourg 
Effective t ax burden 
Impact: 
- Expenses not deductible in determining taxable 12rofit 
- Revenue exempt from taxation 
- Differences in tax rate on profit 

of foreign subsidiaries 
- Gain on disposal at reduced rate 
- Use of previously non-capitalised tax losses 
- Non-capitalised tax on losses 
- Tax credit 
- Miscellaneous 
Effective tax burden 
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 

18,487 
31.47% 

5,818 

1,850 
(454) 

(1,863) 

(1,408) 
184 

18 
793 

4,938 
26.71% 

31 December 
2018 

85,675 
31.47% 
26,962 

427 
(4,758) 

(481) 
@3,246) 

(14~ 

2,915 
(~I) 
862 

1,881 
2.25% 

28.3 BREAKDOWN OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY TYPE 

Recognised in 
Balance Recognised other 

as at in profit o r comprehensive 
in thousands of€ loss income 

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 
Intangible assets @.7~ (68) (12) 
Deferred income 429 261 (6)_ 
Provisions 340 122 

(210} 315 (18} 
Tax losses 625 (237) 20 
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES} 415 78 2 

28.4 BALANCE OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

(in thousands of€) 
Deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax liabilities 
NET DEFERRED TAXES 

1,579 
(1 ,302) 

277 

(218) (1 ,277) 
684 
462 

(218} (131} 
408 

(218} 277 

31 December 
2018 
1,650 

(1 ,235) 
415 

The deferred tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2019 are mainly made up of deferred income and of pension 
and employee sharehold ing provisions, accounting for a total of €1 ,268,000_ They also include tax losses carried 
forward relating to the acquisition of MA Group Lid, a company established in the UK, in 2015 for €225,000. The 
recognition of this deferred tax asset is justified by the synergy operations implemented following this acquisition , 
which were aimed at improving the profit of the companies affected_ 
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28.5 UNRECOGNISED TAX DEFICITS 

As at the reporting date, the Group had, in various tax jurisdictions, tax losses of around €29,487,000 (compared 
with €29,431 ,000 in 2018) that are available to offset the future taxable profits of companies in which the tax losses 
arose, and for which no deferred tax asset was recognised due to the uncertainty of it being recovered. These 
unrecognised tax losses expire as follows: 

(in thousands of€) 
No expiry 
2021 
2022-2024 
2025 
2026 
2034 
2035 
2036-2039 
TOTAL 

NOTE 29. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

- 31 December 
2018 

20,634 22,874 
144 
397 673 
560 1,041 
133 
36 1,611 

5,895 3,232 
1,688 

29,487 29,431 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-;:: 1·-. -~31~D-ec_e_m~0b~e!r_ (in thousands of€) _ 
Gross compensation 75,478 64,347 
Social security contributions 16,337 13,464 
Other 1,823 978 
TOT AL 93,638 78, 789 

The Group's average head count is: 

Avera e head count 
Billable workforce 
Non-billable workforce 
TOTAL 

31 December 
2019 

1,277 
214 

1,491 

31 December 
2018 

1,040 
169 

1,209 
Employee benefits for which provisions have been made as at the reporting date are presented in Note 23. 

NOTE 30. PROVISION CHARGES AND REVERSALS 

-"--'-..;;..;._;;-'--'-~~'-'--'"--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-fl ,·-. -~3-1_D_e_c_e~m2~0b.1e~r-(in thousands of€) . _ 
Provision charges for retirement benefits (252) (128) 
Write-backs on pension provisions 3 
Charges for other provisions (268) 
Reversals on other provisions 340 
Allowances for doubtful accounts (1 , 114) 
Reversals on allowance·s for doubtful ac·counts 602 
TOTAL (688) 

(§2~) 

2 17 

_(1 ,38~) 

859 
(1 ,069) 
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NOTE 31 . INCOME FROM DISPOSALS OF ASSETS AND SUBSIDIARIES 

-....._~~~~~-'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-----'-·· • 1• • • '---3-1_D_e_c_e_m2_0b_1e~r-(in thousands of€) ~ 

Disposal costs (406) _(6,404) 
Income from the disposal of consolidated securities (111) 87,615 
Income from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 219 ~ 

Income from the disposal of intangible assets (62) 
TOTAL (360) 81 ,155 

NOTE 32. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON ASSETS 

-....._ __ --'--------'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-----'lllllldl!Ei£ili1• • • '---3-1_D_e_c_e~m2~0b2e~r-(inthousandsof€) --
Impairment loss on intangible assets (') (212) (3,041) 
TOTAL (212) (3,041) 

C"J Related to research and development of products that have become obsolete 

NOTE 33. OTHER NON-RECURRING ITEMS 

-...._~~~~~-'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-fl 1• • • "----3-1_D_e_c_e_m2_0bje~r-(in thousands of€) . ~ 

Litigation costs (1) (290) _(2,56§) 
Restructuring costs (363) 
Acquisition costs (593) 
Changes in fair value of the additional payment related to the acquisition of 
Venture Information Management Ltd 
Other expenses c2> 

Other income (3) 

TOTAL 
(1J The litigation is mainly commercial and social. 

(849) 
1,246 
(849) 

(Z64) 

(937) 
_(3,32~ 

(7,593) 

(2J Other expenses are principally made up of €138,000 (compared with €2,352,000 in 2018) for /eases for vacant 
offices and €696,000 (compared with €503,000 in 2018) for redundancy costs. 
(3J Other income refers to write-backs on provisions for industrial-tribunal risk, amounting to €808, 000, for litigation 
risk, totalling €352, 000, and for other risks, coming to €86, 000. 
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NOTE 34. FINANCIAL RESULT 

(in thousands of€) 
Gains on disposals of marketable securities and income from marketable 
securities 
Interest on term deposits 
Income from cash and cash equivalents 
Interest expense on borrowings and financial debt 
Interest expenses on lease obligations 
NET FINANCIAL DEBT COST 
Foreign-exchange gain 
Foreign-exchange loss 
Financial charges on non-consolidated securities and receivables 
Other financial expenses 
NET FINANCIAL RESULT 

NOTE 35. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

in thousands of€ and units of account 
Profit for the year attributable to the Company's owners: 
- Continuing operations 
- Discontinued operations 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation 
Impact of dilutive instruments 
Diluted weighted average number of shares 
Earnings per share 
Base net earnings per share 
Diluted net earnings per share 
Earnings per share - continuing operations 
Base net earnings per share 
Diluted net earnings per share 
Earnings per share - discontinued operations 
Base net earnings per share 
Diluted net earnings per share 

NOTE 36. SHARE CAPITAL 

- 19 
181 
200 

(319) 
(399) 
(518) 
1,315 

(1 ,243) 
17 

(132) 
(561) 

31 December 
2019 

13,250 

13,250 
9,533,860 

9,533,860 

1.39 
1.39 

1.39 
1.39 

31 December 
2018 

10 
189 
199 

(385) 

(1 86) 
529 

~17) 

@O~ 
(134) 

(1,010) 

31 December 
2018 

81,531 
4,548 

86,079 
9,532,927 

9,532,927 

9.03 
9.03 

8.55 
8.55 

0.48 
0.48 

As at 31 December 2019, share capital stood at €9,544,965 (unchanged from 31 December 2018), represented by 
9,544,965 shares (also unchanged from 31 December 2018) with a par value of €1 each, fully paid up. 

NOTE 37. TREASURY SHARES 

During 2019, 75,629 treasury shares were acquired, costing in total €2,366,000, and 88,891 treasury shares were 
sold, bringing in a total of €2,802,000. 

As at 31 December 2019, there were 4,040 treasury shares (compared with 17,302 treasury shares as at 
31 December 2018). 
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NOTE 38. DIVIDENDS 

The Ordinary General Meeting held on 29 Apri l 2019 approved a dividend of €1 .20 per share in 2019 for the allocation 
of the 2018 results, giving r ise to a total payout of €11,437,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019. 

NOTE 39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group had no stock-option plans in place. 

NOTE 40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

40.1 COMPENSATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
MANAGEMENT - 31 December 

(in thousands of €2 2018 
Short-term benefits: 

- Gross (excluding benefits in kind) 1,057 1,291 
- Employer contributions 248 316 

- Benefits in kind 117 110 
Directors' fees 131 108 

TOTAL 1,553 1,825 

Such remuneration pertained to 14 members of the Board of Directors and management (as in 2018). 

40.2 OTHER 

Financiere Semaphore, which holds a 17 .9% interest in the Group, provides the following services: 

~.· -• 31 December 
(inthousandsof€2 ~ 2018 
Management fees 
Fees related to acquisitions and disposals 

TOTAL 

352 
320 

672 

362 
500 

862 
During the year ended 31 December 2019, a company controlled by a Company di rector supplied Group companies 
with accounting and administrative services totalling €270,000 (down from €340,000 as at 31 December 2018). 

Loans of €1 , 197,000 (compared with €1 , 136,000 as at 31 December 2018) were granted to members of the Group's 
management to finance the acquisition of minority interests in certain Group subsid iaries. They are reimbursed at a 
rate of between 1 % and 3% per annum and will between 2020 and 2022. 

Since 1 January 2018, one of the Group's ·companies has occupied offices at 6 Rue Claude Chappe, FR-69370 Saint-
Didier-au-Mont-d'Or made available to the Group by SCI Decan, a company controlled by Financiere Semaphore, 
with the lease costing €266,000 p.a. The lease was set on the basis of market prices. This lease will expire on 
31 December 2028. 

Ruitor s.a r.I., a company controlled by Financiere Semaphore, provided the Group with offices in Luxembourg at a 
cost of€162,000 (the same as in 2018). 

On 21 December 2018, the Group signed a one-year renewable services contract with a company control led by 
Financie re Semaphore and called Le Connecteur, w ith a view to helping the Group search for investment targets . 
The value of services came to €130,000 in 2019 (compared with €1 60,000 in 2018). 
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NOTE 41 . OFF-BALANCE-SHEET COMMITMENTS 

-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-·- • 1·-. ~~3_1_o_e_c_e_m~0b-1e-8r_ (in thousands of€) • _ 
Operating leases 19,182 
Less than one year 4,407 
Between one and five years 10,641 
More than five years 4, 134 
Sureties for third parties 36 36 
Less than one year 
Between one and five years 
More than five years 
Other guarantees issued (1) 

Less than one year 
Between one and five years 
More than five years 
TOTAL 
( 1) Including performance guarantees 

36 

707 
16 

691 

743 

36 

585 
85 

500 

19,803 

Following the adoption of IFRS 16, leases have given rise, as of 1 January 2019, to the recognition of lease 
obligations whose maturity is set out in Note 18. 

NOTE 42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, there was no significant risk of contingent liabilities. 

NOTE 43. AUDITORS' FEES 

The table below details the amount of auditors' fees for 2019 and 2018: 

(in thousands of€) 
Auditors & certification (separate & consolidated) 
Legal, t.ax and management consulting 
Other 
TOTAL 

NOTE 44. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On 2 January 2020, Sword GRC Group ltd absorbed Magique Galileo Software Ltd. 

31 December 
2018 

650 748 
8 18 

6 
658 772 

In early 2020, the existence of a new coronavirus, now known as COVID-1 9, was confirmed. Since· then, COVID-19 
has spread in China and across a lot of other countries, causing a sudden slowdown of the global economy, which 
has had an impact on the stock markets. The Group regards the emergence and spread of COVID-19 as a 
subsequent event that does not give rise to an adjustment of the consolidated financial statements. Given the 
uncertainties surrounding the epidemic, Sword Group is unable at this stage to determine exactly what impact 
COVID-19 will have on its future performance. 

However, the Group does expect it to result in a decrease in revenue and therefore a drop in earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items (EBITDA), although the impact should be 
mitigated by teleworking and staff furloughing. 

Given the largely positive net cash position (after the deduction of bank debt) and its ability to draw on lines of credit 
worth €130 million, Sword Group's management believes that the Group has a competitive advantage and that its 
going concern basis still very much holds .. 
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Brexit's impact is considered to be limited at this stage. In 2019, the United Kingdom accounted for 29% of revenue 
and 30%1 of EBITDA. As the Group uses sterling for its UK operations, the impact on the Group's operating margin 
(EBITDA expressed as a percentage of sales) is anticipated to be immaterial. 

NOTE 45. RESTATED SUMMARY TABLES 

Restatement of the consolidated statement of financial position 

31 December Adjustment 31 December 
1 January Impact of 2018 of put options 201 8 over minority 

(in thousands of€) 2019 IFRS 16 (restated) interests (published) 

A SSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Goodwill 66,200 66,200 66,200 
Other intangible assets 6,812 6,812 6,812 
Property, plant and equipment 3,720 3,720 3,720 
Right-of-use assets 18,174 18, 174 0 
Investments in associates 865 865 865 
Financial assets at fa ir value through 
other comprehensive income 649 649 649 
Deferred tax assets 1,650 1,650 1,650 
Other assets 2,528 2,528 2,528 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 100,598 18,174 82,424 82,424 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Trade and other receivables 33,496 33,496 33,496 
Work in progress 23,655 23,655 23,655 
Current tax assets 2,500 2,500 2,500 
Other assets 7,770 7,770 7,770 
Cash and cash equivalents 112,929 112,929 112,929 
Pre~aid ex~enses 5,029 (312~ 5,341 5,341 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 185,379 (312~ 185,691 185,691 
TOT AL ASSETS 285,977 17,862 268, 115 268, 115 

See Notes 2. 2 and 2.4 for more details. 
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31 December Adjustment 31 December 
1 January Impact of 2018 of put options 2018 over minority 

(in thousands of€) 2019 IFRS 16 (restated) interests (published) 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

EQUITY 

Sl!are capital 9,545 9,545 9,545 
Share premium 70,676 70,676 70,676 
Reserves 1,563 1,563 1,563 
Retained earnings 62,519 {619} 63, 138 {3,852} 66,990 
TOTAL EQUITY- GROUP SHARE 144,303 {619} 144,922 (3,852} 148,774 
Non-controll ing interests 
(minoriti'. interests} 2,374 (72) 2,446 2,343 103 
TOTAL EQUITY 146,677 (691) 147,368 (1,509) 148,877 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Lease obligations 15,286 15,286 
Other financial debts 20,087 20,087 20,087 
Pension provisions 1,079 1,079 1,079 
Other provisions 927 (~.09~ 3,022 3,022 
Deferred tax liabilities 1,235 1,235 1,235 
Other liabilities 13,075 13,075 1, 131 11,944 
TOT AL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 51 ,689 13, 191 38,498 1, 131 37,367 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Lease obligations 6,051 6,051 
Other financial debts 6,349 6,349 6,349 
Other provisions 2,132 @_8~ 2,821 2,821 
Trade and other payables 18,028 18,028 18,028 
Current tax liabilities 520 520 520 
Other liabilities 26,953 26,953 378 26,575 
Pre~aid services 27,578 27,578 27,578 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 87,611 5,362 82,249 378 81,871 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 139,300 18,553 120,747 1,509 119,238 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 285,977 17,862 268,115 268,115 

See Notes 2. 2 and 2.4 for more details. 
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5.7 REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D'ENTREPRISES AGREE (STATUTORY AUDITOR) ON 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sword Group S.E. and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year th1en ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by th1e European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit 
profession (Law of 23 July 2016) and with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the "Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier" (CSSF). Our responsibilities under those Regulation, 
Law and standards are further described in the « Responsibilities of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements » section of our report. We are also independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF together with the ethical requ irements that 
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
under those eth ical requirements. We bel ieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

Reasons for which a key audit matter has been Response to the identified key audit matte·r 
raised 
Goodwill impairment 
As at 31 December 2019, goodwill stands at a net We checked the cash-flow forecasts included in the annual 
value of K€74,249. Under the IFRS standards as goodwill impairment tests by considering the exact nature of 
adopted by the EU, the Company must perform a previous forecasts. 
goodwill impairment test at least once a year. 
Impairment tests are s ignificant for our audit in For our audit, we also critically examined and tested the key 
light of the complexity of the valuation process and assumptions, methodologies, weighted average cost of capital 
the judgement and the assumptions adopted and other data used and issued by management, for example 
which are subject to economic developments and comparing them with external and historical data, such as 
future business conditions. external market growth forecasts. We performed a sensitivity 

analysis within the framework of the valuation model used by the 
Group. 
Our department specialising in assessing valuations was 
integrated into the audit team to assist us with these activities_ 
We focused on the sensitivity of the available margin in cash-
generating units, evaluating whether any reasonable change in 
the assumptions could cause the net carrying amount to exceed 
the estimated value. We assessed the accuracy of previous 
estimates made by the Board of Directors. 
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We also verified the appropriacy of the information in Note 15.3 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Key observations communicated to those Based on the audit procedures carried out, we have identified no 
charged with governance material misstatements. 

Reasons for which a key audit matter has been Response to the identified key audit matte·r 
raised 
Revenue recognition 

As detailed in Note 7 to the financial statements, Our activities include assessing the revenue recognition method 
the Group sells its services to various customers for complex contracts. 
and operates in a range of geographical and 
business sectors. 

International Standards on Auditing require 
auditors to assume a fraud risk in revenue 
recognition when initially assessing the risk of 
material misstatements. 

Some of the Group's revenue is generated by 
large-scale, complex contracts. As a result, it is 
necessary to assess th.e conditions under which 
risks and benefits are transferred to the buyer, in 
order to evaluate whether the income and 
expenses should be recognised in the current 
period. 

Key observations communicated to those 
charged with governance 

Other information 

Drawing on the work already carried out by the subsidiaries' 
auditors, we tested the design and effectiveness of the controls 
implemented by management relating to analysing revenue 
recognition and identifying unusual contractual clauses. 

Our activities included random testing of documentation 
indicating the delivery of licences or services, including contracts 
and correspondence with third parties, with a view to ensuring 
the accuracy and completeness of revenue recognition. 

We assessed the appropriacy of previous estimates made by 
management regarding the work in progress. 

Based on the audit procedures carried out, we have identified no 
material misstatements. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the consolidated management report and the Corporate Governance Statement but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our report of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our aUJdit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report this fact. We have Mthing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union relating to the preparation and 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group's 
ability to continue as a going concern, dis,closing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Responsibilities of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the 
"Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 
2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements cam arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion , 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances , but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists. we are required to draw attention in our report of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises 
Agree" to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our report of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree". However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence. and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter. 

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

We have been appointed as "Reviseur d'IEntreprises Agree" by the General Meeting of the Shareholders on 29 
April 2019 and the duration of our uninterrupted engagement, including previous renewals and reappointments, is 8 
years. 

The consolidated management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and has been 
prepared in accordance w ith applicable legal requirements. 

The Corporate Governance Statement. as published on the Company's website http://www.sword-qroup.com • is 
the responsibility of the Board of Directors. The information required by Article 68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) 
of the amended law of 19 December 2002 on the commercial and companies register and on the accounting 
records and annual accounts of undertakings, as amended, is consistent, at the date of this report, with the 
consolidated financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

We confirm that the audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee or equivalent. 

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services referred to in the EU Regulation No 537/2014, on the audit 
profession were not provided and that we remain independent of the Group in conducting the audit. 

Luxembourg, 27 March 2 020, 

For MAZARS LUXEMBOURG, Cabinet de revision agree 
5, rue Guillaume Kroll 
L - 1882 Luxembourg 

Olivier BIREN 
Reviseur d'entreprises agree 
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6 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 
2019 

6.1 BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 

ASSETS 
Refer ence(s) Current ye41.r Pre-v iou.s y~r 

A. Su bscribed ca pital unp aid 1101 101 0,00 m 0,00 

I. Subscribed capita I not called 11cn Im 0,00 ... 0,00 

II. Subscribed capita l called but 
unpaid 11a; 1cg 0,00 l:i6 0,00 

B. Formation expenses 11a7 !::11 0,00 IOll 0,00 

c. Fix l!d assl!ts l1CIO I~ 196.325.901,24 110 212926.725,18 
I. In tangible assets 1111 4.1 t11 27.85l60 m 64.76.3,<)4 

1. Costs of development 1111 llJ 0,00 lit 0,00 

2. Concessions, patents, licences, 
trade martcs an d similar rights 
and assets, if th ey were ms m 27.852.60 116 64.76].()4 

a) acquired for valuable 
consideration and need not be 
shown under CJ3 1117 117 27.852,60 111 64.763,()4 

b) created by t he undertaking 
itself 1119 n? 0,00 1111 0,00 

3. Goodwill, to th e extent that it 
was acquired for va luable 
consid eration 1121 lll1 0,00 Ill 0,00 

4. Payme nts on account and 
1intangible assets under 
d evelopment 1121 Ill 0,00 m 0,00 

II. Tangible assets ms 4.2 t:lS 0,00 ll£ 0,00 

1. Land and build ings 1177 127 0,00 Ill 0,00 

2. Plant and machinery mo IJ'J o.oo ! JO 0,00 

3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools 
and equipment 1111 111 0,00 132 0,00 

4. Payments on account and 
tangible assets in the course 
of construction 11ll l1J 0.00 114 0,00 

Ill. Financial assets IUS 5 m 196.298.048,64 116 212.861.961,24 

1. Shares in affiliated undertakings 1137 5.1 m 196.078.483, 99 Ill 212.531.642,74 

2. Loans to affiliated undertakings 1119 119 0,00 140 0,00 

3. Participating interests 1\4, 141 0,00 141 0,00 

4. Loans to undertakings with 
which the undertaking is linked 
by virtue of participating 
interests 1143 !4) 0,00 , .. 0,00 

5. Investments held as fixed 
assets 114$ 5.2 l<S 219.564,65 14' 330.318,50 

6 . Other loans 1141 141 0,00 148 0,00 

The n otes hereafter form a n integral p.art of the annual account s . 
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ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
ReferMce(sJ Current year Previous yHr 

0. Current assets 11Sl lS1 52.709.098,67 1Sl 35.395.732,02 

I. Stocks nu '" o.oo 154 o.oo 
1. Raw materials and consumables ms m o.oo 116 0,00 

2. Work in progress 1157 m 0,00 151 o.oo 
3. Finished goods and goods 

for resale 1159 ,.. 0,00 160 0.00 

4. Payments o n account 1161 161 0,00 162 o.oo 
II. Debtors 11'1 l&l 26.785.647,27 1 .. 23.129.467,09 

1. Trade debtors 11'5 1'5 44.495.83 166 84.701,1 0 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 11'7 9.1 1'7 44.495,83 161 84.701,10 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year ,,.. 1 .. 0,00 1111 o.oo 

2. Amounts owed by affiliated 
undertakings 1171 171 25.587.400.S:2 m 21.352.803,29 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1111 m 25.587.400,52 m 21.352.803,29 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year 1115 175 0,00 176 0,00 

3. Amounts owed by undertakings 
with which the undertaking is 
linked by virtue of participating 
interests 1117 177 o.oo 171 0,00 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1119 93 179 0,00 180 0,00 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year 1111 181 o.oo ,., 0,00 

4. Other debtors 1111 6 111 U53.750,92 114 1.691.962,70 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 111> ,., 1.153.750,92 106 948.530,61 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year 11'1 ,., o.oo , .. 743.432.09 

Ill. Investments 11119 ,.., 132.629.88 '"' 501.758,01 

1. Shares in affiliated undertakings 1\91 101 0,00 ,., 0,00 

2. Own shares '"" ,.,. 132.629,88 210 501.758,01 

3. Othe r investments 1105 7.4 , .. 0,00 , .. 0,00 

IV. Cash at bank and in hand 1107 ,., 25.790.821,52 , .. 11.764.506,92 

E. Prepayments 110'l , .. 402.342,65 ""' 279.065,24 

TOl AL (ASSETS) Nl ~~~-2_4_9_.4_3_7_.34~2,~5_6 l<1l ~~~-2_4_8_.6_0_1._52_2~A4~ 

The notes hereafter form an integral p.art of the annual accounts. 
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

RefereflCe(s) Current year Previous year 

A. Capital and reserves UD1 7. 7.J 3>1 244.266.049,89 )"2 223.804.946.14 
I. Subscribed capital um 7.1, 7.J 3:11 9.544.965,00 ].;,& 9.544.965,00 
IL Share premium account Ila> 7.1.7.J 3C6 70.676.064,46 ):.6 70.676.064,46 
Ill. Revaluation resente ""' = o.oo "" o.oo 
N. Reserves llOI> 309 1.087 .126,38 llO 1.456.254,51 , . Legal reserve 011 7.2. 7.J 3l1 954.496,50 312 954.496,50 

2. Reserve for own shares llll 7.4. 7.J 31J 132.629,88 114 501.758,01 
3. Reserves provided for by the 

artid es of association 1115 lU 0,00 llfo 0,00 

4. Other reserves, ind uding the 
fair value reserve ,.,,, •1'1 o.oo ClO 0,00 
a) other .wailable reserves "11 .i1 0,00 "12 0,00 

b) other non available reserves ICD •» 0,00 ClC 0,00 
v. Profit or loss brought forward lllO 7.J 319 131.059.339.50 llO ll0.091.1 25.36 
VI. Profit or los.s for t he financial year n11 7.J 321 31.898.554.SS 322 46.352.971.61 
VII. Interim dividends llll 7.J 321 0,00 ll< -34.316.434,80 
VII I. Capital investment subsidies 13.lS 31S o.oo ll6 o.oo 

B. Provisions llll 331 0,00 ll2 46.340,00 
1. Provisions for pensions and 

similar obligat ions llll lll o.oo ll4 0,00 

2. Provisions for taxation Ill> IS 315 0,00 ]JO o.oo 
3. Other provisions llJ7 3l7 0,00 338 46.340,00 

c. Creditors 105 illlS 5.171.292.67 Cl6 24.750.236.30 , . Debenture loans l<J7 •n o.oo Cl8 0,00 

a) Convertible loons 1411 4l9 o.oo '"° 0,00 
i) tH!c:oming due and pay;ible 

within one year lUI "" o.oo co o.oo 
ii) tH!c:oming due and pay;ible 

<ifter more th.in one ye.ir ICG Ml 0,00 «• 0,00 

b) Non convertible loans .... ... o.oo ..... 0,00 

i) tH!c:oming due and pay;ible 
within one year t.W "47 o.oo ... o.oo 

ii) tH!c:oming due and pay;ible 
after more than one year 1449 "'9 0,00 •.w 0,00 

2. Amounts owed to credit 
institutions llSS 8 3<5 25.017.35 "" 20.042.097A3 

<l) tH!c:oming due and pay;ible 
within one year 11<7 3<7 25.017,35 151 42.097A3 

b) tH!c:oming due and pay;ible 
after more than one year IJSP 3~9 o.oo l60 20.000.000,00 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the annual accounts . 
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

Reference(sl Current year Previous ye..r 

3. Payments received o n account 
of ord ers in so far as th ey are 
not shown separat ely as 
deductions from stocks 11'1 )!,1 o.oo )!,1 0,00 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one yea r 1161 1£1 0,00 ... 0,00 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than ooe year Ill& 5 0,00 )66 0,00 

4. Trade creditors 1161 l61 1.065.532.73 158 1.138.746, 12 
a) becoming due and payable 

within one yea r 1161 :1691 1 :065.532,73 310 1-138.746, 12 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than ooe year 1111 m 0.00 m 0;00 

5. Bi lls of exchang e payable 1171 ]71 0,00 31• 0,00 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one yea r Ul'5 ]Js; 0,00 376 0,00 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than ooe year 11n l1T o.oo l1I 0,00 

6. Amounts owed to affil iated 
undertakings llJ'l 9.1 17'll 3.038.375,21 "" 3 .003 .565.71 

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year UBI El 3.038.375,21 31;2 3.003.565,71 

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than ooe year lllO m 0,00 ]Si 0,00 

7. Amounts owed to undertakings 
with which the undertaking is 
linked by virtue of participating 
interests IJll5 J.!S 0,00 li6 0,00 

a} becoming due and payable 
within one yea r llSI w 0,00 li8 0,00 

b) becoming due and payable 
.;ifter more th.;in ooe ye.;ir lllD m 0,00 3IO 0,00 

8. Other creditors ICSI 4S1 1.()42367,38 •SJ 565.827,()4 

a) Tax ;urthorities 11111 m 687.198,01 .l9i 563.185,90 
b} Social security authorities lll!S 195 5.169,37 ] 116 2.641, 14 
C) Other credit ors 11!17 l'lT 350.000,00 »I 0,00 

i) becoming due and 
payable within one year tl'l9 J ... 350.000,00 •:AJ o.oo 

ii) becoming due and 
payable after more than 
one year ICGI ,,, 0,00 '" 0,00 

0. Deferr~ income um .:.:i 0,00 ,,. 0,00 

TOTAL (CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES) 249.437 342,56 .,. 248.601.52],.44 
~~~~~~~~ 

The notes hereafter form an integral p.art of the annual accounts. 
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6.2 INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

Reference(s) Current year Previous year 

1. Net turnover '"'' 9.1. 10 "'' 4.005.380,33 ""2 3578.441,39 

2. Va rlatlon In stocks of finished 
goods and In work In progress '"" o.oo "" o.oo 

3. Work performed by tihe undertaking 
for Its own purposes a nd capltallsed '"" ""' o.oo ,.,. o.oo 

4. Otiher operating lnco me 1m 11 m 452.035.81 114 4.167.649,05 

s. Raw materials and consumables and 
other external expenses "'" .,., -3.783.489.10 fin -7366.8n.62 
a) Raw materials and consumables 1ii01 li01 -8.618,90 YD -5.268,84 

b) Other external expenses ""' 11 "" -3.7741.870,20 '"" -7 36'1.608,78 

6. Staff costs '""" 12 .... -168.282,48 ..,. -158.825,69 
a) Wages and salaries ""' fil11 -152.117,64 ..,. -142.825,57 

b) Social security costs '""' ..,., -16.164.84 610 -16.000,12 

i) relating to pensions ""' "'' ·9.986,04 ... -9.693,11 
ii) other social security costs '"'' ill -6.178.80 "6 -0.307,01 

c) Other staff costs 1011 ... o.oo .,. o.oo 

7. Value adjustments ""' ... , -3.236.911.34 ... -1386.817.45 
a) In respect of formation expenses 

and of tangible and intangible 
fixed asset s ,,... 4 ... -36.91 1,34 .... -89.705,76 

b) in respect of current assets , .. , 9.1.13.1 .. , -3.200.000,00 ..., -1.297.111,69 

8. Otiher operating expenses ""' 17 ''" -95.045.00 m -107.238.89 

The notes hereafter form an integral part of the annual accounts. 
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (CONTINUED) 

R11f11rence(s) Current yll<lr Previous year 

9. Income from participating Interests 17lS 715 60.675..528.79 "' 44.900.004A2 
a) derived from affiliated undertakings 1717 14 717 60.675.528,79 711 44.900.004A2 

b) other income from participating 
Interests 1719 7 10 o.oo no o.oo 

1 O. Income from other Investments and 
loans forming part of the fixed assets m t 721 22.937,03 m 0,00 
a) derived from affiliated undertakings 112l 7ll 0,00 n • o.oo 
b) other income not included under a) ms 72S 22.937,03 7'fi 0,00 

11. Othe r Interest receivable and s lmllar 
Income 1727 721 954.981,21 721 1.085.066,69 
a) derive<! from affiliate<:! undertakings mo 9.1 720 736.353,03 no 727.381,66 
b) other interest and similar income 17]\ 7ll 218.628,18 7]2 357.685,03 

12. Share of profit or loss of 
undertakings accounted for under 
the equity method ,..., 0,00 ... o.oo 

13. Value adjustme nts In respect of 
flnanclal assets and of Investments 
he'ld as curre nt assets .... 13.2 ,.,.. -26.446.528,95 ... 231s.136,65 

14. Interest payable and s lmllar expenses 1'27 "" -422.820,13 ""' -608.776,94 
a) concerning affiliate d undertakings ,.,. 9.1 .,. -4.472,47 &JO -12.797,04 
b) ot her Interest and similar expenses '"'' &JI -418.347,66 6'12 -595.979,90 

15. Tax on profit or loss 16JS 15 &JS 0,00 ... 0,00 

16. Profit or loss after taxation 1067 ..., 31.957.786,17 ... 46.417.761,61 

17. Other taxes not shown under Items 
1to16 ,.., IS "'' -59.231,62 ... -64.790,00 

18. Profit or loss for t he financial year .... ... 31.898.554,55 Qll 46.352.971,61 

The notes hereafter form an integral p.art of the annual accounts. 
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6.3 NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

Note 1: General information 

Sword Group SE, hereinafter referred to as "the Company", is a European company (Societas Europaea, or SE) 
whose registered office was transferred on 26 March 2012 from France to Luxembourg. 

The Company's purpose is: 

to acquire by way of participation, contribution, subscription, underwriting, purchase option or negotiation or 
in any other manner any securities, titles, rights, patents and licences and other rights in rem, personal rights 
and interests, such as the Company deems necessary; 
generally to hold, manage, develop and sell them in full or in part, for the price that the Company deems fit 
and in particular in return for shares or securities of any company purchasing them; 
to conclude, assist with or take part in financial, business or other transactions; 
to grant to any holding company, :subsidiary or any other company associated in one way or another with the 
Company or any company belonging to the same group of companies (the "Associate") any assistance, 
loans, advances, guarantees or sureties (in the last two cases, including to third parties lending to the 
Associate); 
to borrow or raise funds in any manner whatsoever and to guarantee the repayment of any borrowed funds; 
to provide administrative consultancy services or carry out any other research, development and supervisory 
activities; any consultancy and production activities in the field of information systems; 
generally to conduct any type of activity that might seem incidental or facilitate the attainment of all or any 
one of the above purposes; 
to conduct any commercial, technical and financial tasks, directly or indirectly connected to the areas 
described above, to facilitate the .accomplishment of its purpose; 
to act directly or indirectly and carry out all these operations on its own behalf or on behalf of third parties , 
either alone or w ith any other person or company, either by itself or in association with company groupings 
or associations, doing so in any form; also to acquire interests and shareholdings in any companies or 
business deals of any nature whatsoever; generally to hold, manage, develop and sell them in full or in part, 
for the price that the Company deems fit and in particular in return for shares or securities of any company 
purchasing them; 
to conclude, assist with or take part in financial, business or other transactions; 
to grant to any holding company, :subsidiary or any other company associated in one way or another with the 
Company or any company belonging to the same group of companies (the "Associate") any assistance, 
loans, advances, guarantees or sureties (in the last two cases, including to third parties lending to the 
Associate); 
to borrow or raise funds in any manner whatsoever and to guarantee the repayment of any borrowed funds; 
to provide administrative consultancy services or carry out any other research, development and supervisory 
activities; any consultancy and production activities in the field of information systems; 
generally to conduct any type of activity that might seem incidental or facilitate the attainment of all or any 
one of the above purposes; 
to conduct any commercial, technical and financial tasks, directly or indirectly connected to the areas 
described above, to facilitate the .accomplishment of its purpose. 

It may act directly or indirectly and carry out all these operations on its own behalf or on behalf of third parties, either 
alone or with any other person or company, either by itself or in association with company groupings or associations, 
and it may do so in any form. It may also acquire interests and shareholdings in any companies or business deals of 
any nature whatsoever. 

The Company, having its registered office in Windhof, was established for an indefinite period on 22 June 2001 . 

The Company prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Law of 19 December 2002 on the 
accounting and annual accounts of companies in Luxembourg, as amended (hereinafter referred to as "the Law of 
19 December 2002, as amended"). The Company is listed on NYSE Euronext in Paris under ISIN number 
FR0004180578. 
The consolidated financial statements are available at the following address on the Company's website : 
https://www.sword-qroup.com/en/investors/#financial-documents. 
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Note 2: Significant accounting policies 

The Company keeps its books in euros. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements under the historical-cost convention. The financial year coincides with 
the calendar year. 

Accounting policies and valuation rules ar,e - besides the ones laid down by the Law of 10 August 1915, as amended 
- defined by the Board of Directors. The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates by the Board of Directors which exercises its judgement in the process of applying the 
accounting policies. Any change in accounting estimates can g ive rise to a significant impact on the financial 
statements. The Board of Directors believes that the assumptions associated with these estimates are appropriate 
and that the financial statements present the Company's financial position and results fairly. 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
next period. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Note 3: Measurement rules 

3.1 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognised on the assets side of the balance sheet at historical cost, including incidental 
expenses, less depreciation calculated based on the estimated lives of property and allowances. Allowances are not 
continued if the reasons behind them no longer apply. This item, depreciated at a straight-line rate of 33%, is 
represented by a software licence and a website. 

3.2 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is recognised on the assets side of the balance sheet at historical cost, including 
incidental expenses, less depreciation calculated based on the estimated lives of property and allowances. 
Allowances are not continued if the reasons behind them no longer apply. This item is depreciated at a straight-line 
rate of 20% and is represented by computer hardware. 

Note 3: Measurement rules 

3.3 Financial assets 

Financial assets are valued at historical cost, including incidental expenses or par value (loans and receivables). In 
the event of an impairment which, in the opinion of the Board, is of a permanent nature, financial assets are subject 
to allowances. Allowances are not continued if the reasons behind them no longer apply. 

To determine the existence of any allowances relating to investments in associates, the Board of Directors took as 
its basis the difference between the net carrying amount of each investment and the relevant recoverable amount, 
determined on the basis of three-year cash-flow forecasts. 

3.4 Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at their par value. They are subject to allowances when their recovery is compromised . 
Allowances are not continued if the reasons behind them no longer apply. 

3.5 Securities 

The securities represented by shares in money market funds are measured at their fair value which is the latest price 
available as at the reporting date. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account. 

The securities represented by treasury shares in the Company are measured at their acquisition price, including 
incidental expenses. An allowance is recognised when the historical cost is less than the market price. According to 
the provisions of Article 430-18 of the Law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended, an unavailable 
reserve with the value of treasury shares included in the balance sheet has been established on the liabilities side. 

The marlket value corresponds to the latest price available on the day of valuation for securities officially allowed to 
be listed on the exchange or on another regulated market. 

3.6 Deferred charges and accrued income 

This item comprises expenses recognised during the year but which are attributable to a subsequent year. 
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3.7 Provisions 
At the end of each year, provisions are made to cover losses or debts which are clearly defined in nature but which 
as at the reporting date are either probable or certain and yet the amount or date of payment is uncertain, for all 
foreseeable risks and costs. Provisions relating to previous years are reviewed regularly and recognised in profit or 
loss if they are no longer required. 

3.8 Payables 

Payables are recognised at their reimbursement value. Payables are recognised as contingent liabilities when their 
status is subject to unsecured debts. 

3.9 Conversion of foreign-currency accounts 

All transactions denominated in a currency other than the euro are recognised at the exchange rate prevailing as at 
the transaction date. As at the reporting date: 

All assets denominated in currencies other than the euro, with the exception of bank deposits, securities, 
short-term receivables and fixed assets, are individually valued at the lowest value, the historical exchange 
rate or the value determined on the basis of exchange rates prevailing as at the reporting date. 
All liabilities denominated in currencies other than the euro, w ith the exception of short-term debt, are valued 
individually at the highest value, the historical exchange rate or the value determined on the basis of 
exchange rates prevailing as at the reporting date. 
Bank deposits, securities, receivables and short-term debt, by their liquid nature, denominated in currencies 
other than the euro, are valued at the exchange rate prevailing as at the reporting date. 
All fixed assets denominated in currencies other than the euro are converted into euros at the historica l 
exchange rate prevailing as at the transaction date. As at the reporting date, these fixed assets are converted 
at the historical exchange rate. 

Income and expenses in currencies other than the euro are converted into euros at the exchange rate prevailing as 
at the transaction date. Tlherefore, only realised foreign-exchange gains and losses and unrealised foreign-exchange 
losses are recognised in the profit and loss statement. 

3.10 Revenue 

Revenue includes amounts resulting from services rendered by the Company to associates, net of any sales rebates 
and of value-added tax and other taxes related to sales. 
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Note 4: Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 

4.1 Intangible assets 

In the year ended 31 December 2019, intangible assets developed as follows: 

Dealerships Advances 
Patents and licences paid 

Purchase price as at opening 317,448_53 o_oo 

Newly consolidated companies 0.00 0.00 
Transfers 0.00 0.00 
Purchase price as at year end 317,448.53 0.00 

Allowances as at opening 
(252,684.59) 

Charges for the year (36,911 .34) 

Reversals for the year 
Allowances as at year end 

(289,595.93) 

Net amount as at year end 27,852.60 

Net amount as at opening 64,763.94 

4.2 Property, plant and equipment 

TOTAL 

317,448_53 

0.00 
0.00 
317,448.53 

(252,684.69) 

(36,911 .34) 

(289,595.93) 

27,852.60 

64,763.94 

In the year ended 31 December 2019, property, plant and equipment developed as follows: 

Investments held as Other fixtures, tools and TOT AL 
fixed assets furniture 

Purchase price as at opening 19,294.00 

Newly consolidated companies -
Deconsolidations 
Purchase price as at year end 19,294.00 

Allowances as at opening (19,294.00) 

Charges for the year 

Reversals for the year 

Allowances as at year end (19,294.00) 

Net amount as at year end 

Net amount as at opening 

40,592.04 

40,592.04 

(40,592.04) 

(40,592.04) 

59,886.04 

59,886.04 

(59,886.04) 

(59,886.04) 
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Note 5: Financial assets 

In the year ended 31 December 2019, financial assets developed as follows: 

Shares in associates Investments and other TOTAL 
financial instruments held 
as fixed assets 

Purchase price as at opening 214,998,055.40 1,377,858.54 216,375,913.94 

Newly consolidated companies 9,926,732.09 9,926,732.09 

Deconsolidations (30,000.00) (30,000.00) 

Transfers 

Purchase price as at year end 224,894,787.49 1,377,858.54 226,272,646.03 

Allowances as at opening (2,466,412.66) (1 ,047,540.04) (3,513,952.70) 

Charges for the year (27 ,369,250.00) (110, 753.85) (27,480,003.85) 

Reversals for the year 1,019,359.16 1,019,359.16 

Amount carried forward from 
the ear 

Allowances as at year end (28,816,303.50) (1 , 158,293.89) (29,97 4,597.39) 

Net amount as at year end 196,078,483.99 219,564.65 196,298,048.64 

Net amount as at opening 212,531,642.74 330,318.50 212,861,961.24 

5.1 Investments in associates 

During 2019, the Comparny performed the following operations: 

Sword Creation lnformatique Ltd was liquidated. As the acquisition price of €30,000.00 had been fully 
impaired since 2015, the Company recovered a net amount of €11 ,466.49. 

Following an internal reorganisation of the Group, the Company purchased from one of its subsidiaries all 
the shares in Sword Technologies SA, a company incorporated in Luxembourg, for a total of 
€8,937,372.93. 

The Company purchased 49% of Tipik Communication Agency SA for €9'89,359.16. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors believed that: 

for Sword Sol s.a r.L, Sword Technologies SA, Sword Solutions Inc. and Sword Suisse Holding, the value 
of the companies exceeds the historical acquisition price. 

Tipik Communication Agency SA shares were partially impaired. This impairment covered €1 ,447,053.50 
and therefore involved an allowance reversal of €989,359.16 over the course of 2019. 

Sword Soft Ltd shares were also partially impaired, this time to the tune of €23,004,580.00, following the 
distribution of significant dividends of €50,006,371 .58 in 2019. 

Sword Technologies SA shares were partially impaired too, with this relating to €4,364,670.00. 

To determine the existence of any allowances relating to investments in associates, the Board of Directors took as 
its basis the difference between the net carrying amount of each investment and the relevant recoverable amount, 
determined on the basis of three-year cash-flow forecasts. 
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5.1 Investments in associates (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019, investments in associates were represented by: 

Subsidiary name %held Purchase price Equity as at Profit or loss 
31/12/2019 as at 

31/12/2019 

Sword Soft Ltd 
(1000 Great West Road , Brentford, 100% 161 ,366,200.00 40,310,925 30,143 
Middlesex, TW8 9DW, UK) 

Sword Sol s.a r.L 
(2 Rue d'Arlon, 8399 Wundhof, 100% 18,849,792.32 9,454,145 2,011 ,930 
Luxembourg) 

Sword Technologies S.A. 
(2 Rue d'Arlon, 8399 Wiindhof, 100% 8,937,372.93 2, 143,796 470,488 
Luxembourg) 

Sword Solutions Inc. 
(30 Broad Street, 14th Floor, New York, 100% 1,302,000.00 1,660,044 (46,900) 
NY 10004, USA) 

Sword Suisse Holding SA 
(19 Avenue des Baumettes, 
1020 Renens, Switzerland) 100% 31 ,013,650.42 22,866,022 1,900,096 

Tipik Communication Agency SA 98% 3,425,771.82 904,276 3,054,066 
(270 Avenue de Tervueren, 
1150 Brussels, Belgium) 

224,894, 787 .49 
5.2 Investments held as fixed assets 

As at 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors decided to: 

go ahead with an allowance of €110, 753.85 covering Scientific Brain Training securities, bringing the net 
carrying amount of these securities to €219,564.65; 

maintain the allowance of €1 ,045,778. 73 for securities in Lyods Engineering Limited (formerly 
Lyodssoft HK), a company having its registered office in Hong Kong. 

Note 6: Other receivables 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company granted loans to senior executives of Group subsidiaries in connection with 
financing the acquisition of minority interests in Group subsidiaries. The amount of the loans and interest accrued as 
at 31 December 2019 was €527 ,804.16 (compared with €1 ,240,7 46.89 as at 31 December 2018). In January 2020. 
these loans, including interest, were fully repaid. 

Note 7: Equity 

7.1 Subscribed capital 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, share capital stood at €9,544,965, represented by 9,544,965 
shares with a par value of €1 each, fu lly paid up. The share capital is accompanied by a share premium of 
€70,676, 064.46. 

7.2. Legai reserve 

Each year, a fixed percentage of 5% of the net profit, after absorption of deferred losses, if applicable, will be allocated 
to the legal reserve. The deduction will no longer be compulsory when the reserve reaches 10% of the share capital. 
The reserve cannot be distributed. 
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7.3 Changes in equity accounts 

For the period ended 31 December 2018, the changes were as follows: 

01/01/2019 Allocation of Profit for the Dividends paid 
profit or loss year 

Share capital 9,544,965.00 

Share premium 70,676,064.46 

Legal reserve 954,496.50 

Reserve for treasury 501 ,758.01 
shares 

Profit or loss carried 130,091, 125.36 46,352,971 .61 -45, 753,885.60 
dorward 

Interim dividends -34,316,434.80 34,316,434.80 

Profit for the year 46,352,971.61 (46,352,971 .61) 31 ,898,554.55 

TOTAL 223,804,946.14 31,898,554.55 -11,437,450.80 

7.4 Treas ury shares 

Treasury 
shares 

(369, 128.13) 

369,128.13 

31/12/2019 

9,544,965.00 

70,676,064.46 

954,496.50 

132,629.88 

131 ,059,339.50 

31 ,898,554.55 

244 ,266,049.89 

As at 31 December 2019, there were 4 ,040 treasury shares recognised amounting to a total of €132,629.88, 
recognised under 'Securities'. 

According to the provisions of Article 430-18 of the Law of 1 O August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended, 
an unavailable reserve for the amount of treasury shares included in the balance sheet has been established on the 
liability side, i.e. a total amount of €132,629.88. 

Treasury shares listed as securities were acquired to support the market price of the Sword Group share. 

Note 8: Amounts owed to credit institutions 

No bank debt has a maturity of over five years. No debt is covered by collateral. As at 31 December 2019, the 
breakdown of bank debt was as follows: 

Bank debt due in more than one year 

Bank debt due within one year 

Interest and commission payable 

Amount drawn down 

25,017.35 

25,017.35 

Authorised amount 

130,000,000.00 

Classification of amounts owed to credit institutions due in more than one year 

Bank debt due in more than one year comprises floating-rate syndicated loans that are subject to drawdowns by 
the Company in the form of promissory notes whose term can vary from one to six months. To classify outstanding 
promissory notes as at year end as financial debt due in more than one year, the following aspects were taken into 
account: 

the ability of the Company, without opposition on the part of the banks that granted the loans, to renew the 
drawdowns for a period of at least one year (all credit openings valid as at 31 December 2019 cannot be 
reduced by the banks with in a 12-month period); 

the Company's desire to utilise that form of funding within the 12 months ahead. 
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Bank covenants 

The Company pledges to maintain, in accordance with the covenant clauses: 

- a net consolidated debUconsolidated EBITDA ratio of less than 3.5 or 3, depending on the agreement; 

- a net consolidated financial debUconsolidated equity ratio of less than 1. 

Should the Company fail to comply with the aforementioned covenants, the lending banks can demand the 
reimbursement of the outstanding loan. As at 31 December 2019, the Company complied with these covenants, as 
there were no outstanding loans. 

Note 9: Related-party transactions 

9.1 In respect of associates 

As at 31 December 2019, balance-sheet items concerning associates were as follows: 

Sword Technologies S.A. (LU) 

Sword Charteris Limited (UK) 
Tipik Communication Agency S.A. (BE) 
Sword IT Solutions Inc. (UK) 
Sword Solutions Inc. (USA) 
Active Risk Inc. (USA) 
Miscellaneous associates 

Amounts owed by associates Amounts owed to associates 
falling due in less than one falling due in !less than one 
year year 

15,973,850.14 

5, 172,532.23 
2,057,849.21 
2,238,563.48 

144,605.46 
25,587,400.52 

1,518,927.42 
1,389,523.24 
129,924.55 
3,038,375.21 

The main balance-sheet items listed above were generated primarily by cash pooling. The main current accounts 
between Group companies were paid att rates ranging between 0.15% and 2.25%, corresponding to the market 
conditions applicable to each subsidiary. 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the following events occurred: 

The Company took on an amount of €470,000 under a clawback provision vis-a-vis the current account of 
Sword Technologies S.A. As at 31 December 2019, there was a current-account waiver with a clawback 
provision vis-a-vis Sword Technologies S.A. amounting to €7,155,000. Sword Technologies S.A.'s current 
account of €15,973,850.14 already takes this current-account waiver into consideration. 

The Company waived €3,670,000 under a clawback provision vis-a-vis Tipik Communication Agency S.A.'s 
current account. As at 31 December 2019, there was a current-account waiver with a clawback provision vis-
a-vis Tipik Communication Agency S.A. amounting to €9 ,794,381 .96. Tipik Communication Agency S.A.'s 
current account of €2,057,849.21 already takes this current-account waiver into consideration. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, the main types of income and expenses in respect of associates were as 
follows: 

Management services 
Dividends 

Subcontracting/miscellaneous fees 
Marketing expenses 
Other miscellaneous expenses/income 

Interest on cash-pooling current account 
Current-account waiver/reversal with clawback provision 

Expenses 

327,740.47 
525,405.00 
129,635.94 

4,472.47 
3,670,000.00 

4,657,253.88 

9.2 In respect of non-consolidated companies sharing common senior executives 

Income 
4,005,380.33 
60,675,528.79 

347,334.00 

736,353.03 
470,000.00 

66,234,596.15 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Financiere Semaphore s.a r.I., a company established in Luxembourg, 
invoiced the following services: 

assistance to the Company's executive management: €349,999.92; 
success fees related to sales/acquisitions: €320,000.00. 

On 21 December 2018, the Group signed a one-year renewable services contract with a company controlled by 
Financiere Semaphore and called Le Connecteur, with a v iew to helping the Group search for investment targets . 
The value of services came to €130,000 in 2019 (compared with €160,000 in 2018). 

Note 1 O: Net revenue 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue was €4,005,380.33 and comprised services for all of the Group's 
subsidiaries. 

The breakdown by geographical area was as follows: 

• Europe: 93%; 

• America: 3%; 

• Oceania: 1 %; 

• Asia: 3% . 

Note 11: other operating income/other external charges 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, other operating income mainly comprised the recharging of 
fees/acquisition and sale fees to associates directly involved in the relevant investment, totalling €347,334.00. See 
Note 9.1. 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, other external charges comprised acquisition and sale fees, amounting 
to €1 , 131 ,632.88, and fees relating to managing the holding and its subsidiaries, amounting to €2,643,237.22. 

Note 12: Staff 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the number of Sword Group employees stood at an average of one 
person (a situation that had also held as at 31 December 2018). 

Note 13: Allowances 

13.1 Allowances on current assets 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, a llowances on current assets comprised the following items: 

a waiver with current-account clawback provision in respect of associates: €3,670,000.00; see Note 9.1; 
a reversal of a waiver with current-account clawback provision in respect of associates: €470,000.00; see 
Note 9.1. 
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13.2 Allowances on financial assets and on securities that are part of current assets 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, allowances on financial assets and on securities that were part of current 
assets comprised the fol lowing items: 

an allowance on Sword Soft Ltd securities: €23,004,580.00; and an allowance on Sword Technologies S.A. 
securities: €4,364,670.00; 

a reversal of an allowance on shares for associates: €989 ,359.16 vis-a-vis Tipik Communication 
Agency S.A.; see Note 5.1; 

a reversal of an allowance on investments held as fixed assets, worth €110,753.85; see Note 5.2; 

a reversal of an allowance for a s.um of €44, 115. 7 4 for treasury shares recognised under 'Securities'. 

Note 14: Income from financial assets 

Income from financial assets was represented by dividends from Company subsidiiaries. 

Note 15: Taxation 

The Company is subject to all taxes applicable to companies with share capital. The Company was definitively taxed 
until 31 December 2018. 

Note 16: Off-balance-sheet commitments 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no off-balance-sheet commitments. 

Note 17: Board of Directors' remuneration 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the directors received fees amounting to €95,000 (for the year ended 
31 December 2018, they received the same amount). This amount is included in 'Other operating expenses'. 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, no advance or credit was paid to members of the administrative bodies. 

Note 18: Fees received by the Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree (statutory auditor) 

In accordance with Article 470-1 of the Law of 18 December 2009, as amended, the information specified in 
Article 444-5 of this amended Law has been omitted. Information on the audit fees is g iven in the consolidated 
financial statements and includes the audit fees for the financial statements. 

Note 19: Subsequent events 

In early 2020, the existence of a new coronavirus, now known as COVID-19, was confirmed. Since then, COVID-19 
has spread in China and across a lot of other countries, causing a sudden slowdown of the global economy, which 
has had an impact on the stock markets. The Group regards the emergence and spread of COVID-19 as a 
subsequent event that does not give rise to an adjustment of the annual accounts. Given the uncertainties 
surrounding the epidemic, the Company is unable at this stage to work out exactly what impact COVID-19 will have 
on its future performance. 

Given the largely positive net cash position and its ability to draw on lines of credit worth €130 million, the 
Company's management believes that its going concern basis still very much holds. 
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6.4 REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D'ENTREPRISES AGREE ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Sword Group S.E (the "Company"), which comprise the balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2019, and the profit and loss account for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financia l statements give a true and fair view of t.he financial posit ion of the 
Company as at 31 December 2019, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with 
Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit 
profession (Law of 23 Jully 2016) and with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the "Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier" (CSSF). Our responsibilities under those Regulation, 
Law and standards are further described in the « Responsibilities of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements » section of our report. We are also independent of the Company in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements, and have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the financial 
statements as whole. and in forming our opinion thereon. and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 

Reasons for which a key audit matter has Response to the identified key audit matter 
been raised 

Shares in associates and other interests 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company owns a 
number of subsidiaries, recognised at acquisition 
cost. which may be subject to value adjustments 
in case of a permanent decrease in their value. 
The valuation of these investments is s ignificant 
for our audit, given the carrying amount thereof 
and the judgement required in assessing the 
permanent nature of any value adjustment. 

Tests of substantive details have been conducted to ensure 
the existence of investments as well as the reconciliation of 
movements of shareholders' funds in the course of the year. 
We assessed management's handling of indicators of 
potential losses. In this assessment, the net carrying amount 
is used as a starting point for evaluating whether a loss is 
permanent, in addition to a qualitative analysis. 
We have also reviewed the adequacy of the information in 
Notes 5.1 'Shares in affiliated undertakings' and 5.2 
'Investments in companies with which there is. a shareholding 
link'. 
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Key observations communicated to those 
charged with governance 

Based on the audit procedures carried out, we have identified 
no material misstatements. 

Reasons for which a key audit matter has 
been raised 

Revenue recognition 

Response to the identified key audit matter 

The Company provides management services, as 
described in Note 1 O to the financial statements, 
to various subsidiaries. 

Our procedures included evaluating the income recognition 
method for management services contracts and the design 
and effectiveness of management controls regarding income-
recognition analysis and the identification of unusual 

International Standards on Auditing require contractual conditions. 
auditors to assume a fraud risk in revenue 
recognition when initially assessing the risk of Detailed substantive procedures have been carried out with 
material misstatements. regard to the cost-plus analysis and testing of the calculation 

of management fees and margin validation. 

Key observations communicated to those 
charged with governance 

Based on the audit procedures carried out, we have identified 
no material misstatements. 

Other information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the management report and the Corporate Governance Statement but does not include the financial 
statements and our report of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our aUJdit of the financial statements, our responsibil ity is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are requ ired to report 
this fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

The Boa rd of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements, and for such interna l control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting un less the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no real istic alternative but to do so. 

Responsibilities of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree" for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the "Reviseur 
d'Entreprises Agree" that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 
and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omiss ions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and , 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a g:oing concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report of the "Reviseur d'Entreprises 
Agree" to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report of the 
"Reviseur d'Entreprises Agree". However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events un a manner that 
achieves fair presentation . 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and sign ificant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter. 

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

We have been appointed as "Reviseur d'IEntreprises Agree" by the General Meeting of the Shareholders on 29 
April 2019 and the duration of our uninterrupted engagement, including previous renewals and reappointments, is 8 
years. 

The management report is consistent with the f inancial statements and has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 

The Corporate Governance Statement. as published on the Company's website http://www.sword-qroup.com • is 
the responsibility of the Board of Directors. The information required by Article 68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) 
of the amended law of 19 December 2002 on the commercial and companies register and on the accounting 
records and annual accounts of undertakings, as amended, is consistent, at the date of this report, with the 
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

We confirm that the audit opinion is consistent w ith the additional report to the Audit Committee or equivalent. 

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services referred to in the EU Regulation No 537/2014, on the audit 
profession were not provided and that we remain independent of the Company in conducting the audit. 

Luxembourg, 27 March 2020 

For MAZARS LUXEMBOURG, Cabinet de revision agree 
5, rue Guillaume Kroll 
L - 1882 Luxembourg 

Olivier BIREN 
Reviseur d'entreprises agree 
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7 CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

7 .1 SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital is €9.545 million, or more precisely €9,544,965 (nine million five hundred and forty-four thousand 
nine hundred and sixty-five euro)_ This is divided into 9,544,965 shares worth €1 each, fully paid up and all of the 
same category. There were no reported cases of a threshold being crossed in 2019. 

7.2 BREAKDOWN OF CAPITAL AND CONTROL 

7.21 Main shareholders 

Jacques Mottard and Nicolas Mottard, including the holding of Financiere Semaphore, have in total 17.9% of voting 
rights_ 
Eximium holds 16.8% of voting rights_ 
The floating shareholders represent 63.5% of the capital. 

7.2.2 Breakdown of capital as at year end (31 December 2019) 

Shareholders Number of shares % of voting rights 
Financiere Semaphore 1,706,280 17.9% 
Eximium 1,602,564 16.8% 
Treasury shares 4,040 -
Employees and miscelllaneous registered 170,596 1.8% shareholders 
Floating stock 6,061,485 63.5% 
Total 9,544,965 -

7.3 DIVIDENDS 

The dividend per share proposed to the General Meeting of Shareholders would be €1 .20. 

7.4 STOCK-MARKET PERFORMANCE 

The Company's shares are listed on Euronext Paris (Compartiment B)_ There are 9 ,544,965 shares in circulation_ 
Information concerning the Company's share price is available on its website (https://www.sword-
group.com/en/investors/). 
Sword Group SE shares are part of the following main indexes: ICB: 9530 Software & Computer Services, Indices 
CAC® Small, CAC® Mid & Small, CAC® All-Tradable, CAC® All-Share_ 

Variations in the share price: 

2019 As at 31 January 2020 
Highest closing price: €34.15 (on 27 November 2019) Highest closing price: €36.35 (on 29 January 2020) 
Lowest closing price: €28-45 (on 3 January 2019) Lowest closing price: €32.70 (on 7 January 2020) 

Number of shares traded on the stock market: 10,292 <1J Number of shares traded on the stock market: 
19 162 (2) 

<1> This 1s the average number of shares traded daily in 2019, a year 1n which 2,624,415 shares were traded in all. 
<2> This is the average number of shares traded in January 2020, a month in which 421 ,560 shares were traded in 

all. 

130 



Sword Group - 2019 Financial Report 

7.5 REPURCHASE OF TREASURY SHARES 

The Company may end up holding treasury shares under the share repurchase programme authorised by the 
Extraordinary General Meeting on 28 April 2017, redeemable at 5% of its share capital for a period of five (5) years . 
The objectives of share ownership under this programme are as follows: 

- to provide stability for the market or liquidity as part of a liquidity contract entered into with a certified provider ; 
- to purchase for exchange or payment as part of external growth operations; 
- to cancel shares up to a maximum of 5% of the Company's share capital, over a period of 24 months, subject 

to its Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders authorising its capital reduction. 

The same Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 April 2017 authorised the Boarrd of Directors to reduce the share 
capital by cancelling shares acquired through the Company's treasury share repurchase programme, up to a 
maximum of 5% of its share capital and for a period of five (5) years. 

Information on the acquisition and sale by the Company of treasury shares as at 31 December 2019: 

Number of shares held by the Company as at 31 December 2018 17,302 
Number of shares purclhased in 2019 75,629 
Number of shares sold in 2019 88,891 
Number of treasury shares held by the company as at 31 December 2019 4,040 

The Company acquired treasury shares in accordance with the authorisation granted by the Extraordinary General 
Meeting of 28 April 2017 in its Resolution 8 relating to the agreed objectives of that meeting. 

Issuer's statement regarding transactions involving treasury shares as at 31 December 2019: 

Percentage of capital held by the issuer either directly or indirectly 0.04% 

Number of shares cancelled in the past 24 months -
Number of portfolio shares held 4,040 
Portfolio carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 €132,630 
Portfolio market value as at 31 December 2019 €137,764 

Accumulated gross flows in 2019 Outstanding positions as at 
31 December 2019 

Number of shares Purchases Sales For purchase For sale 75,629 88,891 
Maximum average - - - -duration 
Average price 31 .33 31.54 - -

Average exercise price - - - -
Amounts €2,366, 112.16 €2,802,293.06 - -

Sword Group did not use derivatives in this share repurchase programme. 

During the period under review, no share repurchase programme was in progress. 
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7.6 INFORMATION RELATING TO TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING SHARES HELD BY 
SWORD GROUP SENIOR EXECUTIVES 

Sword Group's senior executives comply with all the legislative and regulatory provisions relating to transactions 
involving listed companies' shares. 

Sword Group's senior executives regularly declare the transactions they perform involving Sword Group shares under 
the legal and regulatory provisions and refrain from any transactions involving Sword Group shares if they hold 
privileged information. 

Sword Group alerts the CSSF to any offences relating to the holding of privileged information, using a list of insiders 
it has drawn up pursuant to the legal provisions. This gives the names of all those who hold privileged information 
and are employed by Sword Group and of third parties who have access to such information as part of their 
collaboration with the Group. 

During the most recent year ended, the senior executives performed no transactions involving securities. 

7.7 AUTHORISATION OF SHARES ISSUED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

None 

7.8 INFORMATION ON PUBLIC TAKEOVER BIDS 

Sword Group's share capital stands at €9,544,965, represented by 9,544,965 shares without par value, fully paid up. 

There are no other categories of shares or of options or pre-emptive rights entitling the holders to the issue of shares 
of another category whiclh could have ad ilutive effect on the number of shares issued. 

All shares issued entitle the holders to the same rights both in terms of their right to vote at Ordinary and Extraordinary 
General Meetings and their right to the dividend voted on by shareholders at General Meetings. 

Note that there are no restrictions on the t ransfer of securities or any special right of control by 
certain holders of these securities. No agreement has been made between shareholders that could lead to restrictions 
on the transfer of securities or on voting rights. 

The members of Sword Group's Board of Directors are appointed by the General Meeting following nomination by 
the Board of Directors. They are appointed for a maximum term of four years, which is also their normal term of office . 
This term is renewable. 

As a rule, their term of office expires at the end of the General Meeting choosing their replacement. The General 
Meeting may dismiss them at any time. 
If a vacancy arises on the Board of Directors, this body may nominate somebody to fill this, in accordance with the 
rules governing such appointments. At the next General Meeting, the shareholders will make a final decision on the 
appointment, whose term of office will, as a rule, run for the rest of the term of the person being replaced. 
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8 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

8.1 MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

Capital and Shares 
The share capital is €9.545 million, or more precisely €9,544,965 (nine million five hundred and forty-four thousand 
nine hundred and sixty-five euro). This shall be divided into 9,544,965 shares worth €1 each, fully paid up and all of 
the same class. 

The shares shall be issued in paperless format. 

Any shareholder, acting alone or in concert, who owns more than 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, a third, half or two 
thirds of the capital or the voting rights is obliged to inform the Company of the total number of shares and voting 
rights held, by registered letter with acknowledgement of receipt, within four stock exchange trading days starting on 
the day where they learn that they have exceeded these shareholding thresholds. The same will apply whenever the 
person's holding falls below one of the said thresholds. 

This information will also be provided to the Financial Sector Supervisory Commission within (i) 6 trading days of any 
transaction and (ii) 4 trading days of the date the said shareholding thresholds are crossed due to an event that 
modifies the distribution of the voting rights. 

If shares have not been properly disclosed, voting rights shall be withdrawn from those shares exceeding the number 
that should have been declared until proper notification is provided. 

The shares are freely tradable, notwithstanding any legal or regulatory provisions to the contrary. 

Modifications of the Share Capital 
1 - The share capital may be increased by whatever means and according to all the procedures provided for by the 
law. 

Payment for newly created shares may be made in cash, either by offsetting these against claims for liquidated 
amounts due from the Company or by incorporating reserves, profits or share premiums or by a contribution in kind 
or through the conversion of bonds. 

Only the Extraordinary General Meeting shall have the power to decide on any increase in capital. It may also 
delegate this power to the Board of Directors in relation to the capital authorised by the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association. 

The Board of Directors may decide to restrict increases in capital only for payments in cash corresponding to the 
amount subscribed. 

In the event of a capital increase through the issue of shares for cash, pre-emptive rights shall be granted to the 
owners of the existing shares in accordance with the provisions laid down by law. 

However, shareholders may individually renounce their pre-emptive right during the General Meeting that decides 
on or authorises the share capital increase. In addition, the shareholders may, in the General Meeting, cancel this 
pre-emptive right in accordance with lega l requirements. 

2 - A capital increase may also arise following a request made by any shareholder to receive payment of all or some 
of the dividends to be distributed, in the form of shares when shareholders have been granted the right to do so by 
a resolut ion of the General Meeting or by the Board of Directors within the scope of a capital increase up to the 
amount of the authorised capital as defined under Article 8 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association and under 
Article 2. 1 of this charter. 

In such a case, the Board of Directors shall, within the statutory time limit, record the number of shares issued by 
virtue of the previous paragraph and shall record changes to the Memorandum and Articles of Association by means 
of a notarial deed. 

The Extraordinary General Meeting may also delegate to the Board of Directors the power to actually reduce the 
share capital. 

The Board of Directors may repurchase Company shares, within the limits provided by law and the authorisation 
granted by the Extraordinary General Meeting. 
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Powers and General Meetings 

The shareholders shall be given notice to attend General Meetings in accordance with the legal provisions and those 
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association. Article 18 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association lays down 
general rules for the General Meetings of Shareholders. 

Convening Notices 
The shareholders shall convene at the Ann ual General Meeting on 28 April of each year at 11 a.m. in the municipality 
where the Company has its registered office or at any other venue indicated in the convening notice. 

If the meeting date coincides with a bank holiday, the meeting shall be held the next working day. 

Ordinary General Meetings may be called by the Board of Directors at any time dur ing the year with a special notice 
to this effect. 

One or more shareholders holding at least a total of 10% of the subscribed capital may request that a Genera l 
Meeting be called. The notice to convene such a meeting shall state the items on the agenda. 

The form of the meeting and the notice per iod shall be as required by law. Convening notices must indicate the venue 
for the meeting, which may be held at the registered off ice or at any other location, and the agenda. 

Agenda 
The agenda is set by the person calling the meeting. It shall include, if appropriate, proposals made by one or more 
of the shareholders owning a total of at least 5% of the subscribed capital. These slhareholders may request that one 
or more new items be included in the agenda of any General Meeting, subject to the time limits and procedures 
provided by law. 

When a meeting has not been able to deliberate validly due to the absence of the required quorum, a second meeting 
shall be convened in the same way as the first, with the convening notice referring to the date of the first meeting. 

Admissiion to the Meetings - Powers 
All shareholders shall be entit led to attend the General Meetings personally or by proxy, regardless of how many 
shares they hold, on supplying proof of identity and share ownership, in the form: 

- either of a registration in their name; 
- or of an entry of the shares in an account in the name of the shareholder or of the intermediary who is registered 

to represent them, as at the third working day preceding the General Meeting at midnight, Paris time. 

However, the Board of Directors may reduce or waive such a notice period if this is in the interests of all the 
shareholders. 

The shaireholders may submit their vote by post but must request a postal vote form from the Company in order to 
do so. This form will include the information relating to the General Meeting in question and will be drafted in such a 
way that shareholders w ill be able to cast their vote for each of the resolutions proposed, in the order in which they 
are presented at the meeting. The request for the form must be addressed to the Company by any means and must 
be deposited or received at the registered office at least six days prior to the meeting. 

To be valid, the ballot paper must include the following information: 
- the shareholder's first name, surnam e and place of residence; 
- an indication of the form in which the shares are held, the number of shares held and confirmation of the 

registration of the shares either in the registered share accounts or in the sham accounts held by the authorised 
financial intermediary; 

- the signature of the shareholder or his/her legal representat ive. 

Postal votes must, in order to be taken into account, reach the Company at least three days be·fore the General 
Meeting. 

A shareholder can be represented by a third party in accordance with the conditions laid down by the regulations in 
force. 
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Holding of the Meeting - Meeting Committee (Secretary of the Meeting) - Minutes 
The General Meeting is chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or by a Director designated by the Board, 
if the convening notice comes from the latter, or fail ing that, by a person appointed by the meeting. It shall be chaired 
by the statutory auditor or company auditor as the case may be and by the court officer or by the liquidator in the 
other cases. Scrutineer duties are performed by the two Board members having the most votes, as long as they 
agree to these responsibi lities. The committee appoints a secretary (who may be a non-shareholder). 

The deliberations are recorded in minutes signed by the members of the committee and signed by the shareholders 
requesting them. 

Copies or extracts of these minutes, to be submitted in court or elsewhere, are duly certified in the case of Ordinary 
General Meetings by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or a Director or the Secretary of the General Meeting 
and in the case of Extraord inary General Meetings, by the Notary who is the depository for the minutes in question. 

The conditions for exercising voting rights - Majority quorum 
1 - The quorum shall be calculated taking into account all the shares that comprise the share capital, less those 
shares from which voting rights have been withdrawn by law. 

For postal votes, only forms duly completed and comprising a reference to the certificate of deposit of the shares, 
received by the Company at least three days before the meeting is held, will be taken into consideration when 
determining the quorum. 

2 - The Ordinary General Meeting cannot validly conduct business on the basis of the first convening notice, unless 
the shareholders present, represented or voting by post own at least a quarter of the share capital. In the absence 
of such a quorum, a second General Meeting will be called, without the need for a quorum, in the form envisaged 
within the provisions of Article 450-3 of the Law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended. 

The Extraordinary General Meeting cannot validly conduct business unless the shareholders present, represented 
or voting by post own at least half of the share capital at the time of the first convening notice. In the absence of such 
a quorum, a second General Meeting will be called, without the need for a quorum, in the form envisaged within the 
provisions of Article 450-3 of the Law of 1 0 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended. 

3 - In General Meetings, each member of the Meeting shall have the same number of votes as the number of shares 
he/she owns or represents without any limitation, with the sole exception of the cases provided for by law. 

4 - At General Meetings, voting shall take place on a show of hands, by names being called out or by secret ballot 
or through the use of telecommunications, such as video-conferencing systems or any other means of 
teletransmission that make it possible to identify the shareholder taking part in the General Meeting, as may be 
decided by the committee for the meeting or by the shareholders. 

Resolutions of Ordinary General Meetings shall be made by a majority of the validly cast votes. The validly cast votes 
do not include those associated with the shares for which the shareholder has not taken part in the vote, abstained 
from voting or returned a blank or invalid vote. 

Resolutions of Extraordinary General Meetings shall be by a majority of two thirds of the validly cast votes. 

Dividend Policy 
In accordance with Article 23 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, the following items shall initially be 
deducted from the profits of the accounting year less any losses from the previous years: 

- at least five percent (5%) to constitute the legal reserve; such a deduction will cease to be mandatory when 
the said reserves w ill have reached a sum equal to one tenth of the capital, but will resume if for any reason 
whatsoever this percentage is no longer reached, 

- and any amounts to be allocated to the reserve account by law. 

The balance, plus profits carried forward, shall comprise the distributable profit that the General Meeting, on proposal 
from the Board of Directors, may resolve to distribute in full or in part as dividends, or allocated to reserve accounts, 
capital amortisation or carry forward. 

The Extraordinary General Meeting may, subject to legal provisions, decide on the full or partial amortisation of the 
shares that will proportionally lose the right to a dividend and to the reimbursement of their nominal value. 

135 



Sword Group - 2019 Financial Report 

This meeting may also, subject to legal provisions, decide to convert into capital shares those shares that have been 
fully or partially amortised. 

In general, Sword Group shall pursue a dividend policy linked, on the one hand, to the profits of the year in question 
and, on the other, to the foreseeable development of the Group and its profitability. 

8.2 DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC 

All accounting, legal and other documents are available at the Company's registered office. 

8.3 PERSON IN CHARGE OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

The person in charge of the annual financial report is Jacques Mottard. 

8.4 STATUTORY AUDITORS OF THE ACCOUNTS 

Statutory audits of the accounts are carried out by Mazars Luxembourg SA, Cabinet de Revision Agree (approved 
audit firm), having its registered office at 5 Rue Guillaume J. Kroll, LU-1882 Luxembourg, appointed on an annual 
basis by the Ordinary General Meeting held on 3 May 2013. This appointment was renewed by the Ordinary General 
Meeting held on 29 April 2019 for a term expiring at the General Meeting called to approve the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (its renewal will be proposed at the General Meeting on 28 April 2020). 
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9 STATEMENT BY THE PERSON IN CHARGE OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
REPORT 

Pursuant to Article 3 (2) c) of the Law of 11 January 2008 on transparency requirements for information about issuers 
whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market, as amended, we declare that these financia l 
statements were prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and that they, to the best of our 
knowledge, give a true and fair view of the assets and financial position of Sword Group SE ("the Company") as at 
31 December 2019 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended, and a description of the main risks 
and uncertainties facing the Company. The management report, to the best of our knowledge, presents truly and 
fairly the development, results and financial position of the Company. 

Windhof , 27 March 2020 

Jacques Mottard 
Chairman and CEO 
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10 CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT 
Shareholders are kindly informed that they are convened to an Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting to be 
held at the registered office on 28 April 2020 at 11 a.m .. to deliberate on the following agenda: 

Within the competence of the General Meeting taking decisions under the quorum and majority conditions 
required for Ordinary General Meetings: 

confirmation that they have read the Board of Directors' management report, including the Group 
management report, and noting that one agreement under Article 441-7 of the Law of 10 August 1915, 
as amended, has been concluded during the year ended 31 December 2019; 
confirmation that they have read the statutory auditor's report on the 2019 financial statements, the 
Group's consolidated financial statements and the performance of its duties; 
approval of the corporate accounts as at 31 December 2019; 
approval of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019; 
the allocation of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
discharge granted to the directors for their management duties for the year 2019; 
the reappointment of Jacques Mottard as a director; 
the reappointment of Franyois Barbier as a director; 
the reappointment of Franyois-Regis Ory as a director; 
the reappointment of Frederic Goosse as a director; 
the reappointment of Nicolas Mottard as a director; 
the reappointment of Pacbo Europe Administration et Conseil s.a r.I. as a director; 
the compensation of the directors; 
discharge granted to the statutory auditor for its duties for the year 2019; 
the reappointment of the statutory auditor; 
the authority to complete formalities. 

Within the competence of the General Meeting taking decisions under the quorum and majority conditions 
required for Extraordinary General Meetings: 

cancellation of the share repurchase programme adopted by the Extraordinary General Meeting of 
28 April 2017 and granting of authorisation to the Board of Directors for the Company to repurchase its 
treasury shams under a new repurchase programme; 
granting of authorisation to the Board of Directors to reduce the share capital by cancelling shares 
acquired when the Company purchases its treasury shares; 
the authority to complete formalities. 

Any shareholder, regardless of how many shares they hold, is entitled to participate in General Meetings or to be 
represented by proxy or vote by post there. 

In light of the Grand Ducal Regulation of 20 March 2020 introducing measures concerning meetings oif 
companies, brought in because of the coronavirus global pandemic, shareholders are informed that this 
meeting w ill be held in absentia. Therefore, participation in person will not be possib le, and all shareholders 
are invited to participate in this meeting and to exercise their rights exclus ively by postal voting or appointing 
a proxy or through a designated representative. 
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1. Sword Group's activities 
To meet its clients' strategic challenges and their need both to make changes to their technological environments 
and to update their business processes, Sword is divided into specialist competence centres (Business Units)_ We 
provide our clients with a local presence, high-value-added know-how, a high production capacity and an optimised 
economic approach_ 

The business comprises two divisions: 
- Services: organised into competence centres, this division accounts for 89% of the Group's revenue; and 
- Software: this is responsible for 11 % of the Group's revenue. 

Software: Sword offers comprehensive solutions for Governance, Risk and Compliance (GRC), portfolio 
management, local-authority steering, intellectual property rights management, remote medicine, DTP document 
template design, event pllanning, collaboration and organisation, and investigation management 

Services: Sword advises companies on implementing innovative solutions, technically develops and integrates these 
solutions, and accelerates internal and external digital transformat ion programmes. 

One of the key factors in Sword's success is the local service we foster with our clients. 

2. Highlights of the year ended 31 December 2019 within Sword Group 
Effective from 3 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of Magique Galileo Software Limited, a company 
incorporated in the UK specialising in Governance, Risk and Compliance (GRC) solutions for the banking and 
insurance sector - an acquisition involving an outlay of some GBP 2,222,000 (equivalent to around €2,488,000), 
excluding additional payments. See Note 12.1 to the financial statements. 

Effective from 1 May 2019, the Group increased its stake in Plefsys IT PC from 38% to 64%, at a cost of€445,000. 
Following this transaction , the Group will now fully consolidate that company, which had previously been recognised 
in the Group's accounts according to the equity accounting method. See Note 12.1 to the financial statements_ 

On 31 October 2019, the Group acquired 100% of DataCo Global Ltd and DataCo Australia Pty Ltd at a total cost of 
some GBP 6,399,000 (equivalent to around €7,429,000). See Note 12.1 to the financial statements. 

On 31 December 2019, the Group increased its stake in Tipik Communication Agency S.A. from 49% to 98%, at a 
cost of €989,000_ This was paid in January 2020 by cancelling a receivable of €639,000 from Tipik Group SA and 
settling the balance of€350,000 in cash . 

3. Social responsibility 
Following the latest revis ion in December 2017 of the X Principles of Corporate Governance of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange, Sword Group has adopted the new principle on corporate social responsibility (CSR), covering 
social, societal and environmental matters . 

Since 2011 , Sword Group has been a signatory to the Ten Principles of the United Nations Global Compact, relating 
to human rights and labour, the environment and corruption_ 

By joining, the Company was keen to show it was a socially responsible stakeholder in the global economy. 

Sword clhose the UN Global Compact as it provides a globally recognised framework as well as sustainability, and 
therefore the Group has ensured compliance with the 10 principles set out there ever since. 
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Human Rights 
Principle 1: Businesses should support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights; and 
Principle 2: make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses. 
Labour 
Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to 

collective bargaining; 
Principle 4: the elimination of all forms of ·forced and compulsory labour; 
Principle 5: the effective abolition of child labour; and 
Principle 6: eliminate discrimination in respect of employment and occupation. 
Environment 
Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges; 
Principle 8: undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility; and 
Principle 9: encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies. 
Anti-Corruption 
Principle 10: Businesses should work against corruption in all its forms, including extortion and bribery. 

Action regarding challenges facing the Group 
Attracting and retaining talent 
Developing and transforming skills 
Developing an entrepreneurial culture within teams 
Developing social dialogue 
Promoting d iversity and equal opportunities 
Promoting well-being at work and employee engagement 

The Human Aspect 
Education, work-linked training and ongoing training 
As Sword is a specialised services company, the added value that the company provides to its clients is largely 
determined by the quality of its human resources' training and expertise. This is one of the most important 
development areas for Sword and is the reason why the company pays particular attention to skills and team 
management. The company has introduced specific procedures for the following items: 

Maintaining skills levels and pooling knowledge through implementation of training processes , 
capitalisation and sharing of knowledge These processes are tailored to the specialist domains of 
each of our competence centres and facilitate the growth and development of our staff so that they 
become experts in their field. Sword makes various learning resources available to this end: a 
specialised set of shared documentation, a listing of the tutorials available for each specialist field, 
coaching of new staff through tutorship and mentoring, and the provision of internal or external 
training and of certification training programmes. 
Sustaining team motivation throughout a contract, based essentially on small centres of expertise , 
proximity management, c lose involvement of the competence centre's management team, internal 
mobility and personalised training plans 
Change management: arrival or departure of a new team member, taking into account the project 
constraints and objectives 

Sword constantly invests in training to address this. 

This investment extends beyond staff training to include universities and engineering schools through various types 
of initiatives: 

Internships: These are set up on the basis of the opportunities that Sword can provide and the 
students' expectations. These internships have led to permanent job offers every year 
Integration of students combining work and training into Sword's teams 
Regular participation in training programmes that aim to create a bridge between schools and 
companies: 

o lectures since 2011 at Universite Paris X - Paris Descartes as part of the DEFI Master 
diploma (Electronic Documents and Information Flow) on Semantics and Systems 
Integration, "Why? How? Proof Through Examples"; 

o lectures since 2012 at Universite Claude Bernard in Lyon on "Data Optimisation: What and 
Why?"; 

o case studies - Sword projects (LERUDI, ALIAS, ISIDORE, UOH) 
Involvement in research and development projects bringing together fundamental research and the 
business community 
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Managerial Excellence 
Given the nature of Sword's business activities (specialised services) and contrracts, the Group's organisational 
structure has been adapted to accommodate and make a success of this type of activity, in particular at the 
management level: 

Profit centre organisation: Organisation of the company into autonomous specialist competence 
centres; each of these is a profit centre responsible for its production and results 
Project know-how and expertise: All managers in charge of the specialist competence centres are 
trained in technical IT domains, and as such, have extensive experience in IT project management 
on a fixed-price basis_ Most managers are experts in their specific field_ 
Reinforcement of the technical management: Each competence centre relies on a technical 
management team directly integrated into its strategic management to the same extent and with the 
same decision-making power as the sales management team. 
Specialist sales approach: Sword's sales approach is based primarily on our know-how and capacity 
to innovate and manage core and innovative projects in our various specialist fields_ The managers 
in charge of sales activities report directly to each competence centre and have a good technical 
understanding of the core business, thereby ensuring their relevance in our specialist domains. 

Staff Empowerment 
The majority of the staff or subcontractors who work for Sword Group are highly-skilled managers. Sword provides 
its staff with a wide range of tools to facilitate their day-to-day activities. Some 80% of the Group's engineers have a 
high level of studies (the equivalent of the French 'BAC +4' or 'BAC +5' (four or five years of university studies) or a 
PhD). 

Sword has numerous too~s for leveraging know-how. This allows teams to independently access relevant information 
and if necessary optimise access to the appropriate specialists. 
This requires tools tailored to specific needs: 

Portable computers for mobile employees, with external access to Sword's IT system: All staff have 
one or two screens in addition to their laptop, with a view to improving their work comfort_ 
State-of-the-art collaborative tools (email and instant messaging, collaborative spaces, standardised 
documentary reference frameworks, professional IHR tools, client relations management tools, video 
conference rooms on every Group site) 
Cutting-edge tools such as a semantic search engine bringing together all the company's resources 
Methods promoting staff empowerment, in particular through the growing use of Agile development 
methodologies 
Quality working environment: The offices are organised around small project teams, and there are 
never more than five people working in a room_ Management accessibility is also ensured by the 
geographical proximity of the offices. 

The improvement of information f low in the company 
Sword's staff are involved in the corporate strategy through short hierarchical chains of command and regular 
briefings and updates. 
Entity meetings are held at least twice a year, dealing with the following subjects in an open discussion: 

the results and outlook for the whole Group and its strategic orientation; 
the results and outlook for the relevant entity, business opportunities and strategic orientation; 
a global review of the projects under way, the difficulties encountered and the successes; 
the highlighting of best practices. 

Regular meetings are organised between each employee and their manager to provide updates on each service_ 
This proximity of the teams promotes informal exchanges and the effective flow of information. 
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The balance between work, family and leisure activities 
Sword Group provides a range of facilit ies that help employees to better balance their work, family and leisure 
activities_ 

• At some Sword sites, staff can use tennis courts and football pitches, compete in sporting events , 
and so on. 
Staff wishing to do so can work part-time. 

Employees cannot be moved to a different work location without their consent. Sword's international presence also 
means the company can offer its staff job opportunities in other countries_ 

Equal treatment 
Sword applies a number of measures aimed at ensuring equal treatment for all, as far as possible. The following 
measures are applied: 

Annual individual meetings conducted by company managers - meeting documents completed 
jointly by the manager and the staff member 
Variable compensation described on an annual mission task sheet - regular assessment of results 
Annual overview of training (including details of the number of male/female participants) 
Half-yearly assessment (for France) highlighting the maximum and minimum compensation for each 
staff category (broken down by gender, among other things) 

When hiring, particular attention is paid to equal opportunities: 

Job advertisements in France are systematically published online on the APEC site and on Linked In . 
The advertisement alway.s uses gender-neutral language. 
Standard ised recruitment process revolving around a series of logical reasoning tests aimed at 
providing recruiters with objective decision-making criteria 

Sword has introduced regular monitoring of equal treatment between staff. This involves regularly checking indicators 
such as wage distribution by gender in various regions, with a comparison of average wages between the current 
and previous years. 

Disability 
The Group has very few disabled staff as it receives virtually no applications from people with disabilities. Sword 
helps those with a disability find work by calling on the services of companies that employ disabled people, for 
example for sorting through records, recycling waste and purchasing office supplies. 

4. Environmental responsibility 
Management of Sword Group's impact on the environment and on natural resources 

Sword Group is a services business so 1its impact on the environment is limited. Nevertheless, in the interests of 
sustainable development, we have implemented a simple and practical policy for protecting the environment and 
reducing energy consumption. 

Efficient electricity management: turning off lights, computers and all electrical devices as soon as 
possible 
Application of insulation standards in buildings 
General rollout of sensor switches to reduce unnecessary electricity consumption 
Annual building audit by Apave to assess the quality and ongoing performance of electrical 
installations 
Virtualisation of all IT servers in 2007, reducing kW/h consumption by a factor of six 
Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by controlling the use of air conditioning 
Reduction of business trips by optimising the use of modern communication technologies (phone, 
video conferencing, etc.), including for management meetings for client projects: 
Each Sword site has at least one meeting room with a video conferencing system, allowing virtual 
meetings to be held with external stakeholders. 
Introduction of a Skype Enterprise instant messaging system linking up the Group's international 
sites with each other and the outside world , enabling point-to-point discussions between staff or with 
clients using IP phone systems, instant messaging, application sharing and video solutions 
Maximisation of public transport use for travel within cities: Sword covers some of the cost of travel 
passes to promote the use of public transport 
Promotion of carpooling for all work-related trips made by our engineers outside the city where they 
operate 
Use of rail transport whenever possible, and in particular for trips between sites 
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Minimisation of the number of documents printed as part of projects: Engineers only print the final 
version of documents. All revision/proofreading is done on screen. The Group's printing plant is 
lmprim'vert (green printing) certified and complies with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and 
Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification (PEFC) principles, among others. 
Reuse and recycl ing of paper 
Construction and extension of all Sword buildings based on the HQE standard 
Recycling of computer hardware and accessories (ink cartridges) by appropriately certified 
companies 
Restriction of the engine rating of company cars (average engine rating of the fleet in France: 6.7 hp) 
Introduction of incentives to encourage staff to buy electric vehicles 
Introduction of a customised policy for each country: For example, our Belgian subsidiary has set up 
an 'Ecoteam' that monitors its work's impact on the environment. The paper used for internal 
purposes, for instance, is 100% recycled. Bicycles are available to staff for short trips. A special 
environmental compliance certification process has been launched. 
Relocation to sites using less energy (e.g. Chennai (India)) 
Introduction of electric bicycle fleets (100 such bicycles in France) 
Creation of an electric vehicle fleet by the company (Renault Zoe and BMW 13) 
Operational investments in areas generating energy savings (e.g. new software marketed to 
international organisations helping them to reduce their number of trips: reduction of the 
C02 balance) 
Introduction of waste sorting in all countries 

5. Societal responsibility 
Sword's various sites play an active role in the life of their region, undertaking a range of initiatives in this regard: 

Sponsorship of social and cultural activities 
Participation in clusters a imed at making the regions where Sword operates more economically 
attractive Sword is the administrator of the Health Cluster in the Rh6ne-Alpes region of France and 
is a member of the Cap DIGITAL competitiveness cluster in Paris. 
Involvement in the higher-education sector, giving presentations as part of various courses , 
participating in student forums and providing students with internships developed with the institutions 
and students in question 
Strict compliance with labour laws 
Recruitment on the local labour market or based on voluntary relocation 
Support for not-for-profit organisations: Sword sponsors the Leon Berard Centre for the Fight against 
Cancer (CLB) in a range of support initiatives. It also supplies equipment to organisations providing 
support for education in Africa (Wassadou Pont-Trambouze). 

6. Bus iness Ethics 
As one of the world leaders in business process improvement solutions for the regulated sectors, Sword Group 
makes its expertise, experience and infrastructure available to its clients to help them improve their performance, 
boost their efficiency and maximise their returns on investment. 

Sword Group does business around the world in compliance with the laws and rules and regulations in force in the 
various countries where Sword Group and/or its subsidiaries operate. 

On 20 December 2010, the Board of Directors of Sword Group adopted an Ethical Charter. The Charter aims, in 
particular, to lay down the key values and principles shared by the whole of Sword Group and its employees and to 
affirm the ethical commitment of Sword Group in all its areas of activity, vis-a-vis shareholders, members of the 
company, clients, suppliers and partners. 
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Sword Group's Commitments 
Shareholders: Sword Group wants to assure shareholders of the profitability of their investment and to 
regularly provide them with transparent and complete, fair and true information. 
Clients and suppliers: In its relations with clients and suppliers, Sword Group complies with principles 
of integrity and fairness and undertakes to provide quality products and services and to respect the 
commitments it has made. Therefore, Sword Group's expertise, experience and infrastructure are made 
available to its clients to help them improve their performance, boost their efficiency and maximise their 
returns on investment. The success of its products and solutions is based on a uniquie combination of 
experts from the fields of industry and technology who fully understand the challenges facing the 
business a11d are committed to providing innovative solutions through close collaboration. The talent 
running through Sword Group's teams and its robust network of affiliated partners are key to the lasting 
success of our company. 
Employees: Sword Group respects employees' rights and working conditions and ensures they develop 
their professional skills. Sword Group fosters its employees' personal development while respecting 
their privacy and aims to promote their creativity and initiative. Sword Group seeks to develop a trusting, 
respectful and frank relationship with each of its employees. 
Civil society: Sword Group is involved in the economic and social development of the countries where 
it operates, complying with the legislation in force there. In particular, Sword Group abides by the 
principles of the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights and of the International Labour 
Organisation . Sword Group follows the rules surrounding free competition and s1Upports the fight 
against corruption in all its forms. Sword Group does not make political interventions or fund political 
parties. In the context of its activities, Sword Group ensures respect for the environment and 
sustainable development. In keeping with its values , Sword Group is a signatory to and participant in 
the United Nations Global Compact. 

Sword Group Employees' Commitments 
Sword Group employees are expected to reflect the Group's principles and values in their day-to-day activities by: 

complying with applicable legislation; 
being fair and honest in their relations with Sword Group and ensurirng good relationships within work 
teams and un particular, as part of this, not accepting or soliciting gifts or benefits going beyond standard 
or commercial practice and that are likely to influence their behaviouir; 
meticulously applying health, safety and environmental protection rules; 
forging clearly defined, honest and professional relationships with Sword Group's clients and partners , 
meaning that they must provide their cl ients and partners with a top-class commercial approach and a 
high level of technical know-how; 
refraining from disclosing to third parties or unauthorised Group employees confidential business 
information to which they are privy; 
respecting the confidentiality of the information to which they are privy and in particular, refraining from 
directly or indirectly using for personal ends privileged information that may come into their possession 
in the course of their duties, and not engaging in any insider trading; 
avoiding any confl ict of interests between Sword Group and their personal interest; a11d 
refraining from engaging in any political activity except as a private individual, in which case this must 
be undertaken outside working hours and away from the workplace and without mentioning that they 
are a Sword Group employee. 
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7. Non-financial Performance Indicators 
The table below presents for each non-financial domain the policies implemented by the Group and the relevant 
performance indicators. Given the lack of any more precise way of assessing these at the time of writing, the 
Executive Management has provided a brief evaluation of the effectiveness of the policies implemented and has not 
identified any specific shortcomings. 

Domain 
Staff 

Information 
Technology 

Ethics and 
Governance 

Environment 

Objectives 
Recruitment process 

Staff retention 

Security, reliability and 
continuity of our 
systems 

Amendments to laws 
and regulations 

Energy and carbon 
emissions 

8. Consolidated financial review 

Policies 
implemented 
Increasing 
attractiveness to 
universities and 
engineering schools 

Maintaining a high-
quality work 
environment 
Giving each 
employee the tools to 
evolve and develop 
their skills through 
training programmes 

Performance indicators 
Number of interns/number of employees and 
freelancers 
Number of activities at universities and 
engineering schools per year 

Absenteeism 
Average number of training hours per 
employee 

Protecting our data Number of incidents per year 

Strengthening the Substantial fines for non-compliance 
internal control 
s stem 
Using green energy Energy consumption within the organ isation 

The table below presents Sword Group's simplified consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2019 compared with that for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

Year 

~m 2019 2018 Growth 

Revenue 213.2 171.4 +24.4% 

EBITDA 28.6 20.1 +42.1% 

EBITDA margin 13.4% 11.8% -

The following analyses are based on a comparison of 2019 with 2018. 

Activ ity and revenue 
Consolidated revenue stood at €213.2 million in 2019 with profitability of 13.4% (EBITDA). The backlog as at 
31 December 2018 was 24.4 months of revenue vis-a-vis the budgeted revenue for 2020. 

Specialisation 
The Group is now focusing on the digital transformation across all divisions - Software and IT Services. 

Internationalisation 
The Group operates in 50 countries and has a physical presence in the form of subsidiaries and offices in 22 of these, 
covering Asia Pacific, the Middle East, Europe, America and South Africa. 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items (EBITDA) 
Consolidated EBITDA in 2019 was €28,624,000, i.e. 13.4% of 2019 revenue. 
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Debt, cash flow and investments 
The Group's net cash (active cash - debt) fel l from €86.5 million as at 31 December 2018 to €70.8 million (excluding 
the impact of IFRS 16) as at 31 December 2019. 

The impact of adopting IFRS 16 is set out in Note 2.2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The cash flow generated by operating activities (see statement of cash flows) came to €21 ,768,000. 

Gross investments for the financial year, both intangible (excluding goodwill, market shares and business capital) 
and tangible (property, plant and equipment), stood at €7,819,000. 

Acquisit ions 
Growth operations are detailed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Disposals 
Disposals are detailed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Provisions setup policy 
The level of provisions for risks and contingencies is due to Business Unit Directors' rigorous approach regarding the 
risks covered. 

Provisions are recognised for these risks and contingencies on the basis of the best estimate of costs likely to be 
incurred. The total sum of provisions for risks and contingencies stood at €1 ,639,000 in the consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2019. 

Breakdown of 2019 consolidated revenue 
The 2019 consolidated revenue breaks down as follows: 
Software: 11 % 
IT Services: 89% 

Breakdown of revenue and EBITDA 

BY DIVISION 

€m Revenue EBITDA % 

Software 24.2 6.2 25.8% 

Governance, Risk & Compliance 17.5 4.3 24.4% 

other 6.7 2.0 29.2% 

IT Services 189.0 22.4 11.9% 

Benelux 45.3 4.2 9.4% 

France 47.9 6.1 12.7% 

Switzerland 28.0 3.4 12.3% 

UK 52.1 6.4 12.2% 

Other (including offshore) 15.7 2.3 14.3% 

Total 213.2 28.6 13.4% 
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SOFTWARE 

Consolidated 
€m 

2019 2018 

Revenue 24.2 21 .8 

EBITDA 6.2 4.1 
% 25.8% 18.8% 

This category combines Intellectual Property (IP) products (26%) and GRC products (72%). 
Growth in GRC activities came to +31 .5%, thanks to the acquisition of another company, Magique Galileo, at the 
start of the year. 

SERVICES 

A) France 
Consolidated 

€m 
2019 2018 

Revenue 47.9 41.4 

EBITDA 6.1 5.6 

% 12.7% 13.6% 
France continued to overperform, with growth of +15.7%. 

Bl Belux 
Consolidated 

€m 
2019 2018 

Revenue 45.3 28.4 
EBITDA 4.2 2.4 

% 9.4% 8.3% 
Belux's profit margin was. better than anticipated, and the organic growth rate was +24.2%. 
Tipik was integrated on 1 January 2019. The organic-growth calculation does not include this entity. 

Cl Switzerland 
Consolidated 

€m 
2019 2018 

Revenue 28.0 25.4 

EBITDA 3.4 2.7 

% 12.3% 10.8% 
Switzerland enjoyed organic growth of +18.4%. 
Revenue for the f irst three months of 2018 include that of Sword Performance, a company sold in April 2018. 

D)UK 

€m 
2019 

Revenue 52.1 

EBITDA 6.4 
% 12.2% 

Another company, DataCo, joined the UK scope in November 2019. 
Organic growth for this diivision was +21 % . 

Consolidated 

2018 

42.7 

3.9 
9.0% 
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El Other (Offshore+ Other) 
Consolidated 

€m 
2019 2018 

Revenue 15.7 11 .7 

EBITDA 2.3 1.5 

% 14.3% 12.6% 
This d1v1s1on's growth rate was +34.5%. 

GRAND TOTAL 
Consolidated 

€m 2019 2018 
Revenue 213.2 171.4 

EBITDA 28.6 20.1 

% 13.4% 11 .8% 

Group profitability is defined as a gross margin rate by comparing current EBITDA with revenue. 
Current EBITDA corresponds to revenue less purchases, personnel expenses, other external charges, allocations 
to provisions and other current operating expenses, plus write-backs on provisions and other current operating 
income, as presented in the consolidated income statement. In the income statement, reference is made to 'Earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items'. 
This profitability indicator has two objectives: 

to assess the Group's development in the medium term (excluding non-recurring costs); 
to assess the Group's capacity to generate cash flow arising from day-to-day operations (in other words, its 
self-financing capacity). 

9. Financing structure and policy 
Following a major sale in 2018, the Group no longer has any bank debt. Sword Group SE's management plans to 
maintain substantial lines of bank credit. Available lines of credit amounted to €130 million as at 31 December 2019. 

These are intended to finance internal and external growth based on market opportunities, while maintaining a sound 
financial structure. 

10. Risks 
Risks related to the Group's activities 
An overview of the most s ignificant risks is provided below: 

High likelihood of occurrence 
Risks related to the performance of fixed-price projects and to the recognition of income associated with 
these 
Risks related to hiring personnel as a result of strong organic growth 

Moderate likelihood of occurrence 
Risks related to technollogical obsoles·cence 

Low likelihood of occurrence 
Risks related to system security and protection 
Risks related to ethics and legal compliance 

For the key performance indicators in terms of non-financial risks, please refer to tlhe preceding section. 

As set 011.Jt below, the Group's structure and the measures it has taken aim to mitigate the effects of the above risks 
if they occur. 
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Risks related to the performance of fixed-price projects 
Sword Group's industrial methodological approach makes it possible to guarantee results while keeping to the budget 
and the schedule. This approach, which is based on the ISOPro quality-assurance system, has the following features: 

compliance with ISO 9001 ; 
a strong commitment by Sword's Executive Management; 
the day-to-day involvement of all engineers during project execution. 

For Sword Group, project quality assurance is not limited to simply drafting a Quality Assurance Plan (QA Plan). This 
plan's effectiveness depends on its full adoption by the various project stakeholders and on quality monitoring. During 
the project, various participants are involved and take action that contributes to the quality of the end product. 

A Quality Assurance approach to a project entails: 
the documentation of the project's priority objectives; 
the implementation of the rules and the means deployed to achieve them; 
the implementation of the rules and the means deployed to control them; 
the proper targeting of actions required for the project, thereby increasing the effectiveness and level of the 
service provided. 

However, teamwork is required to achieve a quality product. Quality Assurance channels all the project stakeholders' 
actions to ensure the success of the project and achieve the required level of quality. However, this is no substitute 
for everybody having the appropriate expertise and motivation, which are the basic prerequisites for a quality product. 

A progress report is provided each month by the Business Unit Directors. This is then checked by the local CFOs 
and validated by the parent company. If there are doubts about any revenue recognition for fixed-price projects, an 
external audit is carried out. 

In the year 2019, the total of days gainedl and lost vis-a-vis the init ial estimates for the cost of projects was positive 
as a result of the systematic application of the ISOPro method. 

However, any delay in a project means that all overruns estimated with respect to the project's initial budget are 
immediately recognised in profit or loss in the form of commercial concessions (= excess time assigned to the project 
not recognised in revenue). 

Risks related to hiring employees 
Due to its strong organic growth, the Group is always on the lookout for new employees, as they are instrumental to 
its success. As a result, the Group places particular emphasis on its attractiveness and ability to retain talent. This is 
demonstrated specifically by the following: 

investment in train ing, enabling skills to be maintained and knowledge to be shared; 
involvement with universities and engineering schools through internships and regular contributions to 
training courses; 
the balance between work, family and leisure activities; 
equal treatment of all employees; 
access for executives to incentive plans related to their local company's performance. 

Risks re lated to technollogical obsoles·cence 
The Group invests each year in developing its GRC software to meet the market's requirements as closely as 
possible. See Note 16 to the consolidated annual accounts. 

R&D plans, including in particular upgrades to the functionality of marketed software and the development of new 
software solutions and the acquisition of companies operating in the GRC sector, are helping to minimise the 
obsolescence risk. 

The acquisition of Magique Galileo, a company whose products complemented the Group's existing range, has also 
further strengthened Sword's reputation and its competit ive position on the market. 
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Risks related to system security and protection 
As far as hardware and local networks are concerned, an eight-strong team focuses on maintaining our infrastructure 
and, in particular, daily backups of data, which are stored in fireproof cabinets_ 

In addition, a civil-liability insurance policy allows us to cover all risks relating to damage caused by our employees 
at client sites. 

Last but not least, by capitalising on our know-how with our software components, we have a 1firm grasp of the 
technological advances of our partners and suppliers. 

Risks re lated to ethics and legal compliance 
The Group has an Ethical Charter. The Charter aims, in particular, to lay down the key values and principles shared 
by the whole of Sword Group and its employees and to affirm the ethical commitment of Sword Group, in all its areas 
of activity, vis-a-vis shareholders, members of the company, clients, suppliers and partners_ 

The Group's Finance Department is made up of two people who have worked in chartered accountancy and statutory 
auditing_ Their remuneration is not based on the Group's performance_ 

Financial risks 
The Group adopts a cautious policy when it comes to managing its market risks, mainly foreign-currency risk_ The 
financial risks to which the Group is exposed and the policies to address them are detailed in Note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

11. Outlook for 2020 
The Group forecasts organic growth of 12% (on a like-for-like basis and at constant exchange rates) for 2020. 

The budgeted revenue 0111 a like-for-like basis is €240 million• with an EBITDA margin of 13%. 

These figures do not take into account the current volatility associated with the coronavirus crisis. 

12. Assessment of the value of goodwill and other intangible assets 
An accountancy firm assisted the Group with goodwill impairment testing. The results of these tests are set out in 
Note 15.3 to the consolidated financial statements. 

13. Approval of the consolidated financial statements 
We invite you to approve the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (balance 
sheet, income statement and notes) as submitted to you and which reveal a total consolidated profit of€13,459,000 
(of which the Group share is €13,250,000)_ 
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14. Proposed allocation of profit or loss 
We invite you to approve the corporate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (balance sheet, 
income statement and notes) as submitted to you and which reveal a profit of €31 ,898,554.55. We remind you that 
the sum of €132,629.88 appears under 'Reserve for treasury shares' as the company held 4,040 treasury shares as 
at 31 December 2019. 

Profit for the financial year €31 ,898,554.55 

with the addition of the following items: 

Distributable profit or loss carried forward: €131 ,059,339.50 

Share premium: €70,676,064.46 

resulting in a distributable profit of: €233,633,958.51 

appropriated to the following items: 

Profit or loss carried forward €222, 180,000.51 

Dividend payout €11 ,453,958.00 

The gross dividend per share would be €1.20. 

In terms of taxation, in accordance with Luxembourg law, dividend payouts are in principle subject to 15% withholding 
tax in Luxembourg. 

However , this rate can be reduced under both tax treaties signed by Luxembourg and European law, depending on 
the tax residence of the beneficiary and under the beneficiary's own responsibility. In such a case, a refund request 
shall be sent to the Luxembourg tax authorities no later than 31 December of the year following the payment of the 
withholding tax, using Form 901 bis (https.://impotsdirects.public.luffr/formulaires/retenue a la source.html). 

In addition, subject to tax treaties and the legislation applicable in the beneficiary's country of residence, any 
withholding tax in Luxembourg will be eligible for a tax credit of the same amount. on the tax due in that country of 
residence. 

For information purposes, in the view of the French authorities, conventional tax credits related to the proceeds of 
securities of European companies registered in a PEA share savings plan and whose issuers do not have their 
headquarters in France are not entitled to reimbursement, in so far as income from shares invested in the PEA is 
tax-exempt income (see e.g. BOl-RPPM-RCM-40-50-30-20150115 of 15 January 2015). 
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15. Subsequent events 
On 2 January 2020, Sword GRC Group Ltd absorbed Magique Galileo Software Ltd. 

In early 2020, the existence of a new coronavirus, now known as COVID-19, was confirmed. Since· then, COVID-19 
has spread in China and across a lot of other countries, causing a sudden slowdown of the global economy, which 
has had an impact on the stock markets. The Group regards the emergence and spread of COVID-19 as a 
subsequent event that does not give rise to an adjustment of the consolidated financial statements. Given the 
uncertainties surrounding the epidemic, Sword Group is unable at this stage to determine exactly what impact 
COVID-19 will have on its future performance. 

However, the Group does expect it to result in a decrease in revenue and therefore a drop in earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortisation, excluding non-recurring items (EBITDA), although the impact should be 
mitigated by teleworking and staff furloughing. 

Given the largely positive net cash position (after the deduction of bank debt) and its ability to draw on lines of credit 
worth €130 million, Sword Group's management believes that the Group has a competitive advantage and that its 
going concern basis still very much holds .. 

Brexit's impact is considered to be limited at this stage. In 2019, the United Kingdom accounted for 29% of revenue 
and 30% of EBITDA. As the Group uses sterling for its UK operations, the impact on the Group's operating margin 
(EBITDA expressed as a percentage of sales) is anticipated to be immaterial. 

16. Corporate Governance Report 
The information on corporate governance that must be published by law is included in the 2019 Financial Report 
available on Sword Group's website: https://www.sword-group.com/en/investors/#financial-documents. 
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11 OFFICES AND CONTACT DETAILS 

SERVICES 
Waterfall Crescent North.Waterfall Park, Vorna Valley, 

Sword in Johannesburg Midrand 
South Africa 
We Work, 30 Stamford Street, Southbank Central, 

Sword in London London, SE1 9LQ 
England 

Sword in Brentford (London) 1000 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9DW 
England 

Staines One, Station Approach, Staines-upon-Thames, 
Sword in Staines (London) TW18 4LY 

England 
DataCo Australia Pty Limited, Suite 3, Level 1 

Sword in Perth Ord Street, West Perth, WA 6005 
Australia 

Sword in Brussels Avenue de Tervueren 270, 1150 Brussels, Belgium 

10th Floor, Bankers Hall, West Tower, 
Sword in Calgary 888 3rd South West, Calgary,T2P 5C5 

Canada 

Sword in Hong Kong 6A 6F, Yeung Chung, 2 Fung Yip Street, Chai Wan 
Hong Kong 

Sword in Bogota Carrera 16 No. 93 A 16 AP 504 of 504, Bogota D.C. 
Colombia 

DataCo Danmark ApS, c/o Revisorgaarden I K0benhavn, 
Sword in Copenhagen Ved Vesterport 6, 5. sal, 1612 K0benhavn V 

Denmark 
Deebridge House, 4 Leggart Terrace, Aberdeen, 

Sword in Aberdeen (1 /2) AB12 5US 
Scotland 
4th Floor, Johnstone House, 50-54 Rose Street, 

Sword in Aberdeen (2/2) Aberdeen, AB10 1 UD 
Scotland 
Spaces, 92 Fountainbridge, One Lochrin Square, 

Sword in Edinburgh Edinburgh, EH3 9AQ 
Scotland 
Glasgow Spaces, Tay House, 300 Bath Street, Glasgow, 

Sword in Glasgow (1/2) G24LH 
Scotland 
Glasgow Spaces, 100 West George Street, Glasgow, 

Sword in Glasgow (2/ 2) G21PP 
Scotland 
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Sword Middle East FZ LLC Dubai, Office 109, 
Sword in Dubai Building 14, Dubai Internet City, PO Box 500406 

United Arab Emirates 

Sword in Paris 37 rue de Lyon, 75012 Paris 
France 

9 Avenue Charles de Gaulle, 
Sword in Lyon 69370 Saint-Didier-au-Mont-d'Or 

France 

Sword in Rennes 16 C Rue Jouanet, 35700 Rennes 
France 

Sword in Athens Gyzi 3, Marousi 151 25, Athens 
Greece 

Arihant Epark, 10th Floor, No. 117/1 Lattice Bridge Road 
Sword in Chennai - Dr Muthulakshmi Salai, Adyar, Chennai 600 020 

India 

Sword in Galway Unit 2a Ballybrit Business Park, Galway 
Ireland 

Sword in Beirut BerytechTechlnology & Health, Rue de Damas, Beirut 
Lebanon 

Sword in Luxembourg 2 Rue d'Arlon, 8399 Windhof 
Luxembourg 

DataCo New Zealand Ltd, c/o Monteck Carter LP, 

Sword in Auckland Level 1, Building 5, 15 Accent Drive, East Tamaki 2013, 
Auckland 
New Zealand 

Sword in Wellington 205 Victoria Street, Wellington 
New Zealand 

DataCo Netherlands, B.V., Monfor Offices, Sir Winston 
Sword in The Hague Churchilllaan 299a, 2288 DC Rijswijk 

Netherlands 

Sword in Nyon Route de Grassier 7, Building A1, 1262 Eysins (Nyon) 
Switzerland 

Sword in Geneva Skylab - 5 Chemin du Pre-Fleuri, 1228 Plan-les-Ouates 
Switzerland 

Sword in Lausanne Avenue des Baumettes 19, 1020 Renens 
Switzerland 

Sword in New York 30 Broad Street, 14th Floor, New York, NY 10004 
USA 

DataCo Services USA LLC, 2925 Richmond Avenue, 
Sword in Houston 14th Floor, Houston, Texas 77098 

USA 
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SOFTWARE 

Sword in Maidenhead (London) 

Sword in Melbourne 

Sword in Washington (Herndon) 

Sword in Kuala Lumpur 

1 Grenfell Road, Maidenhead, Berks., SL6 1 HN 
England 

Level 14, 333 Collins Street, Melbourne, VIC 3000 
Australia 

13221 Woodland Park Road Suite 440, Herndon 
VA20171 ' 
USA 
Level 33, llham Tower, No. 8, Jalan Binjai, 
50450 Kuala Lumpur 
Malaysia 
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Contacts 
contact@sword-g rou p. com 

relationsfinancieres@sword-group.lu 

Follow Sword 

0 
0 
© 
@ 
@ 
~ 

https://www.sword-group.com/ 

https://twitter.com/Sword Group 

https ://www. face book. com/Sword Group/ 

https://www.linkedin.com/company/sword-group 

https://bitly/Sword-YouTube 

Sword Group 12 Rue d'Arlon, 8399 Windhof, Luxembourg 
SE capital €9,544,965 

8168244 
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